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SECTION I - GENERAL
DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Draft Shelf Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context indicates or implies
otherwise, have the meaning as provided below. References to statutes, rules, regulations, guidelinesor policies will be
deemed to include all amendments and modifications notified thereto.

NHAI Related Terms

TERM DESCRIPTION

“Issuer”, “NHAI”, " Authority"

CLINTS L3

“we”, or “us”, “our

National Highways Authority of India, an autonomous body under the Ministry of Road
Transport & Highways, Gol, established under Section 3 of the National Highways
Authority of India Act, 1988 having a perpetual succession and common seal.

Board of Members/Board/
Members/ Members of the Board

Members of the Authority

Head Office

Head office of National Highways Authority of India situated at G - 5 & 6, Sector
10, Dwarka, New Delhi — 110075, India.

Auditor

CAG is the statutory auditor of NHAI.

SPV/SPVs/Special Purpose
Vehicle

SPV/SPVs or Special Purpose Vehicle shall mean jointly or individually, all those
SPVs of the Issuer as further described in the Chapter History, Main Objects and
Certain Corporate Matters.

Subsidiaries

SPVs wherein shareholding of more than 50% is held by NHAI, namely, (i)
Ahmedabad-Vadodara Expressway Company Limited, (ii) Mormugao Port Road
Company Limited, (iii) Vishakhapatnam Port Road Company Limited, (iv)
Calcutta-Haldia Port Road Company Limited, (v) Cochin Port Road Company
Limited, (vi) Tuticorin Port Road Company Limited, (vii) Paradip Port Road
Company Limited, (viii)lNew Mangalore Port Road Company Limited,(ix)
Moradabad Toll Road Company Limited, all incorporated as Public Limited
Companies under the Companies Act, 1956.

-Issue related terms-

TERM
Allotment/Allot/Allotted

DESCRIPTION

Unless the context otherwise requires, the allotment of Bonds to the successful
Applicants in relation to any Tranche Issue.

Allottee(s)

Successful Applicant(s) towhom Bonds for any Tranche Issue have been allotted
pursuant to the Issue, either in full or in part.

Allotment Advice

The communication sent to the Allottees conveying the details of Bonds allotted to
the Allottees in accordance with the Basis of Allotment.

Acknowledgement Slip

The slip or document issued by the Designated Intermediary to an Applicant as
proof of registration of the Application Form

Applicant/Investor

Any person who applies for Allotment of Bonds pursuant to the terms of the Shelf
prospectus, relevant Tranche Prospectus and Application Form for any Tranche
Issue

Application

An application to subscribe to Bondsoffered pursuant to the Issue bysubmission of
a valid Application Form and payment of the Application Amount by any of the
modes as prescribed under the Shelf Prospectus and the respective Tranche
Prospectus.

Application Amount

The aggregate value of the Bonds applied for by the Applicant, as indicated in the
Application Form for any Tranche Issue

Application Form

The form in terms of which the Applicant shall make an offer to subscribe to the
Bonds and which will be considered as the application for Allotment of Bonds
pursuant to the terms of the relevant Tranche Prospectus for any Tranche Issue.

Application Supported by
Blocked Amount/ASBA/
ASBA Application

An Application (whether physical or electronic) used by an ASBA Applicant to
make an Application by authorizing the SCSB to block the Application Amount in
the specified bank account maintained with such SCSB.

ASBA Account

An account maintained with an SCSB which will be blocked by such SCSB to the
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TERM

DESCRIPTION

extent of the Application Amount mentioned in the Application Form of an ASBA
Applicant.

ASBA Applicant / Applicant

Any applicant who applies for the Bonds through the ASBA mechanism.

Base Issue Size

The base issue size as specified in the respective Tranche Prospectus.

Basis of Allotment

The basis on which the Bonds will be allotted to successful Applicants under the
Issue and which shall be described in “Issue Procedure — Basis of Allotment” as
specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Bidding Centres

Centres at which the Designated Intermediaries shall accept the ASBA Forms, i.e.,
Designated Branches for SCSBs, Specified Locations for Members of the
Consortium, Broker Centres for Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for
RTAs and Designated CDP Locations for CDPs

Broker Centres

Broker centres notified by the Stock Exchange where Applicants can submit the
ASBA Forms to a Registered Broker. The details of such Broker Centres, along
with the names and contact details of the Registered Brokers are available on the
website of BSE at www.bseindia.com and NSE at www.nseindia.com

Bond Certificate(s)

Certificates issued to the Bondholder(s) pursuant to rematerialisation of Bonds
based on request from the Bondholder.

Bond Committee

The committee constituted through resolution dated February 15, 2018by the Board
of Members of the Issuer.

Bondholder(s)

Any person holding the Bonds and whose name appears on the list of beneficial
owners provided by the Depositories (in case of Bonds held in dematerialised form)
or whose name appears in the Register of Bondholders maintained by the Issuer or
by the Registrars or by any such person authorized by the Issuer in this behalf (in
case of Bonds held in physical form, pursuant to rematerialisation).

Bonds/ Bharatmala Bonds

Taxable, secured, redeemable, non-convertible Bonds of Rs.1,000.00 each in the
nature of debentures proposed to be issued by NHAI pursuant to the terms of the
Shelf Prospectus and the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Category |

e Public Financial Institutions, Scheduled Commercial Banks, Indian
multilateral and bilateral Development Financial Institutions, which are
authorised to invest in the Bonds;

e  Provident Funds and Pension Funds with minimum corpus of Rs. 25.00 crore,
superannuation funds and gratuity funds, which are authorised to invest in the
Bonds;

e Resident Venture Capital Funds / Alternative Investment Funds registered
with SEBI;

Insurance companies registered with IRDA;

State Industrial Development corporations;

National Investment Fund set up by resolution no. F. No. 2/3/2005-DDI|I dated
November 23, 2005 of the Government of India published in the Gazette of
India;

. Insurance Funds set up and managed by the army, navy or air force of the
Union of India or set up and managed by the Department of Posts, India;

e  Systemically Important Non-Banking Financial Companies, non-banking
financial companies registered with the Reserve Bank of India and having a
net worth of more than Rs. 50,000 lakh as per the last audited financial
statements; and

e  Mutual Funds registered with SEBI.

Category Il

Companies within the meaning of section 2(20) of the Companies Act, 2013;
Statutory bodies/corporations / societies registered under applicable laws in
India and authorized to invest in the Bonds;
Cooperative Banks and Regional Rural Banks;
Trusts including public/ private charitable/religious trusts which are
authorized to invest in the Bonds;

e Scientific and/or industrial research organisations, which are authorized to
invest in the Bonds;

e Limited liability partnerships formed and registered under the provisions of
the Limited LiabilityPartnership Act, 2008 (No. 6 of 2009);
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TERM

DESCRIPTION

e  Partnership firms in the name of partners;

e  Association of persons; and

e Any other legal entities incorporated in India or unincorporated body of
persons authorised to invest in the Bonds.

Category Il

The following investors applying for an amount aggregating to above Rs.10.00 lakh
across all series in each Tranche Issue

e Resident Indian individuals; and

e  Hindu Undivided Families through the Karta.

Category IV

The following investors applying for an amount aggregating and including Rs.10.00
lakh across all series in each Tranche Issue

e Resident Indian individuals; and

e  Hindu Undivided Families through the Karta.

CDSL Agreement

Tripartite agreement dated November 22, 2013 among NHAI, Karvy Computer
Share Private Limited and CDSL for offering depository option to the Bondholders.

Client ID

Client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to
the demat account.

“Collecting Depository
Participant” or “CDP”

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996, registered
with SEBI and who is eligible to procure Applications in the Issue, at the Designated
CDP Locations.

Consolidated Bond
Certificate

In case of Bonds rematerialised by the Bondholder, a single certificate will be issued
to the Bondholder for the aggregate face value amount for each Series of Bonds
allotted to him under the Tranche Issues.

Lead Brokers

As specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Credit Rating Agencies

Credit Rating Agencies include IRRPL, CARE, ICRA and CRISIL.

Debenture Trust Deed/Bond
Trust Deed

Bond Trust Deed to be entered into between the Bond Trustee and NHAIwhich shall
be executed within the time limit prescribed by applicable statutory and/or
regulatory bodies, for creating appropriate security, in favour of the Bond Trustee
on behalf of the Bond Holders on the assets adequate to ensure 100% asset cover
for the principalamount and the interest of the Bonds.

Debenture Trustee/Bond

Trustee/ Trustee

Trustees for the Bondholders, in this case being Vistra ITCL (India) Limited.

Debt Listing Agreement

The Listing Agreement entered into between the Issuer and the relevant stock
exchange(s) in connection with the listing of the Bonds.

Deemed Date of Allotment

Deemed Date of Allotment shall be the date on which the Members of the Board of
the Issuer or Bond Committee thereof approves the Allotment of the Bonds for each
Tranche Issue or such date as may be determined by the Members of the Board of
the Issuer or Bond Committee thereof and notified to the Stock Exchange(s). All
benefits relating to the Bonds including interest on Bonds (as specified for each
Tranche Issue by way of Tranche Prospectus) shall be available to the Bondholders
from the Deemed Date of Allotment. The actual allotment of Bonds may take place
on a date other than the Deemed Date of Allotment.

Default

Defaults as listed in the section “Terms of the Issue” in the relevant Tranche
Prospectus read with the Bond Trust Deed.

Demographic Details

The demographic details of an Applicant, such as his address, bank account details,
category, PAN etc. for printing on refund stationery based on the details provided
by the Applicant in the Application Form.

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996, as amended from time to time.

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Applications, a list of
which is available at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes or such other
website as may be prescribed by the SEBI from time to time.

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where Applicants can submit the ASBA Forms, a list
of which, along with names and contact details of the Collecting Depository
Participants eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on the website of BSE at
www.bseindia.com and NSE at www.nseindia.com.
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TERM
Designated Date

DESCRIPTION

The date, on or after the approval of the Basis of Allotment by the Designated Stock
Exchange, on which instructions are given for transfer of funds blocked by SCSBs
in ASBA accounts to the Public Issue Account.

Designated Intermediaries

The Lead Brokers, Registered Brokers, SCSBs, CDPs and RTAs, who are
authorized to collect Application Forms from the Applicants, in relation to the Issue

Designated RTA Locations

Such locations of the RTAs where Applicants can submit the ASBA Forms to
RTAs, a list of which, along with names and contact details of the RTAs eligible to
accept ASBA Forms are available on the website of BSE at www.bseindia.com and
NSE at www.nseindia.com.

Depository(ies)

NSDL and CDSL

Designated Stock Exchange

BSE Limited

Direct Online Application

Applications made through an online interface maintained by the Stock Exchange/s
enabling direct application by investors to a public issue of their debt securities with
an online payment facility in terms of circular no. CIR/IMD/DF-1/20/2012 dated
July 27, 2012 issued by SEBI. For further details please refer to the Section titled
“Issue Procedure” on page 151.

DP/Depository Participant

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996.

Draft Shelf Prospectus

The draft shelf prospectus dated November 16, 2018 filed by NHAI with the
Designated Stock Exchange for public comments and with SEBI in accordance with
the provisions of SEBI Debt Regulations.

Interest Payment Date

As specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus for a particular Series of Bonds.

Issue

Public issue of taxable, secured, redeemable, non-convertible bonds of face value
of Rs. 1,000.00 each in the nature of debentures not exceeding an aggregate amount
of Rs. 10,000.00 Crore by way of one or more Tranches.

Issue Period

The period between the Tranche Issue Opening Date and the Tranche Issue Closing
Date (inclusive of both days) and during which Applicants can submit their
Applications as specified in the respective Tranche Prospectus.

Issue Closing Date

Issue Closing Date as specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus for the relevant
Tranche Issue.

Issue Opening Date

Issue Opening Date as specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus for the relevant
Tranche Issue.

Lead Managers/Lead
Managers to the Issue

Edelweiss Financial Services Limited, A. K. Capital Services Limited, Axis Bank
Limited, SBI Capital Markets Limited and Trust Investment Advisors Private
Limited.

Limited Review

Limited Review means review of the financials of NHAI for year ending on March
31, 2018 by PSMG &Associates, Chartered Accountants.

Market Lot

One Bond of the value of Rs. 1,000.00 each.

National Highway(s)

National Highways mean the highways specified in schedule of NH Act pursuant to
a declaration to that effect being made by Central Government under Section 2 of
NH Act.

NSDL Agreement Tripartite agreement dated November 25, 2013 among NHAI, Karvy
Computershare Private Limited and NSDL, executed for offering depository
services to the Bondholders.

Prospectus The Shelf Prospectus read with the Tranche Prospectus for the relevant Tranche

Issue.

Public Issue Account

An account opened with the Banker(s) to the Issue to receive monies from the
SCSBs on the Designated Date.

Public Issue Account
Agreement

Agreement to be entered into by the NHAI, the Registrar to the Issue, the Lead
Managers, Public Issue Account Bank and the Refund Bank.

Public Issue Account Bank

The bank with whom the Public Issue Account will be opened by the Issuer.

Record Date

The record date for the purpose of Coupon/ Interest Payment or the Maturity/
Redemption Amount shall be 15 days prior to the date on which such amount is due
and payableto the holders of the Bonds. In case of redemption of Bonds, the
trading in the Bonds shall remain suspended between the record date and the
date of redemption. In the event the Record Date falls on a Sunday or holiday
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TERM

DESCRIPTION

of the Depositories, the succeeding working day or a date notified by the Issuer
to the Stock Exchanges shall be considered as Record Date.

Redemption Amount/Maturity
Amount

Repayment of the face value plus any interest that may have accrued on the
Redemption Date.

Redemption Date/Maturity
Date

The date on which the Bonds will be redeemed as specified in the relevant Tranche
Prospectus.

Reformatted Audited Financial
Statements

The reformatted statement of asstes and liabilities of NHAI as at March 31, 2017,
March 31, 2016, March 31, 2015, March 2014 and March 31, 2013 and related
reformatted statement of profit and loss for the fiscial years ended March 31, 2017,
2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and reformatted statement of cash flow for the years
ended 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013 as examined by PSMG & Associates,
Chartered Accountants the Auditors for the Issue.

Our audited standalone financial statements as at and for the years ended March 31,
2017, March 31, 2016, March 31, 2015, March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013 form
the basis for such Reformatted Financial Information.

Refund Account

The account opened with the Refund Bank

Refund Bank

As specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus

Registrar to the Issue or
Registrar

Registrar to the Issue, in this case being Karvy Computershare Private Limited.

Register of Bondholders

The register of Bondholders maintained by NHAI at its head office (or such other
place as permitted by law) or the Registrar containing the particulars of the legal
owners of the Bonds of NHAI held in physical form (pursuant to rematerialisation).

Registrar Agreement

Agreement dated September 25, 2018 entered into between NHAI and the Registrar
to the Issue.

Registered Brokers

Stock brokers registered with the stock exchanges having nationwide terminals,
other than the Lead Brokers who are eligible to procure Applications from
Applicants.

Residual Shelf Limit

In relation to each Tranche Issue, this shall be the Shelf Limit less the aggregate amount
of Bonds allotted under all previous Tranche Issue(s)under the Shelf Prospectus.

Security

The Bonds shall rank pari passu inter-se and shall be secured by way of first
paripassu charge on the fixed assets of NHAI, as mentioned in the Bond Trust Deed
to the extent of atleast100% of the amounts outstanding and interest accrued thereon
in respect of the Bonds at any time. The mode of creation of security requires prior
approval and authorization from the Government of India. The Issuer has received
the no-objection certificate from the Government of India in respect thereof.

Self Certified Syndicate Banks
or SCSBs

The banks registered with the SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Bankers to an Issue) Regulations, 1994 as amended offering services in
relation to ASBA, a list of  which is available on
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes or at such
other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Series Bondholder(s)

A holder of the Bond(s) of a particular Series issued under a Tranche Issue.

Series of Bonds

A series of Bonds which are identical in all respects including, but not limited.to
terms and conditions, listing and ISIN number and as further stated to be an
individual Series in the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Shelf Limit

The total aggregate limit of the Issue being Rs.10,000 crore to be issued by way of
one or more Tranche Issues.

Shelf Prospectus

The shelf prospectus to be filed with SEBI and Stock Exchanges after incorporation
of the comments received from the public on the Draft Shelf Prospectus, pursuant
to the provisions of the SEBI Debt Regulations.

Stock Exchange(s)

BSE and NSE.

“Specified Cities” or
“Specified Locations™ or
“Syndicate ASBA Application
Locations”

Centres where the Members of the Syndicate shall accept ASBA Forms from
Applicants, a list of which is available on the website of the SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes  and
updated from time to time and at such other websites as may be prescribed by SEBI
from time to time.



http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes%20or
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes

TERM
Syndicate ASBA

DESCRIPTION

An Application submitted by an ASBA Applicant through the Members of the
Syndicate and Trading Members.

Syndicate or Members of the
Syndicate

Collectively, the Lead Managers, the Lead Brokers, Registered Brokers and sub
brokers for the Issue..

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to ASBA Applications submitted to a Member of the Syndicate and/or
Trading Members, such branches of the SCSBs at the Syndicate ASBA Application
Locations named by the SCSBs to receive deposits of the Application Forms from
the Members of the Syndicate or Trading Members and a list of which is available
on www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes or at such
other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Trading Member(s)

Individuals or companies registered with SEBI as “trading members” under the
SEBI (Stock Brokers and Sub-Brokers) Regulations, 1992, and who hold the right
to trade in stocks listed on stock exchanges, through which investors can buy or sell
securities listed on stock exchanges, whose list is available on stock exchanges.

ER)

“Transaction Registration Slip
or “TRS”

The acknowledgement slip or document issued by any of the members of the
Syndicate, the SCSBs, or the Trading Members as the case may be, to an Applicant
upon demand as proof of registration of his application for the Bonds.

Tranche Issue

Issue of Bonds as per the terms specified in a Tranche Prospectus.

Tranche Issue Closing Date/
Issue Closing Date

The date on which the Issue shall close for subscription and the prospective
Applicants/ Investors shall not be allowed to submit their Application Forms
thereafter, as specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus or such other date as may
be decided by the Board Members/ Bond Committee.

Tranche Issue Period/lIssue
Period

The period between the Issue Opening Date and Issue Closing Date inclusive of
both days and excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays in India, during
which the prospective Applicants may submit their Application Forms as specified
in the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Tranche Issue Opening Date

The date on which the Issue shall open for subscription and the prospective
Applicants/ Investors shall be allowed to submit their Application Forms as
specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Tranche Prospectus

The tranche prospectus containing the details of Bonds including interest, other
terms and conditions, recent developments, general information, objects, procedure
for application, statement of tax benefits, regulatory and statutory disclosures and
material contracts and documents for inspection of the relevant Tranche Issue.

Transaction Documents

The Draft Shelf Prospectus, Shelf Prospectus, the Tranche Prospectus(es) read with
any notices, corrigenda, addenda thereto, the Bond Trust Deed and other security
documents, if applicable, and various other documents/ agreements/ undertakings,
entered or to be entered by the Issuer with Lead Managers and/or other
intermediaries for the purpose of this Issue including but not limited to the Bond
Trust Deed, the Bond Trustee Agreement, the Public Issue Account Agreement, the
MoU with the Registrar and the MoU with the Lead Managers, NSDL Agreement,
CDSL Agreementand the Lead Broker Agreement.

Refer to section titled “Material Contracts and Documents for Inspection” on page
171 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Tripartite Agreements

The NSDL Agreement and the CDSL Agreement.

Trustee Agreement/ Bond
Trustee Agreement/ Debenture
Trustee Agreement

The Agreement dated September 25, 2018 executed between Bond Trustee and the
Issuer.

Working Days

All days, excluding Sundays or a holiday of commercial banks or a public holiday
in Delhi or Mumbai, except with reference to Issue Period and Record Date, where
Working Days shall mean all days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public
holiday in India. Furthermore, for the purpose of post Issue Period, i.e. period
beginning from Issue Closing Date to listing of the Bonds, Working Days shall
mean all trading days of stock exchange(s) excluding Sundays or a holiday of
commercial banks in Mumbai.



http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes%20or

Technical and Industry related terms

TERM DESCRIPTION

BOT Build Operate and Transfer

CAG/C&AG Comptroller and Auditor General of India
CGM Chief General Manager

CMU Corridor Management Unit

CoD Commercial Operation Date

DBFOT Design Build Finance Operate and Transfer
DGM Deputy General Manager

EoT Extension of Time

EPC Engineering Procurement & Construction
GM General Manager

MCA Model Concession Agreement

N.A. Not Applicable

NH National Highway

NHAI National Highways Authority of India
NHDP National Highways Development Programme
NOC No Objection Certificate

OoMT Operate Maintain and Transfer

PIU/PIUs Project Implementation Unit(s)

PPP Public Private Partnership

RFP Request for Proposal

RFQ Request for Qualification

RO Regional Office of Authority

ROB Rail/Road Over Bridge

RT&H Road Transport and Highways

Toll/User Fee

Means the charge levied on and payable for a vehicle using the project highway or
a part thereof in accordance with the Fee Notification

TOT

Toll-Operate-Transfer

General and Conventional terms and Abbreviations

TERM | DESCRIPTION
Act/NHAI Act National Highways Authority of India Act, 1988, as amended
ADB Asian Development Bank
AS Indian Accounting Standard as issued by ICAI
BSE BSE Limited
CARE CARE Ratings Limited
CBDT Central Board of Direct Taxes
CCEA Cabinet Committee on Economic Affairs
CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

Companies Act

The Companies Act, 2013 as amended from time to time and Companies Act, 1956
to the extent applicable

CPI Consumer Price Index
CRF Act Central Road Fund Act, 2000
CRISIL CRISIL Limited

Debt Application Circular

SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF-1/20/2012) dated July 27, 2012.

DP ID

Depository Participant’s Identification

Depository/(ies)

NSDL and CDSL

DRR

Debenture Redemption Reserve
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TERM | DESCRIPTION
EPS Earnings per Share
FCNR Account Foreign Currency Non Resident Account
FDI Foreign Direct Investment
FIDIC Federation Internationale Des Ingenieurs — Conseils
FEDAI Foreign Exchange Dealers Association of India
FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999
FI Financial Institution

FY/Financial Year/ Fiscal

12 months period commencing on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar
year and ended on March 31 of that year

Gol/Government/Central
Government/Union of India

Government of India

1AS Indian Administrative Services

ICAI Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
IRRPL India Rating & Research Private Limited
Indian GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles in India
Income Tax Act/IT Act The Income Tax Act, 1961, as amended

IT Information Technology

ISIN International Securities Identification Number
JBIC Japanese Board of Industry and Commerce
JV Joint Venture

Km/km Kilometers

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

MoF Ministry of Finance, Government of India
MoRTH Ministry of Road Transport and Highways
NAV Net Asset Value

NECS National Electronic Clearing Service
NEFT National Electronic Funds Transfer

NH Act National Highways Act, 1956

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited
NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited
PAN Permanent Account Number

PAT Profit After Tax

PBT Profit before Tax

PFI/Public Financial Institution

Public Financial Institution, as defined under sub-section 72 of Section 2 of the
Companies Act, 2013

PSU

Public Sector Undertaking

Rs./Rupees/INR/Indian Rupee

The lawful currency of the Republic of India

RBI

The Reserve Bank of India

RBI Act The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, as amended

RBI Regulations Rules, regulations, circulars or notifications issued by RBI
Retd. Retired

RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

SCRA The Securities Contract (Regulation) Act, 1956, as amended
SCRR The Securities Contract (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended

SEBI Act, 1992

The Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992, as amended

SEBI Debt Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities)
Regulations, 2008, as amended

TDS

Tax Deductedat Source




TERM

DESCRIPTION

UNCITRAL United Nation Commission on International Trade Law
$/USD United States Dollar

WPI Wholesale Price Index

€/Euro Euro, the official currency of the European Union




PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MARKET DATA

NHAI prepares its financial statements in Rupees in accordance with NHAI Act. Industry and market share data in
this Draft Shelf Prospectus isderived by the Authority from the Government sourceswhere applicable. Indian
economic data in this Draft Shelf Prospectus is derived from data of industry publications and Governmental sources
and other sources. Certain financial and statistical figures have been rounded to the nearest tenth of a decimal place.

Unlessstated otherwise, the financial information used in this Draft Shelf Prospectus is derived from NHAI’s
unconsolidated audited financial statements as of March31for the years ended 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013and
limited review for financial year 2017-18 as disclosed to Stock Exchanges, prepared inaccordance with the applicable
regulations. The financial year of NHAI commences on April 1 and ends on March 31 of the next year, so all references
to particular “Financial year”, “Fiscal year” and “Fiscal” or “FY”, unless stated otherwise, are to the 12 months’ period
commencing on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar year and ending on March 31 of that year.

Market and Industry Data

Market and industry data used in this Draft Shelf Prospectus, has been obtained from industry publications and
Governmental sources. Industry publications generally state that the information contained in those publications has been
obtained from sources believed to be reliable. Although NHAI believes that market data used in this Draft Shelf
Prospectus is reliable, it has not been independently verified and hence its accuracy and completeness cannot be
guaranteed.

Exchange Rate
For the purpose of conversion of figures appearing in USD and Euro in this Draft Shelf Prospectus, other than the
financial information of the Issuer, the exchange rates for the previous five Fiscals as on March 31 for USD and Euro

into Rupees are as follows:

Exchange Rates (in Rs.

March 28, 2013~ |March 28, 2014”| March 31, 2015 | March 31, 2016 March 31, 2017 |March 28, 2018/

UsD* 54.39 60.10 62.59 66.33 64.84 65.04

Euro* 69.54 82.58 67.51 75.10 69.25 80.62
* Source:www.rbi.org.in
A Whereever March 31 was a trading holiday/sunday, the exchange rate prevailing on the last working day has been taken.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Draft Shelf Prospectus that are not statements of historical fact constitute “forward-
looking statements”. Investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “aim”,

LEINT3 LEINT3 LERNT3 LR INNT3 LEINT3 LR I3 EEINT3

“anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “objective”, “plan”, “potential”,
“project”, “pursue”, “shall”, “seek”, “should”, “will”, “would”, or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly,
statements that describe our strategies, objectives, plans or goals are also forward-looking statements. All statements
regarding our expected financial conditions, results of operations, business plans and prospects are forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements include statements as to our business strategy, revenue and profitability,
new business and other matters discussed in this Draft Shelf Prospectus that are not historical facts. All forward-looking
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statement. Important factors that could cause actual results to

differ materially from our expectations include, among others:

. Growth prospects of the Indian infrastructure sector and related policy developments;

. General, political, economic, social and business conditions in Indian and other global markets;

. Our ability to successfully implement our strategy, growth and expansion plans;

. Availability of adequate debt and Government funding at reasonable terms;

. Performance of the Indian capital markets;

. The outcome of any legal or regulatory proceedings we are or may become a party to;

. Changes in laws and regulations applicable to infrastructure industry in India, including the Government’s

budgetary allocation for the same.; and

o Other factors discussed in this Draft Shelf Prospectus, including under “Risk Factors” on page 12 of this Draft
Shelf Prospectus.

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially include, but are not
limited to, those discussed under the chapter “Risk Factors” and “Our Business” on page 12 and 74 respectively, of this
Draft Shelf Prospectus. The forward-looking statements contained in this Draft Shelf Prospectus are based on the beliefs of
management, as well as the assumptions made by, and information currently available to, management. Although we believe
that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable at this time, we cannot assure investors
that such expectations will prove to be correct. Given these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance
on such forward-looking statements. If any of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or if any of our underlying
assumptions prove to be incorrect, our actual results of operations or financial condition could differ materially from that
described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to
us are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to these cautionary statements.

Neither the Lead Managers, the Issuer, our Membersand Officers nor any of their respective affiliates have any obligation

to update or otherwise revise any statements reflecting circumstances arising after the date hereof or toreflect the
occurrence of underlying events, even if the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition.
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SECTION Il -RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should carefully consider all the information in this Draft Shelf Prospectus including all the risks
and uncertainties described below and under the chapter “Our Business” on page 74 and under the section “Financial
Information” as Appendix — | of this Draft Shelf Prospectus in addition to the other information contained in this Draft
Shelf Prospectus before making any investment decision in the Bonds. The risks and uncertainties described in this section
are not the only risks that we currently face. Additional risks and uncertainties not known to us or that we currently
believe to be immaterial may also have an adverse effect on results of our operation and physical execution. If any of the
following risks or other risks that are not currently known or are deemed immaterial at this time, actually occur, results
of our operation could suffer, the trading price of the Bonds could decline and you may lose all or part of your redemption
amounts and/or interest amounts. Unless otherwise stated in the relevant risk factors set forth below, we are not in a
position to specify or quantify the financial or other implications of any of the risks mentioned herein. The order of the
risk factors appearing hereunder is intended to facilitate ease of reading and reference and does not in any manner
indicate the importance of one risk factor over another. Prospective Investors should consult their tax, financial and
legal advisors about the particular consequences of investment in the Bonds. Unless the context requires otherwise, the
risk factors described below apply to us/our operations only.

This Draft Shelf Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors,
including the considerations described below and elsewhere in this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Potential Investors must rely on their own examination of NHAI and of this Issue, including the risks and uncertainties
involved. Unless otherwise stated, our financial information used in this section is derived from our Reformatted Audited
Financial Statements.

Internal risks

1. NHALI is presently involved in a number of civil proceedings, including arbitration and consumer cases. In
the event these cases are decided against us or failure by us to adequately recover our claims against the other
parties for payment may increase the construction cost of our projects.

NHAI is party to various legal proceedingsand claimswhich are pending at different levels of adjudication before
various courts and tribunals. These legal proceedings include civil suits, arbitration proceedings and matters
pertaining to land acquisitionand environment claims. If any new developments arise, for example, a change in
Indian law or rulings against us by the appellate courts or tribunals, we may face increase in cost of construction
which could increase our expenditure for that particular project. Further, there is no assurance that similar
proceedings will not be initiated against us in the future. Also, NHAI may need to make provisions in its financial
statements, to reflect its increased expenses and liabilities. Additionally, the Central Government has made a
direction to all concerned entities, including the Issuer, that in relation to arbitration proceedings where the
Issuer is challenging the arbitral awards, it should make a payment of up to 75 per cent. of the amount claimed
against a bank guarantee pending final adjudication of the appeal proceedings. NHAI has started accepting
claims under this scheme on December 2016, the further implementation of this scheme may affect our financial
condition and limit our ability to allocate its financial resources towards the implementation of its projects.

There is no assurance thatthese and othersimilar proceedings will not be decided against us in future and any
adverse decision in such proceedings may have an adverse effect on our operations which could result in a larger
outlay to meet our physical targets. For further details, please refer to chapter “Outstanding Litigation and
Material Developments” on page 124 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

2. A change in Central Government's equity stake or a change in the administrative structure of the Issuer may
adversely affect its operations.

NHALI is an Authority constituted by NHAI Act and it is wholly owned, controlled and administered by the
Ministry of Road Transport and Highways, Government of India. 100 per cent of NHAI’s equity is funded by
the Government of India. Any change in the Government's shareholdings or any change in the structure of the
Issuer could materially adversely affect the financial status and performance of the Issuer.

3. Our operations are significantly dependent on the funding received from the Gol and any delay or decrease
in the funding plan by the Gol may adversely affect our operations.
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Our operations are very capital intensive and any reduction in budgetary allocation of capital, funding or grants
by Gol may materially affect our performance and asset generation capacity. Further, our growth plans are
mainly determined by the amount of Gol support in the form of budgetary allocations and any adverse
developments in the policy of Gol in the manner in which it seeks to address the development of the
infrastructure needs of India will have a material and adverse effect on our operations. Also if the funding from
Gol decreases or if there is any adverse change in the pattern of allocation of the cess collected by Gol or if
there is a downturn in the macroeconomic environment in India or in sectors which are directly dependent on
the road infrastructure, our results of operations and future performance could be materially and adversely
affected.

Our operations are dependent on the policies of the Government, Central as well as State initiatives. Any lack
of support in terms of regulatory initiatives will adversely affect our operations, as will any delayed response
in policy alteration or other regulatory impediments, which will adversely affect our operations.

We believe that the development of India's infrastructure sector is dependent on formulation and effective
implementation of State and Central Government programs and policies that facilitate and encourage private
sector investment in infrastructure projects in India. Many of these programs and policies are developing and
evolving and their success will depend on whether they are properly designed to address the issues facing
infrastructure development in India and also whether they are effectively implemented. Additionally, these
programs will need continued support from stable and experienced regulatory regimes that not only encourage
the continued movement of private capital into infrastructure development but also lead to increased
competition, appropriate allocation of risk, transparency, effective dispute resolution and more efficient and
cost-effective services to the end-consumer. Additionally, policies of Central and State Governmentwhich
mandate development in certain specific sectors, or areas, for instance rural, coastal, border, will affect our
projects and operations. In the event that Central and State Government initiatives and regulations in the
infrastructure industry do not proceed in the desired direction, results of our operations could be materially
affected.

For instance, recently there has been a policy shift from EPC based projects to hybrid-annuity model for
implementation of EPC projects. The government is keen to accelerate the pace of projects and is keen to
experiment with new modes of financing which help fast track works and reduce the burden on developers and
financial institutions. Earlier there was an inclination towards the EPC model due to reducing market response
towards PPP Projects. Further, the economic down turn seen in the last few years has caused revenue realization
at much lower rates than was anticipated for many companies in the road-construction business. Hence many
projects under BOT elicited no response from bidders, as a policy response the Gol has mandated a shift away
from BOT and the inclination is now towards the hybrid-annuity mode for implementation under PPP model.
Further, the poor financial health of companies operating in the road sector may have an adverse impact on the
pace of execution, hence, if this policy shift also succumbs to economic pressure it will materially adversely
affect our operations.

Our operations may also get affected by change in broad economic parameters like an increase in prices of
raw materials or shortages of raw materials which will lead to increase in the cost of construction of road
projects.

Any change in broad economic parameters like prices of raw materials or a shortage of supply of raw
materials may affect the financial viability of a project or cause delays in the implementation of a project.
Additionally, EPC/PPP contracts may contain provisions where the payment made to the contractor will need
to be adjusted as per the market indices such as the wholesale prices index or the consumer prices index in India.
These adjustments may further increase per unit construction cost which may lead to increase in the overall costs
of the road projects leading to affecting effectiveness and efficiency of completing the overall road project.

Our operations may also get affected due to inability to manage our growth and several operational
impediments, which could disrupt our business and adversely affect cost of our project.

Our business has grown rapidly since we began our operations. We intend to continue to grow our operations,
which could place significant demands on our operational, credit, financial and other internal risk controls. It
may also exert pressure on the adequacy of our capitalization, making management of asset quality increasingly
important. Our future plan is dependent on our ability to gather funding from Gol and other sources necessary
for our growth. Adverse developments in the Gol policy or the Indian economy, such as the increase in interest
rates which affect private sectorparticipation, may significantly increase our project costs and the overall cost
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of business. An inability to manage our growth effectively and failure to secure the required funding therefore
on favourable terms, could have a material and adverse effect on cost of our projects and their physical execution.

Our operations are dependent on forecasting traffic volumes for the stretches of National Highways taken
up as individual projects on which NHAI is directly or indirectly collecting Toll/User Fee by way of Toll
Contracts. Any miscalculation or erroneous forecasting or lower actual traffic volume in future may affect
capital contribution by Gol and consequently our physical execution may be adversely affected.

In some of our projects, User Fee generated from highway stretches tolled by NHAI is remitted to Gol and is
received back by us in the form of capital which is a major contribution to our funding. Any material decrease
between the actual traffic volume and the forecasted traffic volume on account of inaccurate forecasting or any
other reason which may cause a difference between actual and forecasts may have a material adverse effect on
our capital flows and physical performance.

During the Financial Year 2017-18, NHAI has deposited an amount of Rs.8,84,075 lakh including toll revenue
in the Consolidated Fund of India. This amount excludes any amounts raised by the contractors/concessioners
under our public private partnership ("PPP") projects. Toll revenues depend on toll receipts and are affected by
changes in traffic volumes. Factors that affect traffic volumes include:

toll rates;

fuel prices in India;

the affordability of automobiles;

the quality, convenience and travel time on alternate routes outside our network;

the availability of alternate means of transportation, including rail networks and air transport;
the level of commercial, industrial and residential development in areas served by our projects;
growth of the Indian economy;

adverse weather conditions; and

seasonal holidays.

Revenue from toll receipts is affected by traffic volume and tariff rates, both of which are beyond our control.
The User Fee structure is laid down under National Highways (Rate of Fee) Rules, 1997 and National Highways
Fee (Determination of Rates and Collection) Rules, 2008 as amended and is uniformly applicable. Reduced
growth of traffic on account of economic slowdown, restrictions on mining, decline in manufacturing and
exports may decrease our toll revenues. Further, any change in the applicable toll policies or other applicable
laws which affects the category of vehicle, fuel, road safety etc. may lead to increase or decrease in the toll
revenue and may affect our capital inflows thereby affecting our results of operations. Though not widespread
this increases the risk profile of road projects resulting in sub optimal bid realisations. In the event of significant
decrease in traffic volumes on such stretches of National Highways, the effect of which cannot be quantified
monetarily, we may experience a corresponding decrease in the ploughed back capital we receive from Gol,
which may reduce our future execution capabilities.

Leakage of traffic and toll collection may affect volume of collections and inflows which may in turn affect
the ploughed back capital we receive from Gol and our future execution capabilities.

The toll receipts are primarily dependent on the integrity of toll collection systems and any leakage through toll
evasion, fraud or technical faults in the same affects collections and inflowsand may affect the ploughed back
capital which we receive from the Gol, which will reduce our future execution capabilities.

If toll collection is not properly monitored, leakage may reduce toll revenue. Although we have systems in place
to minimize leakage through fraud and pilfering, any significant failure by us to control leakage in toll collection
systems, though not quantifiable monetarily, could have a material adverse effect on our operations and
prospects. Further, any leakage in the traffic from the non-access controlled stretches of National Highways,
resulting in avoidance of payment of Toll/User Fee, may also adversely affect our operations. Further, there may
be situations where the Toll Collection is disrupted or stopped due to public agitation which may result in lesser
revenue collection by the Concessionaire/Contractor or by us. Any such disruption or stoppage of Toll collection
will adversely affect revenue collections.

Fluctuations in interest rate and exchange rate on our external borrowings may adversely affect our
operations.

14



10.

11.

12.

As on September 30, 2018, we have outstanding multilateral external borrowings of Rs. 56,388.17 lakh from
ADB. The final installment of such borrowings is payable on July 1, 2025. Further, this loan is not hedged for
repayment of principal and interest and repayment of principal and interest is to be made in the foreign currency.
Any increase in the interest rates and/or any adverse fluctuation in the exchange rates may increase the cost of
borrowings, thereby increasing the overall costs of the relevant projects.

NHAI may raise further borrowings for funding various projects under NHDP and allied programmes. Any
upsurge in domestic/international interest rates may have adverse impact on our cost of borrowings and projects.

For further information, please refer to chapter on “Financial Indebtedness” on page 111 of this Draft Shelf
Prospectus.

Our financial condition and physical performance could be materially affected, if we do not complete our
projects as planned or if our projects experience delay.

There may be a delay in implementation or completion of projects or a change of scope, due to factors beyond
our control or the control of the contractors/ concessionaireslike delays or failures to obtain necessary permits,
or authorizations. Delays in the completion of a project may lead to cost overruns. Such delay in completion of
the projects may delay the commencement of our toll collections thereby affecting our operations and physical
performance.

Further, the Gol grants loan to us for some of our projects. Any delay in the completion of the projects would
trigger the delay mechanism in the underlying contract and contractual repercussions will follow.

We have experienced time and cost overruns in the past. Hence, our operations and financials will get adversely
affected due to delay in completion of the projects resulting in increase in the costs for concessionaire and in
some situations delay in accrual of revenue to us.

The Central Government can, pursuant to the powers vested in it under Section 32 of the NHAI Act supersede
us.

If, at any time, the Central Government is of the opinion that (i) on account of a grave emergency, our business
is unable to discharge the functions and duties imposed on it by or under the provisions of the NHAI Act; or (ii)
we have persistently defaulted in complying with any direction issued by the Central Government under the
NHAI Act;or(iii) in the discharge of the functions and duties imposed on it by or under the provisions of the
NHAI Act; or (iv) circumstances exist which render it necessary in the public interest to do so, the Central
Government may by natification in the Official Gazette, supersede us for such period, not exceeding one year,
as provided in such notification.

Should the Central Government therefore exercise its power to supersede our business pursuant to the power
vested in it under the NHAI Act, we may not be able to carry out ourbusiness which may impact ourfinancial
condition or we may not be able to carry out our obligationsas may be required under this Issue.

Our business operations will be affected by shortcomings and failures in our internal processes and systems.

Our operationsare highly dependent on our ability to process and monitor a large humber of projects. Our
construction management, data processing or other operating systems and facilities may fail to operate properly
or become disabled as a result of events that are wholly or partially beyond our control, adversely affecting our
ability to process these transactions. As we grow our business, the inability of our systems to accommodate an
increasing volume of projects could also constrain our ability to expand our business. Additionally,
shortcomings or failures in our internal processes or systems could lead to an impairment of our financial
condition, financial loss, disruption of our business and reputational damage.

Our ability to operate will depend in part on our ability to maintain and upgrade our contract management
systems and policies on a timely and cost-effective basis. The information available to and received by our
management through our existing systems may not be timely and sufficient to manage risks or to plan for and
respond to changes in market conditions and other developments in our operations. We may experience
difficulties in upgrading, developing and expanding our systems quickly enough to accommodate our growing
requirements. Our failure to maintain or improve or upgrade our management information systems in a timely
manner could materially and adversely affect our operations.
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We may also be subject to disruptions of our operating systems, arising from events that are wholly or partially beyond
our control including, for example, computer viruses or electrical or telecommunication service disruptions, which
may result in a loss or liability to us.

The Comptroller and Auditor General of India (""CAG") has expressed serious reservations regarding the
maintenance of proper books of accounts and other relevant records by the Issuer.

In its audit report for Fiscal 2014, 2015,2016 and 2017, the CAG has expressed serious reservations regarding
the maintenance of proper books of accounts and other relevant records by the Issuer. The CAG has observed,
inter alia, that we have not followed the applicable accounting policies and have not maintained proper records
in respect of the utilisation of project based borrowed funds. In their audit report for Fiscal 2014, the CAG noted,
inter alia, that (i) the Issuer did not maintain records in respect of the utilisation of project-based borrowed funds
and the total borrowed costs allocated to completed and incomplete projects could not be verified; (ii) the
allocation of “net establishment expenses for the year” to completed projects was against generally accepted
accounting principles; (iii) adjustments had not been made in the accounts for 16 road projects passed to
concessionaires for upgrade and five other road projects transferred to State Governments; and (iv) depreciation
had not been accounted for in stretches of highways of completed projects, leading to an overstatement of assets.
The CAG also noted in their audit report for Fiscal 2015 that due to books of the Issuer not being maintained in
a proper manner, there has been an overstatement of its fixed assets capital work in progress. In some instances
the CAG was also not able to verify the capital work in progress due to the absence of project-based details of
expenditure on ongoing as well as completed projects. The CAG has in their audit report for Fiscal 2015 and
Fiscal 2014 stated that they are not able to provide an audit opinion as to whether the financial statements for
these periods give a true and fair view in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in India.

In its audit report for Fiscal 2016, the CAG has provided an audit opinion that the balance sheet and profit and loss
account give a true and fair view in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles of India. However,
the CAG has made a number of observations including. inter alia, statements that (i) NHAI has not maintained proper
books of accounts and other relevant records; and (ii) certain statements made by us in the offering documents relating
to the Tax Free Bonds (as defined below) were not complied with(iii) non-adherence to certain NHAI Rules; (iv) the
need for the internal control systems to be strengthened; and (v) that there are some instances in which corrective
action has not been taken.

The audit report for Fiscal 2017 also includes other observations from the CAG interalia (i) non-adherence to
NHAI Rules; and (ii) that the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account Statements have not been drawn up
in the format approved by the Central Government.

Although we believe that we have complied with the undertakings provided by us in the issue documents of
the Tax Free Bonds, the CAG in its audit report has remarked that that we have not complied with certain
undertakings. In the event that it is determined by the trustee or otherwise that we have breached such
undertakings, this could have a material adverse impact on our prospects, operations, financial condition
and/or reputation.

We have issued the Tax Free Bonds and had provided certain undertakings in the issue documents for the Tax
Free Bonds stating that (i) all proceeds received out of each tranche issue of the bonds to the public shall be
transferred to a separate bank account; (ii) details of all proceeds utilised out of each tranche shall be disclosed
under an appropriate separate heading in its balance sheet indicating the purpose for which such proceeds were
utilised; and (iii) details of all unutilised proceeds from each tranche issue, if any, shall be disclosed under an
appropriate separate head in its balance sheet indicating the form in which such unutilised proceeds have been
invested. Under the terms of the Tax Free Bonds, it is an event of default if inter alia, any information provided
by the Issuer in its issue documents and any other information furnished, and the warranties given or deemed to
be given by us to the bondholders or the beneficial owners relating to the issue of the Tax Free Bonds is found
to be misleading or incorrect in any material respect or any warranty is found to be incorrect.

We believe that we have complied with the undertaking to transfer proceeds from the offerings of the Tax Free
Bonds to a separate bank account by crediting the issue proceeds to an escrow account established under the
terms of the respective escrow agreements. The proceeds were further transferred to the NHAI Fund and the
managers to the issue confirming execution of the respective security documents under the Tax Free Bonds.

The details of the respective escrow agreements along with details of transfer of proceeds are as provided below:
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For 2011 Tax Free Bonds:

Escrow agreement dated 15 December 2011 entered into between NHAI, SBI Capital Markets Limited,
A.K Capital Services Limited, ICICI Securities Limited, Kotak Mahindra Capital Company Limited,
MCS Limited and State Bank of India, Axis Bank Limited, ICICI Bank Limited, Syndicate Bank
Limited, Union Bank of India and HDFC Bank Limited.

Escrow bank Escrow account number(s) Date of credit into Amount Date of transfer to
escrow account credited in INR the NHAI Fund

Axis Bank (i) 911020066736591 28 December 2011 31,150,852,000 7 February 2012
(if) 911020066736748 to 5 January 2012
(iii) 911020066736832
HDFC Bank (i) 00030350015081 28 December 2011 16,674,435,000 7 February 2012
(ii) 00030350015106 to 5 January 2012
(iii) 00030350015098
ICICI Bank (i) 000405100352 28 December 2011 46,761,066,000 7 February 2012
(ii) 000405100353 to 5 January 2012
(iii) 000405100354
State Bank of (i) 32107995792 28 December 2011 4,036,184,000 7 February 2012
India (if) 32107996525 to 5 January 2012
(iii) 32107997132
Syndicate Bank (i) 90623170000046 28 December 2011 618,040,000 7 February 2012
(ii) 90623170000050 to 5 January 2012
(iii) 90623170000065
Union Bank (i) 536401010000585 (ii) 28 December 2011 759,423,000 7 February 2012
536401010000583 (iii) to 5 January 2012
536401010000584

For 2014 Tax Free Bonds:

Escrow agreement dated 9 January 2014 entered into between NHAI, Edelweiss Financial Services
Limited, A. K. Capital Services Limited, Axis Capital Limited, ICICI Securities Limited, Axis Bank
Limited, HDFC Bank Limited, ICICI Bank Limited, Indusind Bank Limited, IDBI Bank Limited,
Syndicate Bank Limited and Karvy Computershare Private Limited.

Escrow bank Escrow account number(s) Date of credit into Amount Date of transfer to
escrow account credited in INR the NHAI Fund

Indusind Bank (i) 200999371420 15 January 2014 to 27,381,777,000 12 February 2014
(ii) 200999371437 27 January 2014

Axis Bank (i) 914020001457427 15 January 2014 to 4,441,969,000 12 February 2014
(i) 914020001457621 27 January 2014

HDFC Bank (i) 00030350018544 15 January 2014 to 3,288,555,000 12 February 2014
(ii) 00030350018554 27 January 2014

IDBI Bank (i) 0127103000014234 15 January 2014 to 80,262,000 12 February 2014
(i) 0127103000014243 27 January 2014

ICICI Bank (i) 000405104456 15 January 2014 to 1,791,437,000 12 February 2014
(ii) 000405104457 27 January 2014

For 2016 Tax Free Bonds:

Escrow agreement dated October 20, 2015 entered into between NHAI, A. K. Capital Services
Limited, SBI Capital Markets Limited, Axis Capital Limited, Edelweiss Financial Services Limited,
ICICI Securities Limited, Indusind Bank Limited, HDFC Bank Limited, ICICI Bank Limited, IDBI
Bank Limited, Axis Bank Limited, State Bank of India, Syndicate Bank Limited and Karvy
Computershare Private Limited.

2016 Tax Free Bonds issued through tranche prospectus dated 11 December 2015

Escrow bank Escrow account number(s) Date of credit into Amount Date of transfer to
escrow account credited in INR the NHAI Fund

Axis Bank (i) 915020056420736 17 December 2015 to 5,890,467,000 14 January 2016
(if) 915020056421373 31 December 2015

HDFC Bank (i) 00030350022021 17 December2015 to 20,813,071,000 14 January 2016
(ii) 00030350022031 31 December 2015

IDBI Bank (i) 0011103000013545 17 December 2015 to 213,753,000 14 January 2016
(ii) 0011103000013554 31 December 2015
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Escrow bank Escrow account number(s) Date of credit into Amount Date of transfer to

escrow account credited in INR the NHAI Fund

ICICI Bank (i) 000405110068 17 December 2015 to 21,456,244,000 14 January 2016
(ii) 000405110067 31 December 2015

Indusind Bank (i) 201000264609 17 December 2015 to 43,368,435,000 14 January 2016
(Including ASBA) | (ii) 201000264618 31 December 2015

State Bank of (i) 35344311018 17 December 2015 to 8,255,330,000 14 January 2016
India (ii) 35344314756 31 December 2015

Syndicate Bank (i) 90623170000104 17 December 2015 to 2,700,000 14 January 2016
(i) 90623170000119 31 December 2015

2016 Tax Free Bonds issued through tranche prospectusdated 22 February 2016

Escrow bank Escrow account number(s) Date of credit into Amount Date of transfer to
escrow account credited in INR the NHAI Fund

Axis Bank (i) 915020056420736 24 February 2016 to 453,814,000 11 March 2016
(ii) 915020056421373 26 February 2016

HDFC Bank (i) 00030350022021 24 February 2016 to 1,395,731,000 11 March 2016
(ii) 00030350022031 26 February 2016

IDBI Bank (i) 0011103000013545 24 February 2016 to 73,908,000 11 March 2016
(ii) 0011103000013554 26 February 2016

ICICI Bank (i) 00405110068 24 February 2016 to 3,141,349,000 11 March 2016
(ii) 000405110067 26 February 2016

Indusind Bank (i) 201000264609 24 February 2016 to 22,541,132,000 11 March 2016

(Including ASBA) | (i) 201000264618 26 February 2016

State Bank of (i) 35344311018 24 February 2016 to 5,391,056,000 11 March 2016

India (ii) 35344314756 26 February 2016

Syndicate Bank (i) 90623170000104 24 February 2016 to 3,010,000 11 March 2016
(i) 90623170000119 26 February 2016

However, the CAG's observations in its audit reports for Fiscals 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 were that
we have not complied with the above undertaking as no separate accounts were maintained by NHAI
for the Tax Free Bonds. NHAI, in its management reply has provided responses to each of the remarks
of the CAG. We believe that we have complied with the undertakings to provide details under an
appropriate head in our balance sheet disclosing (a) the purpose for which the proceeds from the Tax
Free Bonds have been utilised and (b) the details of investment of the unutilised proceeds from the Tax
Free Bonds. Further, the proceeds from the Tax Free Bonds have been utilised for financing various
projects implemented by us. This is in accordance with the objects of the issue provided under the issue
documents for the Tax Free Bonds and therefore the requirement to disclose the use separately is
satisfied as the utilisation of proceeds from the Tax Free Bonds have been disclosed as part of the
capital work in progress in the balance sheet.

Further we believe that wehave complied with the undertaking in relation to providing the details of
investment of the unutilised proceeds from each of the Tax Free Bonds in the financial statements by
disclosing such investments as part of balances with scheduled banks in our balance sheet.

Therefore, we are of the opinion that we have duly complied with the undertakings provided by us
under the Tax Free Bonds notwithstanding adverse remarks of the CAG.

In the event that it is determined by the relevant trustees under the Tax Free Bonds or otherwise that we have
breached such undertakings, this could have a material adverse impact on our prospects, operations, financial
condition and/or reputation. Such adverse material effect may include but is not limited to default, cross-
default, acceleration and/or enforcement of the Tax Free Bonds and litigation and/or other disputes. As
described above, any determination by the trustee under the relevant issue documents relating to the Tax
Free Bonds that we had not complied with the terms of the Tax Free Bonds (as reported by the CAG) may
result in an event of default being called by the trustee. If the trustee gives a notice of occurrence of an event
of default, it may not be possible for us to cure such a breach which will result in an event of default occurring
and may have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and reputation.

Further, in the audit reports for the year Fiscals 2014 and 2015, the CAG has also remarked that the
response to the CAG’s remarks provided in the notes to accounts of the financial statements were
inadequate. The CAG further remarked that the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 ("'Listing Regulations™) provide that if
an auditor, in his audit report, in respect of the financial results of any previous financial year has any
remarks, the listed entity, in its notes to accounts, should provide how the reservation has been resolved
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or if the same has not been resolved, the reason thereof and the steps which the listed entity intends to
take in the matter. As we have not included a statement satisfying the above, the CAG has remarked
that the disclosures in the notes to accounts of the financial statements are inadequate and violates the
Listing Regulations. The audit report for the Fiscal 2016, however, does not contain an adverse remark
from the CAG in connection with the violation of the Listing Regulations, as we believe that our
responses to the CAG (in relation to the audit report for Fiscal 2015) in relation to our compliance with
the Listing Regulations was found to be satisfactory by the CAG. The audit report for Fiscal year 2017
includes the following observations from the CAG (i) non-adherence by the Issuer to certain NHAI
Rules; and (ii) that the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account Statements have not been drawn up
in the format approved by the Central Government.

The Listing Regulations provide that an entity which is in violation is liable to a penalty of Rs. 1,00,000 for
each day during which such failure continues or Rs. 10,000,000 whichever is less. As of the date of this Draft
Shelf Prospectus, no such penalty has been imposed on us for violating the Listing Regulations.

For the purposes of the above paragraphs of this risk factor:

2011 Tax Free Bonds means the bonds issued pursuant to the shelf prospectus dated 13 December 2011 and
tranche prospectus dated 22 December 2011.

2014 Tax Free Bonds means the bonds issued pursuant to the shelf prospectus and tranche prospectus, each dated 9
January 2014.

2016 Tax Free Bonds means the bonds issued pursuant to the shelf prospectus dated 11 December 2015, tranche
prospectus dated 11 December 2015 and 22 February 2016.

Tax Free Bonds means collectively, the 2011 Tax Free Bonds, the 2014 Tax Free Bonds and the 2016 Tax Free
Bonds.

We have certain contingent liabilities that may adversely affect our financial condition.

We have contingent liabilities, which may affect its financial condition. As on 31 March 2018, there were 1014
arbitration cases and 730 court cases involving Rs. 55,34,497.00 lakh and USD 4.30 lakh in Arbitration and Rs.
7,43,905.00 Lakh and Euros 2.62 lakh in Court cases pending against the NHAI. Further, NHAI has claimed
Rs.29,58,387.00 lakh in Arbitration and 1,41,810 lakh in Court cases against contractors/concessionaires. NHAI
has also arranged bank guarantee to the tune of Rs. 7,051.00 lakh and fixed deposits of Rs. 90,749.00 lakh as
per various court orders. NHAI has issued letters of credits to the tune of Rs. 61,948.00 lakh for payment of
annuities. The contingent liabilities consist primarily of liabilities on account of legal disputes, bank guarantees,
letters of credit etc. Further, the contingent liability of NHAI in respect of total project cost pertaining to EPC,
consultancy and O&M contracts under implementation is Rs. 63,99,707.00 lakh, Rs. 4,03,886.00 lakh and Rs.
43,673.00 lakh respectively. These contingent liabilities, if determined against us in the future, may impact our
business and the results of operations.

We are exposed to the risks associated with the non-performance of underlying assets/projects of the SPVs.

We have taken up development of port connectivity projects and expressway by setting up Special Purpose
Vehicles (SPVs) wherein NHALI contributes toward a portion of the project cost by way of equity participation
or through loans and advances. Some of these SPVs also have equity participation by port trusts, State
Governments or their representative entities. The SPVs also raise loans for financing the projects. The SPVs are
authorized to collect user fee on the developed stretches to cover repayment of debts and for meeting the costs
of operations and maintenance.

As on date we have 12project specific SPVs (out of which 9 are joint ventures). Each SPV has been formed with
the specific purpose of raising funds and the development of a project. Currently our shareholding SPVs ranges
from 37 per cent to 100 per cent. Further our equity participation is exposed to the risk of non-performance of
the SPV's assets and the business decisions of the other members in the board of such SPV's which represent
other entities such as the Central Government or State Government and in some cases, certain port trusts.
Some of our SPVs have incurred losses during the last three financial years.

Some of our SPVs have incurred losses during the last three years, as tabulated below:
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Rs. in lakh

S. Name of SPV Fiscal 2017 Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015
1. Calcutta Haldia Port Road Company Limited (2,106.84) (2,968.57) (2,793.56)
2. Cochin Port Road Company Limited (2,252.02) (2,018.93) (1,728.76)
3. Moradabad Toll Road Company Limited 4.55 (28.93) (7.24)
4, New Mangalore Port Road Company Limited (1,717.46) (4,187.34) (2,921.84)
5. Paradip Port Road Company Limited (4,750.99) (5,793.83) (5,166.11)
6. Tuticorin Port Road Company Limited (1,881.46) (1,893.39) (2,184.83)
7. Ahmedabad VadodLri<':1n IiEthressway Company 995 79 (213.82) (266.62)
8. Vishakhapatnam Port Road Company Limited 488.45 (717.16) 140.19

There can be no assurance that the SPVs will achieve or sustain profitability in the future. Any losses incurred
by these SPVs may have an effect on the successful execution of our projects, business and results of operations.

Accounts for the year ended on March 31, 2018 for NHAI have been subject to limited review and have not
been audited. Audited performance may be materially different from the present results.

Our accounts are audited annually by the CAG and the auditors appointed by the CAG and they are not subject
to any interim audit. Accounts for the financial year ended March 31, 2018 have been prepared and are subject
to limited review by PSMG & Associates (the "Auditors™) and have not yet been audited. The Auditors have
reviewed the unaudited limited review financial performance for the financial year ended March31, 2018.
However, the actual audited performance may be materially different from the limited review results. We have
disclosed a limited review report for the financial year ended March31, 2018 in this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Our projects under development are subject to construction, financing and operational risks.

Our operations risks comprise of project implementation risks and we are subject to this internal risk as the final
product is only as viable as its implementation. This is because although the guidelines and the contractual
framework for award of the BOT/DBFOT has been laid down quite well, the institutional mechanism for
monitoring and enforcement of such projects/contracts is evolving. Such monitoring needs to address two phases
of any contract, i.e. (a) the construction phase and (b) the operations phase. Presently, arrangements for regular
monitoring during both the phases are in place and this is being done through Regional Offices and Project
Implementation Units of NHAI. A large area of internal risk which exists is the compliance with the conditions
precedent in the Model Concession Agreements (“MCA”) as well as the following:

. Construction of the relevant project as per the specified time schedule and agreed standards,

Levy of user charges strictly within the limits specified in the relevant concession agreement,
Protection of user interests by ensuring that performance standards, safety and other requirements are
adhered to,

Preventing misuse of public assets transferred to the concessionaire,

Preventing any leakage, diversion or mis-classification or Government revenues,

Imposing and recovering penalties for breach of contract,

Operating the escrow account in accordance with the terms of the concession agreement,

Effective communication and exchange of information for monitoring and enforcement of obligations,
Supervision of the functioning of the independent engineer with a view to ensuring that it is discharging all
its duties.

The project agreements have prescribed various obligations to be carried out by us on a certain basis, sometimes
there are delaysin carrying out these obligations. Thus, any inadequate reporting and monitoring system may
affect project implementation. Our inability to cope with the timelines prescribed in our project agreements
could have a material and adverse effect on cost of our projects.

Our insurance coverage may not adequately protect us against all losses we incur in our operations or
otherwise.

We maintain or contractually provide for insurance coverage of the type and in the amounts that we believe are
commensurate with our operations. These insurance policies, however, may not provide adequate coverage in certain
circumstances and may be subject to certain deductibles, exclusions and limits on coverage. In addition, there are
various types of risks and losses for which we do not maintain insurance, such as losses due to business interruption
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and natural disasters, because they are either uninsurable or because insurance is not available to us on acceptable
terms. A successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds our available insurance coverage or
results in changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of a larger deductible or
co-insurance requirement, could adversely affect our physical performance and operations. Further, as an internal
policy we make payouts for the concessionaire's workforce, i.e. if the concessionaire fails to keep in force all
insurances for which it is responsible, NHAI, may at its option obtain the insurance policies/pay the insurance
premium and keep the same in force (this is a short term burden on NHAI). NHAI does however have the option to
recover the premium from the concessionaire/contractor. NHAI has obtained insurance from United India Insurance
Company Limitedfor its building at G-5 & 6, Sector 10, Dwarka, New Delhi-110075 against the risks like fire,
terrorism, earth quake, loss ofrent etc. vide policy number 2216051117P113278072 and which is valid between the
period 00:00 hours on December 22, 2017 to midnight of December 21, 2018. For further details, please refer chapter
“Our Business” on page 74 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

We do not own the premises from which most of our regional offices and Project Implementation Unit
office(s) operate and this may involve risk of loss of such premises.

Our Project Implementation Unit office(s) and regional offices are on lease/leave and license basis. Thus, we do not
own most of our regional offices and Project Implementation Unit office(s). Any failure on our part to execute and/or
renew leave and license agreements and/or lease deeds in connection with such offices or failure to locate alternative
offices in case of termination of the leases and/or leave and license arrangements in connection with any branch could
adversely affect results of our operations.

Our operations are subject to physical hazards and similar risks that could expose us to material liabilities,
reduced inflows and increased execution costs.

There are certain stretches/projects where we are subject to operational risks as well as project implementation
risks. Our operations subject our workforce to hazards inherent in constructing roads, bridges and railway work
such as risk of equipment failure, impact from falling objects, collision, work accidents, fire, or explosion,
including hazards that may cause injury and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and
equipment, and environmental damage. Further, we also assume liability for defects in connection with any
design or engineering work provided by the contractors/concessioners. Although we sub-contract our
construction work, we may still be liable for accidents on our projects, due to defects in design and quality of
construction of our projects, during the construction and operations. Any delay, default or unsatisfactory
performance by any third parties could adversely affect our ability to complete our projects in a timely manner
or at all. Any of the foregoing factors, though not quantifiable monetarily, could have a material adverse effect
on financial condition, reputation and results of our operations.

There have been instances where our certain present and past employees have been found to have indulged
in criminal behaviour detrimental to the business and reputation.

There have been instances where our certain present and past employees have been found to have indulged in
criminal behaviour detrimental to the Issuer's business and reputation. The allegations against such present and
past employees include (i) an employee being involved in allocating land to a third party at a concessional price;
(ii) certain employees being involved in irregularities in the construction work on certain national highways;
(iii) certain employees being involved in diversion of money allocated for land compensation; (iv) certain
employees causing loss to the Issuer as a result of a discrepancy in financial bid not being corrected; and (v)
certain employees abusing their official position and favouring a particular construction company. There is a set
procedure to deal with such cases by the investigating agency or the Central Vigilance Commission
(“Commission™) as the case may be. It may not be possible to get the details of such cases as these may be
under investigation by different agencies and may be closed or pending at different stages. The allegations
against our employees also involve a bribery incident in connection with a U.S.-based firm, CDM Smith. It is
alleged that CDM Smith through its Indian subsidiary, CDM Smith India Private Limited, paid over Rs.607 lakh
in bribes to some of our officials to secure construction contracts between 2011 and 2016. The Central Bureau
of Investigation and the Commission are investigating into this bribery incident.

Further, in relation to some of the criminal matters we and the relevant authorities have taken actions, including
disciplinary actions and/or initiation of criminal proceedings against the individuals concerned. Any loss
incurred by such disciplinary actions by any relevant authority will be borne by us. While we maintain training
programmes, codes of conduct and other safeguards designed to prevent the occurrence of every instance of
bribery or corruption, it may not be possible for us to detect or prevent every instance of bribery and corruption
by our employees or joint venture partners.
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Incidents such as those described above will affect our reputation, financial condition and results of operations.
There have been adverse media reports in relation our business and our employees.

There have been various adverse media reports concerning certain of our present and past employees,
oppositions from local communities and other parties to our projects and oppositions from special interest groups
such as environmental groups relating to the perceived negative impact such activities are having on the local
community and the environment.

Such adverse media reports can affect our reputation and ability to implement our projects successfully and
therefore our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our operations could be adversely affected by strikes, work stoppages or increase wage demands by our or
our contractors’ work force or any other kind of disputes involving our work force.

As on March 31, 2018 on an unconsolidated basis, we had 1079 employees. While we consider our current
labour relations to be good, there can be no assurance that future disruptions in the form of strikes or work
stoppages may not be experienced due to disputes or other problems with our work force. Such disruptions may
adversely affect our business and results of operations.

On many of our projects, we engage external contractors and third parties for construction work and other
services in connection with ourprojects. The number of contractlabourers employed by us varies from time to
time based on the nature and extent of work contracted to independent contractors. These third parties include
engineers, contractors, suppliers of labour and materials and maintenance service agencies. They may not
perform their services in a satisfactory manner and thereby exposing us to certain risks including delays and an
inability to complete the projects in a timely manner. The qualityof construction of the projects developed by us
depends on the availability and skills of third parties, which may be adversely affected by strikes and lock-outs.

There can be no assurance that skilled contractors and third parties will continue to be available at reasonable
rates and in the areas in which the projects are being implemented. As a result, we may be required to make
additional investments or provide additional services to ensure the adequate performance and delivery of
contracted services. Any delay in project execution could adversely affect our profitability.

Any inability to attract, recruit and retain skilled personnel could adversely affect results of our operations.

We depend largely on workforce deputed from various cadres of Gol and have considerable skilled manpower
deputed to us to enable us to achieve our objectives. We are also dependent on other key personnel, including
skilled project management personnel. We may experience difficulties in attracting, recruiting and retaining an
appropriate number of managers and engineers for our business needs. Our future performance will depend
upon the continued services of these persons. The loss of any of the members of our senior management, our
members or other key personnel or an inability to manage the attrition levels in different employee categories
may materially and adversely impact our operations.

Opposition from local communities and other parties may adversely affect our operations.

The construction and operation of our current and future projects may face opposition from the local
communities where these projects are located and from special interest groups such as environmental groups. In
particular, local communities, individuals, the forest authorities and other authorities may oppose our operations
and land acquisition due to various reasons including the perceived negative impact such activities may have on
the environment etc. Significant opposition by local communities, non-governmental organizations and other
parties to the land acquisition process may delay project implementation and adversely affect our operations.

We are subject to internal risks arising from our business of contract management which may adversely
affect our operations.

Since we are essentially in the business of contract management of construction contracts, and as a contract
manager, areas of risk are divided contractually. That is to say that our internal risks are directly linked to the
risks of non-performance, default and disputes arising from the underlying construction contracts. The different
kinds of contracts we manage for our construction activities are as follows:
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BOT/DBFOT - Investment by private entities and return through collection and retention of
Toll/User Fees.

Private developers/operators, who invest in National Highway projects on Toll basis, are entitled to
collect and retain toll revenues during project concession period. The Toll/User Fee are determined by
the Central Government by way of notification in Official Gazette in accordance with the applicable
toll rules. Model Concession Agreements (“MCAs”) have been developed to standardize the contracts,
based on internationally accepted principles and best practices and to facilitate the speedy award of
contracts. This framework has been successfully used for award of concessions for hundreds of the
projects. As on July 31, 2018 we have awarded 158 BOT Toll based contracts valued at Rs.
1,31,61,300.00 lakh. The risks associated with this model framework of contract execution are provided
as below:

Risks arising from the Model Concession Agreement

The Road & Highways sector in India has witnessed significant investment in recent years. For
sustaining the interest of private participants, a clear risk-sharing and regulatory framework has been
spelt out in the Model Concession Agreement (MCA). MCA's risk framework is briefly discussed
below:

. Land acquisition risk: We are responsible for acquiring the requisite land for the project
highway on behalf of MoRTH and we provide all reasonable support and assistance to the
concessionaire in procuring applicable permits required from any Government
authority/instrumentality. In case of delay in procuring applicable permits we may have to
compensate the concessionaire which may be in form of increase in the concession period.

. Force Majeure Risk: Force Majeure risk pervades all through the specific provisions in
MCAs and it is a major source of risk which directly affects the projects of NHAI and affects
the output of the organization. Force Majeure covers the following events which pose a risk
to the construction projects execution, namely any or all of Non-Political Event(s), Indirect
Political Event(s) and Political Event(s) occurring in India which include the following:

Non-Political Events

> act of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather conditions or radioactive
contamination or ionizing radiation, fire or explosion;

> strikes or boycotts;

> the discovery of geological conditions, toxic contamination or archaeological
remains on the Site;

> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

Indirect Political Events

> an act of war, invasion, armed conflict or act of foreign enemy, blockade, embargo,
riot, insurrection, terrorist or military action;

> civil commotion or politically motivated sabotage which prevents collection of
toll/fees;

> industry-wide or state-wide or India-wide strikes or industrial action which prevent
collection of toll/fees;

> any failure of delay of a contractor to the extent caused by any Indirect Political Event

and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable by the
concessionaire by or on behalf of such contractor;

> any Indirect Political Event that causes a Non-Political Event; or

> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing

Political Events
> change in Law effected by any governmental agency, only if consequences thereof

cannot be dealt with under and in accordance with the provisions of the concession
agreement;
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> compulsory acquisition, in national interest, or expropriation of any project assets or
rights of the concessionaire or of the contractors by any governmental agency.

> unlawful or unauthorised or without jurisdiction revocation of or refusal to renew or
grant without valid cause any consent or approval required by developer.
> any failure or delay of a contractor but only to the extent caused by another Political

Event and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the
concessionaire by or on behalf of such contractor; or
> any event or circumstance of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

Disputes risk: Any dispute arising out of or in relation to the concession agreement, between
the parties is major internal risk, the mechanism for the dispute redressal is provided in the
MCA. It is to be noted that the risk of disputes arises out of the MCA and is also addressed by
the MCA template itself. It specifies that the parties should attempt to resolve the dispute
amicably and for this purpose, the mandate has been given to an independent engineer to
mediate and assist the parties to arrive at a settlement. The procedure has been laid out in
sufficient detail therein. However, upon the failure of such conciliatory measure, the parties
shall resort to Arbitration. Such disputes materially affect the project completion and
execution and are a major source of internal risk. For further details, please refer to chapter
“Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on page 124 of this Draft Shelf
Prospectus.

NHAI Event of Default: In the event of any of the defaults specified in the concession
agreement which we have failed to cure within 90 days or such longer period as has been
specified in the agreement, we shall be deemed to be in default and concessionaire shall have
the right to terminate the agreement. Any default by NHAI under the agreement materially
poses a risk of project delay and/or non-completion.

Concessionaire Event of Default: The MCA, like any other agreement/contract is under
exposure of the concessionaire defaulting, though there are substitution mechanisms in place.
This internal risk may affect our project(s) in the short term, however in the long run this risk
can be mitigated by prompt and reliable substitution of a defaulting or non-performing
concessionaire.

Termination Payment Liability: The MCA provides for payment to project lender(s) in case
of termination of concession after the completion of the construction, to the extent of debt due
as on the date of termination and the project highway stand transferred to us. This puts
additional liability on us to directly or indirectly operate and maintain the project highway.

Contract Monitoring Risk: A tertiary risk arising from contracts is the risk arising from
monitoring of Public Private Partnership Projects (“PPP”) and any oversight during
implementation. This is because although detailed guidelines have been laid down for award
of contracts to concessionaires, the institutional mechanism for monitoring and enforcement
of PPP contracts is yet to be implemented. A satisfactory reporting format for monitoring on
site performance of contracts has to be in place to mitigate this area of internal risk. Till this
procedure is in place, we are exposed to this internal risk.

Risk arising from the international competitive bidding process/Risks associated with
consultant selection: Although the bidding process is well culled out and is divided into two
stages of Request For Qualification (“RFQ”) and the consequent Request For Proposal
(“RFP”) (and amendments to these are project specific), there is a risk arising from
disclosures made by prospective concessionaires under this bidding process. Particularly if a
wrong disclosure is made and the weighted financial score is mis-calculated, the incompetent
concessionaire will come into the picture with relatively lower expertise and affect the
execution of the project. Pre-qualification on the basis of technical and financial expertise of
the firm and its track record in similar projects which meets the threshold technical and
financial criteria set out in the RFQ document. Determination of technical and financial
capacity of consortium applicants in proportion to the committed equity holding of each
consortium member in the project SPV.

Other risks and risk mitigation mechanisms in the MCA template: Revenue realisation in
BOT-Toll projects is subject to some key risks including, but not limited to variation in traffic,
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variation in toll rates and premature termination. The concession agreement provides for various
risk mitigation mechanisms to the concessionaire including change in concession period,
differential toll rates that are linked to cost of different road structures under the new toll rules
(linear alignment, bridges, tunnels, bypasses etc.) to providing for termination payments under
force majeure events, additional toll way, occurrence of on account of certain events. The
concession agreement provides for extension or reduction of the concession period in the event the
actual traffic falls short or exceeds the target traffic, as estimated on the target date.

o Insurance liability for the employees of concessionaire in case of default: If the
concessionaire fails to keep in force all insurances for which it is responsible, NHAI, shall be
bound to pay the insurance premium and keep the same alive (this is a shortterm burden on
NHAI, though recoverable later). NHAI does however have the option to recover the premium
from the concessionaire or to deduct it from subsequent payment.

Operate, Maintain and Transfer (OMT) contracts:

We have also awarded selected highway projects to private sector players under an OMT Concession.
Till recently, the tasks of toll collection and highway maintenance were entrusted to tolling
agents/operators and subcontractors, respectively. These tasks have been integrated under the OMT
concession. Under this concession private operators would be eligible to collect tolls on these stretches
for maintaining highways and providing essential services (such as emergency/ safety services).

Under the OMT, we are exposed to the following risks:

. Under the OMT agreement we have to procure the right of way to the site as a condition
precedent within a specified period of time. Any delay in procuring this right of way will
entitle the concessionaire to claim damages at a specified percentage of the performance
security.

. We also undertake the risk to maintain and protect the construction works during of period of
suspension of the concessionaire. This may involve exposure to high watch and works costs.

o In the event of default or breach of the agreement by us, our liability is computed keeping all
direct costs suffered by the concessionaire as a consequence of such breach. This
compensation may also include interest payment on debt, Operations and Maintenance
expenses.

. If the concessionaire fails to keep in force all insurances for which it is responsible, we are
bound to either pay the insurance premium and keep the same alive (this is a short term burden
on NHAI, though recoverable later). We do however have the option to recover the premium
from the concessionaire or to deduct it from subsequent payment.

Engineering Procurement Construction and Maintenance (“EPCM”) Contracts

In addition to the above modes of construction contracts, recently we have also awarded selected
highway projects to private sector players under EPCM mode. An EPCM contract is a design, construct
and maintain contract where a single contractor broadly takes responsibility for all elements of the
construction, procurement and maintenance which is different from the EPC contract. In an EPCM
contract, the contractor has to quote the cost of constructing or upgrading the road section and thereafter
the contractor will have to maintain the same till a period of two years post completion of the
construction. The project is awarded to the contractor offering to complete the project at the lowest cost
and the cost of the project is borne by the Authority. The government has recently decided to switch to
the conventional EPCM model to award contracts. The projects are a mix between ones that did not
elicit bids from private parties as their cost was too high and thus seen as unviable and a few that were
terminated by the government due to lack of interest shown by the developers concerned. The EPC
mode takes three to four months for a project to be awarded, while BOT contracts take 18-20 months.
There is a severe risk that the EPC model may lose its viability to attract investors and contractors as
has happened earlier with EPC format and also with the BoT model. There is no guarantee that the EPC
model will continue to show a steady growth as it is also subject to certain inherent risks.

Under the EPCM, we are exposed to the following risks:
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Under the EPCM contract we have to procure the right of way to the site as a condition
precedent within a specified period of time. Any delay in procuring this right of way will
entitle the contractor to claim damages at a specified rate as per the formula provided under
the contract.

Prior to the Appointed Date, we have the responsibility to maintain and undertake repair of
the Project Highway, at our own cost and expense, so that its traffic worthiness and safety are
at no time compromised. Therefore, any delay in declaration of Appointed Date will extend
our maintenance obligation. However, in case of unforeseen events, such as floods or
earthquake causing excessive deterioration or damage to a particular highway we also
undertake the risk to maintain and protect the construction works during of period of
suspension of the contractor. This may also involve exposure to our works cost implications
due to our liability to maintain the highway.

If the contractor fails to keep in force all insurances for which it is responsible, NHAI, shall be
bound to pay the insurance premium and keep the same alive (this is a short term burden on NHAI,
though recoverable later). NHAI does however have the option to recover the premium from the
contractor or to deduct it from subsequent payment.

Any dispute arising out of or in relation to the contract, between the parties is major internal
risk, the mechanism for the dispute redressal is provided in the contract. It is to be noted that
the risk of disputes arises out of the contract and is also addressed by the MCA template itself.
It specifies that the parties should attempt to resolve the dispute amicably and for this purpose,
the mandate has been given to an Independent Engineer to mediate and assist the parties to
arrive at a settlement. The procedure has been laid out in sufficient detail therein. However,
upon the failure of such conciliatory measure, the parties shall resort to Arbitration, which
shall be held in accordance with Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996. Such disputes
materially affect the project completion and execution and are a major source of internal risk.
For further details, please refer to chapter “Outstanding Litigation and Material
Developments” on page 124 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

The price quoted by a selected developer is to be paid by us, we are exposed to a risk of price
escalation related to the prices of labour, cement, steel, plant, machinery and spares, bitumen,
fuel and lubricants, and other material inputs. The detail of calculation of any increase in such
costs is provided under the agreement.

We have the liability to compensate the contractor for any increase in cost implications upon
the contractor due to change/modification in any applicable law. Therefore, a change in law
may expose us to additional financial cost and thus is a risk which the Authority undertakes.

Upon termination of an EPCM contract, we are bound to pay to the contractor 10% (ten per
cent) of the cost of those works that would not have commenced or have not been completed.
Also, on the date of termination or suspension, as the case may be, the maintenance and
operation of the project highway stands transferred to us. This puts additional liability on us
to directly or indirectly operate and maintain the project highway.

We are also exposed to the financial closure risk as the obligation of financial closure rests upon
the concessionaire who may be unable to garner the requisite funds upon award of the concession.
Additionally, force majeure risk pervades all through the specific provisions in MCAs and it is a
major source of risk which directly affects the projects of NHAI and affects the output of the
organization. Force Majeure covers the following events which pose a risk to the construction
projects execution, namely any or all of Non-Political Event(s), Indirect Political Event(s) and
Political Event(s) occurring in India which include the following:

Non-Political Events

> act of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather conditions or radioactive
contamination or ionising radiation, fire or explosion;
> strikes or boycotts;
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> the discovery of geological conditions, toxic contamination or archaeological remains
on the Site; or

Indirect Political Events

> an act of war, invasion, armed conflict or act of foreign enemy, blockade, embargo,
riot, insurrection, terrorist or military action;

> civil commotion or politically motivated sabotage which prevents collection of
toll/fees; or

> industry-wide or state-wide or India-wide strikes or industrial action which prevent

collection of toll/fees;

Political Events

> change in Law, only if consequences thereof cannot be dealt with under and in
accordance with the provisions of the EPC Agreement.

> compulsory acquisition in national interest or expropriation or any project assets or rights
of the contractor or of the sub-contractors by any governmental agency;

> unlawful or unauthorised or without jurisdiction revocation of or refusal to renew or
grant without valid cause any consent or approval required by the developer.

> any failure or delay of a sub-contractor but only to the extent caused by another
Political Event; or

> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

Hybrid BoT Annuity Model:

Against the backdrop of the announcement made by the Finance Minister during his budget speech
about revisiting the existing PPP models and the need to rebalance the risks in the PPP model with the
government bearing a larger part of the risks, broad guidelines for ‘Hybrid Annuity’ model were
announced by NHAI. Hybrid Annuity Model is a mix of EPC and BOT (Annuity) models, with
government and private enterprise sharing the total project cost in the ratio of 40:60 during construction
period, where the Government is funding 40% of the project cost as determined by NHAI in five equal
installments during the construction period as construction support. The private party would be required
to bear balance 60% of the project cost through combination of equity contribution and debt raised
from market. Further this 60 % of the cost borne by the private party during the construction period is
to be recover from the Authority in terms of annuity payment spread over the period of ten/twenty
years. As per this model, the financial burden on private party will reduce during the construction
phase. The Government will also retain the revenue risk as it would collect toll. On the other hand the
private player will bear construction, operations and maintenance risks. Since the Government will bear
40% of the project cost during the implementation phase, the returns to the private player in the form
of annuities during the operating phase will be proportionately lower when compared with normal
annuity project fully funded by private developer. There is a risk that there may be a mismatch between
the developer’s cost estimates which may be higher than NHAI’s cost estimates. However, when
compared with EPC projects, shift to Hybrid Annuity model would ease the cash flow pressure on
NHAI as it would have to provide only 40% upfront funding spread over the 30-36 months of
construction period, and remaining 60% over 15-20 years of the concession period, in the form of
semiannual payments which can be recovered to an extent through tolling of these stretches by NHAI
itself. Therefore, NHAI’s own upfront funding requirement will be lower in case of hybrid annuity
compared with EPC mode. Further, annuity nature of the projects would eliminate traffic related risks
thereby improving ease of financial closure and refinancing ability post project completion. However,
a lot would depend on NHAI's ability to ensure 100% right of way and approvals before awarding these
projects and the variation between NHAI and developers’ cost estimates.

Under the hybrid model, the projects would be awarded only after acquiring 90% of the land
and after obtaining the relevant clearances. Any delay in obtaining the necessary conditions for fruitful
implementation of this model could materially adversely affect our growth. Further, an increased burden to
finance such projects will also increase our borrowing requirements and if we are unable to meet such
financing requirements, it could materially adversely affect our growth.
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The inherent risks comprised of in the Hybrid MCA include amongst others:

Force Majeure Risk

Force Majeure risk pervades all through the specific provisions in the Hybrid model MCAs and it is a
major source of risk which directly affects the projects of NHAI and affects the output of the
organization. Force Majeure cover the following events which pose a risk to the construction projects
execution, namely any or all of Non-Political Event(s), Indirect Political Event(s) and Political Event(s)
occurring in India which include the following:

Non Political Events

> act of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather conditions or radioactive contamination or
ionising radiation, fire or explosion;

> Strikes or boycotts;

> any failure or delay of a Contractor but only to the extent caused by another Non-Political

Event and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the
concessionaire by or on behalf of such Contractor;
> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

Indirect Political Events

> an act of war, invasion, armed conflict or act of foreign enemy, blockade, embargo, riot,
insurrection, terrorist or military action;
> any political or economic upheaval, disturbance, movement, struggle or similar occurrence

which causes the construction or operation of the Project to be financially unviable or
otherwise not feasible;

> industry-wide or state-wide or India-wide strikes or industrial action for a continuous period of 24
(twenty four) hours and exceeding an aggregate period of 7 (seven) days in an Accounting Year;
> failure of the Authority to permit the Concessionaire to continue its Construction Works, with

or without modifications, in the event of stoppage of such works after discovery of any
geological or archaeological finds or for any other reason;

> any failure of delay of a contractor to the extent caused by any Indirect Political Event and
which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable by the concessionaire by
or on hehalf of such contractor;

> any Indirect Political Event that causes a Non-Political Event; or

> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

Political Event

> change in Law effected by any governmental agency, only if consequences thereof cannot be
dealt with under and in accordance with the provisions of the concession agreement;
compulsory acquisition, in national interest, or expropriation of any project assets or rights of
the concessionaire or of the contractors by any governmental agency.

unlawful or unauthorised or without jurisdiction revocation of or refusal to renew or grant
without valid cause any consent or approval required by developer.

any failure or delay of a contractor but only to the extent caused by another Political Event
and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the concessionaire
by or on behalf of such contractor; or

> any event or circumstance of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

vV VYV V¥V

Termination Risk

There is also the risk of termination arising from either political events and also non-political events.
The MCA provides for payment to the Concessionaire in case of termination of concession agreement
and the project highway stand transferred to us. This puts additional liability on us to directly or
indirectly operate and maintain the project highway.

Toll-Operate Transfer (TOT):

Government of India has approved Toll Operate and Transfer (TOT) model under which the Public
funded projects operational for two years shall be put to bid wherein the right of collection and
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appropriation of fee shall be assigned for a pre-determined concession period (30 years) to
Concessionaires (Developers/Investors) against upfront payment of a lump sum amount to NHAL.
Operation and Maintenance (O&M) obligation of such projects shall be with the concessionaire till the
completion of the concession period. Projects to be undertaken in the TOT model are to be treated as
Public-private-partnership (PPP) projects.

The first bundle of TOT projects comprising of 9 project stretches aggregating to a length of 680km
has already finalised and Letter of Award (LOA) has been issued. Apart from TOT Bundle-I, NHAI
has also identified stretches of approximate length of 1640 kms under TOT in which condition survey
and traffic studies is under progress.

The inherent risks comprised of in the TOT MCA include amongst others:

Force Majeure Risk

Force Majeure risk pervades all through the specific provisions in the TOT MCAs and it is a major
source of risk which directly affects the projects of NHAI and affects the output of the organization.
Force Majeure cover the following events which pose a risk to the construction projects execution,
namely any or all of Non-Political Event(s), Indirect Political Event(s) and Political Event(s) occurring
in India which include the following:

Non-Political Events

> act of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather conditions or radioactive contamination or
ionizing radiation, fire or explosion;

> strikes or boycotts;

> the discovery of geological conditions, toxic contamination or archaeological remains on the Site;

> any failure or delay of a Contractor but only to the extent caused by another Non-Political

Event and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the
concessionaire by or on behalf of such Contractor;

> any judgement or order of any court of competent jurisdiction or statutory authority made
against the Concessionaire;
> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.

Indirect Political Events

> an act of war, invasion, armed conflict or act of foreign enemy, blockade, embargo, riot,
insurrection, terrorist or military action;

> civil commotion or politically motivated sabotage which prevents collection of toll/fees;

> industry-wide or state-wide or India-wide strikes or industrial action which prevent collection
of toll/fees;

> any failure of delay of a contractor to the extent caused by any Indirect Political Event and

which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable by the concessionaire by
or on behalf of such contractor;

> any Indirect Political Event that causes a Non-Political Event; or

> any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing

Political Events

> change in Law effected by any governmental agency, only if consequences thereof cannot be
dealt with under and in accordance with the provisions of the concession agreement;

> compulsory acquisition, in national interest, or expropriation of any project assets or rights of
the concessionaire or of the contractors by any governmental agency.

> unlawful or unauthorised or without jurisdiction revocation of or refusal to renew or grant
without valid cause any consent or approval required by developer.

> any failure or delay of a contractor but only to the extent caused by another Political Event

and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the concessionaire
by or on behalf of such contractor; or
> any event or circumstance of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing.
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29.

No Debenture Redemption Reserve (“DRR”) for the Bonds is proposed to be maintained for the present issue
of Bonds and the Bondholders may find it difficult to enforce their interests in the event of or to the extent of
a default.

The obligation to maintain a DRR is applicable only to companies registered under the Companies Act,
1956/Companies Act, 2013. From the definitions laid down by SEBI under SEBI Debt Regulations, it may be
observed that the definition of issuer includes a company. Certain mandatory requirements are required of all
issuers whereas certain requirements like creation of a DRR is required only if the issuer is a company. The term
“issuer” is much widerandtends to include public sector undertakings and statutory corporations besides
companies. NHAI is a statutory authority making a public issuance of debt securities and so it falls under the
definition of “issuer”, but it is not a company. Hence, NHAI being an “issuer” but not a “company”, the
requirement to maintain a DRR in compliance under Rule 18 (7) of The Companies (Share Capital and
Debentures) Rules, 2014 is not applicable to it. Issuer companies are required under this section to maintain a
DRR out of their yearly profits by crediting ‘adequate’ amounts to the DRR. Hence, even in cases where a
company is maintaining a DRR, in a certain year it may not credit any amount to the DRR if there are no profits
in that year. Moreover, the revenue flow to NHAI is credited to the NHAI Fund and is utilised therefrom in
accordance with the provisions of the NHAI Act, which does not provide for creation of reserves such as DRR.
Since there is no obligation on NHAI under the NHAI Act, the SEBI Debt Regulations and the Companies
(Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 and also NHALI has informed SEBI of the same vide its letter dated
July 27, 2018. Therefore, NHAI will not maintain DRR for the present issue of Bonds and the Bondholders may
find it difficult to enforce their interests in the event of or to the extent of a default.

Risks Relating to the Utilization of Issue Proceeds

30.

The fund requirement and deployment mentioned in the Objects of the Issue have not been appraised by any
bank or any financial institution.

We intend to deploy the Issue proceeds towards part financing of different projects of the Issuer including
Bharatmala Pariyojana of Government of India, as well as other operational, administrative and financial
purposes etc. Prime focus of Bharatmala Pariyojana is to optimise the efficiency of the movement of goods and
people across the country. For further details, please refer to the section titled “Objects of the Issue” beginning
on page 52 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus. The fund requirement and deployment are based on internal
management estimates and has not been appraised by any bank or financial institution. The management will
have significant flexibility in applying the proceeds received by us from the Issue. Further, as per the provisions
of the SEBI Debt Regulations, we are not required to appoint a monitoring agency and therefore no monitoring
agency has been appointed for this Issue.

Risks relating to investment in Bonds

31.

32.

There is no guarantee that the Bonds issued pursuant to this Issue will be listed on the NSE/ BSE in a timely
manner, or at all.

In accordance with Indian law and practice, permissions for listing and trading of the Bonds issued pursuant to
this Issue will not be granted until after the Bonds have been issued and allotted. Approval for listing and trading
will require all relevant documents authorising the issuing of Bonds to be submitted. There could be a failure or
delay in listing the Bonds on the NSE/ BSE.

You may not be able to recover, on a timely basis or at all, the full value of the outstanding amounts and/or
the interest accrued thereon in connection with the Bonds.

Our ability to pay interest accrued on the Bonds and/or the principal amount outstanding from time to time in
connection therewith would be subject to various factors, including, inter-alia our financial condition,
profitability and the general economic conditions in India and in the global financial markets. We cannot assure
you that we would be able to repay the principal amount outstanding from time to time on the Bonds and/or the
interest accrued thereon in a timely manner, or at all. Although NHAI will create appropriate security in favour
of the Debenture Trustee for the holders of the Bonds on the assets adequate to ensure 100% asset cover for the
Bonds and interest accrued thereon, the realizable value of the secured assets, when liquidated, may be lower
than the outstanding principal and/or interest accrued thereon in connection with the Bonds, or in the event we
are required to suddenly depreciate the value of our assets then also there may be a reduction in the value of
assets available for redemption of the Bonds. A failure or delay to recover the expected value from a sale or
disposition of the secured assets could expose you to a potential loss.
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33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

Changes in interest rates may affect the prices of the Bonds.

All securities where a fixed rate of interest is offered, such as the Bonds, are subject to price risk. The price of such
securities will vary inversely with changes in prevailing interest rates, i.e. when interest rates rise, prices of fixed
income securities fall and when interest rates drop, the prices increase. The extent of fall or rise in the prices is a
function of the existing coupon, days to maturity and the increase or decrease in the level of prevailing interest rates.
Increased rates of interest, which frequently accompany inflation and/or a growing economy, are likely to have a
negative effect on the price of the Bonds.

Payments made on the Bonds will be subordinated to liabilities preferred by law.

The Bonds will be subordinated to certain liabilities preferred by law such as to claims of the Gol on account
ofcertain liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of our transactions. In particular, n the event of supersession
of the NHAI by the Central Government under the provision of NHAI Act, 1988 our assets will vest in the
Central Governement and such assestswill be available to pay obligations on the Bonds only after all of those
liabilities that rank senior to these Bonds have been paid. Further, there is no restriction on the amount of debt
securities that we may issue that may rank above the Bonds. The issue of any such debt securities may reduce
the amount recoverable by investors in the Bonds in case of our supersession.

There has been only limited trading in the bonds and it may not be available on sustained basis in the future,
and the price of the Bonds may be volatile.

There has been only limited trading in bonds of such nature in the past. Although the Bonds are proposed to be listed
on NSE/ BSE, there can be no assurance that a public market for these Bonds would be available on a sustained basis.
The liquidity and market prices of the Bonds can be expected to vary with changes in market and economic conditions,
our financial condition and prospects and other factors that generally influence market price of Bonds. Such
fluctuations may significantly affect the liquidity and market price of the Bonds, which may trade at a discount to the
price at which the Bonds are issued. Further, all extraneous factors which influence the Bond market will affect
the present Bonds. The pricing will be subject to factors affecting the general economic condition in India and
in the global financial markets.

Any downgrading in credit rating of the Bonds may affect the value of Bonds and thus our ability to raise
further debts.

The Bonds proposed to be issued under this Issue have been rated “IND AAA”; Outlook: Stable by IRRPL vide
their letter dated August 16, 2018, “CARE AAA”; Stable by CARE vide their letter dated August 10, 2018,
"[ICRA] AAA” with Stable Outlook by ICRA vide its letter dated August 10, 2018 and “CRISIL AAA/Stable” by
CRISIL vide its letter dated August 17, 2018. We cannot guarantee that these credit ratings will not be downgraded
by the rating agencies in future. The ratings provided by these Credit Rating Agencies may be suspended,
withdrawn or revised at any time. Any revision or downgrading in the above credit rating may lower the value of
the Bonds and may also affect NHAI’s ability to raise further debt.

Any volatility in the exchange rate may lead to a decline in India's foreign exchange reserves and may affect
liquidity and interest rates in the Indian economy, which may impact the Issuer

Capital inflows into India have remained extremely volatile responding to concerns about the domestic
macroeconomic landscape and changes in the global risk environment. A substantial increasein the import bill,
mainly on account of increase incrude oil prices led to a significant widening of the trade deficit that in turn
increased the size of the current account deficit from the budget estimates. The primary challenge for the Rupee
was the volatile swings in capital flows. The Rupee is currently at all time low and had recorded a high of 68.94
to the U.S. dollar and a low of 63.35 to the U.S. dollar during the 12month period up to June 30, 2018. The
Rupee may come underfurtherpressure given reversal in US monetary policy that is resulting in a rotation of
global fund flows from emerging markets to the US markets over the medium term programme. Due to such
decrease in Rupee compared to USD there may bea need for intervention which may result in a decline in India's
foreign exchange reserves and subsequently reduce the amount of liquidity in the domestic financial system.
This in turn could further impact domestic interest rates.

There may be a delay in making refunds to applicants.

We cannot assure that the monies refundable to applicants, on account of (a) withdrawal applications, (b)
withdrawal of the Issue, or (c) failure to obtain the final approval from the exchanges for listing of Bonds, (d)
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39.

40.

non-allotment due to technical rejections or over subscriptions, will be refunded to the applicants in a timely
manner.

Risk regarding enforcement of security on account of default.

Taking into account the nature of security and since most of the security is of peculiar nature i.e. fixed assets ofNHAI,
being highway project comprising of all superstructure including highway lightings, road barriers and dividers,
bridges, culverts and all other super structures constructed on national highways entrusted to NHAI, enforcement of
security will be tedious in nature, difficult and its realisable value will depend upon the market condition at that time
and various extraneous factors at relevant time. Bond Trustee is not a guarantor and will not be responsible for any
loss or claim.

The new taxation system in India could adversely affect our business.

The Government has implementedmajor reforms in Indian tax laws, namely the provisions relating to the GAAR. The
provisions of GAAR have been introduced in the Finance Act, 2012 and have come into effect from April 1, 2017.
The GAAR provisions intend to target and tax arrangements declared as "impermissible avoidance arrangements"”,
which is any arrangement, the main purpose or one of the main purposes of which is to obtain a tax benefit and which
satisfies at least one of the following tests: (i) creates rights or obligations which are not ordinarily created between
persons dealing at arm'’s length; (ii) results, directly or indirectly, in misuse, or abuse, of the provisions of the IT ACT,;
(iii) lacks commercial substance or is deemed to lack commercial substance, in whole or in part; or (iv) is entered into,
or carried out, by means, or in a manner, which are not ordinarily employed for bona fide purposes. If GAAR
provisions are invoked, then the tax authorities have wide powers, including denial of tax benefit or a benefit under a
tax treaty. The consequences of the implementation of GAAR cannot be determined at present and there can be no
assurance that such effects would not adversely affect the business of the Issuer and its future financial performance.

External Risk Factors

41.

42,

43.

44,

Our operations are affected by conditions in the financial markets and economic conditions generally, both in
India and elsewhere around the world which could have an adverse effect on our operations.

Our business is affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions generally, both in India
and elsewhere around the world. Many factors or events could lead to a downturn in the global financial markets
including war, acts of terrorism, natural catastrophes and sudden changes in economic and financial policies. Any
such event could affect confidence of contractor/participants which may affect our operations since large percentage
of our projects are based on PPP model.

Our business is subject to a significant number of tax regimes and changes in legislation governing the rules
implementing them or the regulator enforcing them in any one of those jurisdictions could negatively and
adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to regulations by Indian governmental authorities. These laws and regulations impose numerous
requirements on us, including asset classifications and prescribed levels of capital adequacy, cash reserves and
liquid assets. There may be future changes in the regulatory system or in the enforcement of the laws and
regulations that could adversely affect us.

Any downgrading of India’s debt rating by an international rating agency could have a negative impact on
our operations.

Any adverse revisions to India's credit ratings for domestic and international debt by international rating agencies
may adversely impact our ability to raise additional financing, and the interest rates and other commercial terms
at which such additional financing may be available. This could have an adverse effect on our operations and
future financial performance, its ability to obtain financing for capital expenditures and the trading price of the
Bonds.

Political instability or changes in the Government could delay further liberalization of the Indian economy
and adversely affect economic conditions in India generally, which could impact our operations.

We are a statutory authority established in India and all of our operations, assets and personnel are located in
India. Consequently, our performance and the market price and liquidity of our Bonds may be affected by
changes in exchange rates and controls, interest rates, Government policies, taxation, social and ethnic instability
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and other political and economic developments affecting India. The Central Government has traditionally
exercised, and continues to exercise, a significant influence over many aspects of the economy. Our operations
are also impacted by regulation and conditions in the various States in India where we operate. Our operations
and the market price and liquidity of our Bonds may be affected by changes in Central Government policy,
taxation and other political, economic or other developments in or affecting India. Since 1991, successive
Central Governments have pursued policies of economic liberalization and financial sector reforms. However,
there can be no assurance that such policies will be continued. A significant change in the Central Government's
policies could adversely affect results of our operations and could cause the price of our Bonds to decline.

45, Civil unrest, terrorist attacks and war would affect our operations.

Certain events that are beyond our control, such as terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war, may
adversely affect worldwide financial markets and could potentially lead to a severe economic recession, which
could adversely affect results of our operations, physical execution and cash flows, and more generally, any of
these events could lower confidence in India's economy.

India has also experienced social unrest in some parts of the country. If such tensions occur in other parts of the
country leading to overall political and economic instability, it could have a materially adverse effect on results
of our operations, future performance and the trading price of the Bonds.

46. Our operations may be adversely impacted by natural calamities or unfavourable climatic changes.

Anact of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather conditions or radioactive contamination or ionising
radiation, fire or explosion may adversely affect results of our operations.

47. Non-compliance with, and changes in, safety, health and environmental laws and regulations may adversely
affect results of our operations.

Some of our projects are subject to extensive Government and environmental laws and regulations which govern
the discharge, emission, storage, handling and disposal of a variety of substances that may be used in or result
from our operations. These laws and regulations include the Environmental Protection Act 1986, the Air
(Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act 1981, the Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act 1974 and
other regulations promulgated by the Ministry of Environment and the Pollution Control Boards of the relevant
states. In addition, some of our operations are subject to risks involving personal injury, loss of life,
environmental damage and severe damage to property.

We believe environmental regulation of industrial activities in India will become more stringent in the future. The scope
and extent of new environmental regulations, including their effect on our operations, cannot be predicted with certainty.
The costs and management time required to comply with these requirements could be significant. The measures we
implement in order to comply with these new laws and regulations may not be deemed sufficient by Government entities
and our compliance costs may significantly exceed our estimates. If we fail to meet environmental requirements, we may
also be subject to administrative, civil and criminal proceedings by Government entities, as well as civil proceedings by
environmental groups and other individuals, which could result in substantial fines and penalties against us as well as
revocation of approvals and permits and orders that could limit or halt our operations. There can be no assurance that we
will not getinvolved in future litigation or other proceedings or be held responsible in any such future litigation or
proceedings relating to safety, health and environmental matters in the future, the costs of which could be material. Clean-
up and remedial costs, as well as damages, other liabilities and related litigation, could adversely affect results of our
operations and physical execution.
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PROMINENT NOTES:

1.

For details on the interest of our Members, please refer to the sections titled “Our Management” beginning on
page 100 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

SPVs of NHAI has entered into certain related party transactions as disclosed in the section titled “Financial
Information of NHAI” as Appendix Il of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Any clarification or information relating to the Issue shall be made available by the Lead Managers and NHAI
to the investors at large and no selective or additional information would be available for a section of investors
in any manner whatsoever.

Investors may contact the Registrar to the Issue and/or the Compliance Officer for any complaints pertaining to
the Issue. In case of any specific queries on allotment/refund, Investor may contact Registrar to the Issue.

In the event of oversubscription in the Tranche Issue, allocation of Bonds will be as per the Tranche Prospectus.
Investors may note that this being a public issue of Bonds, as per the SEBI Debt Regulations, the Draft Shelf
Prospectus has not been submitted to SEBI for comments. However, the Draft Shelf Prospectus had been filed
with the Designated Stock Exchange for receipt of public comments for 7 working days i.e. until 5 pm on seventh
working day.

For information relating to certain significant legal proceedings that we are involved in, please refer to the
chapter titled “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on page 124 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.
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SECTION IlI- INTRODUCTION
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables present an extract of the Reformatted Unconsolidated Financial Information. The summary of the
Reformatted Unconsolidated Financial Information should be read in conjunction with the examination report thereon
issued by PSMG & Associates, Chartered Accountants and statement of significant accounting policies and notes to
accounts on the Reformatted Unconsolidated Financial Information contained in the section titled “Financial
Information” as Appendix I in this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

REFORMATTED STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Rs. in lakh)

AS AT MARCH 31

SOURCES OF
FUNDS

Nos. 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
l.

1

Shareholders'
Fund

a) Capital

1,39,59,380.47

1,25,51,457.89

1,04,52,040.18

9,270,378.22

8,064,111.97

b) Reserves &
Surplus

0.00

748.68

45.46

45.46

41,198.84

Grants

a) Capital

13,65,643.01

13,66,280.32

13,66,901.41

1,367,346.44

1,367,489.82

Borrowings

75,38,464.71

45,27,036.70

24,89,285.59

2,406,780.68

1,860,322.92

TOTAL

2,28,63,488.18

1,84,45,523.58

1,43,08,272.64

1,30,44,550.79

1,13,33,123.55

APPLICATION
OF FUNDS

Fixed Assets

a) Gross Block

12,533.36

11,870.62

11,238.39

9,475.49

9,182.64

b) Less:
Depreciation

7,857.39

7,217.40

6,462.96

5,905.33

5,5692.43

¢) Net Block

4,675.97

4,653.21

4,775.43

3,5670.16

3,590.20

d) Less: Assets
created out of
Grants

612.58

612.58

612.58

612.58

612.58

e) Assets held on
behalf of Gol
(completed &
ongoing)

2,17,72,656.62

1,76,45,402.50

1,40,79,731.46

12306481.73

10644023.84

Total

2,17,76,720.00

1,76,49,443.14

1,40,83,894.32

1,23,09,439.31

1,06,47,001.46

Investment (At
cost)

90,959.00

1,21,652.89

1,21,625.00

1,20,902.89

1,19,846.89

Current Assets,
Loans and
Advance

a) Inventories

b) Sundry Debtors

c) Deposits, Loans
& Advances

32,95,320.19

25,77,831.04

14,26,624.21

998,079.50

8,36,326.85

d) Interest accrued
On deposit

1,399.71

2,826.98

4,402.19

12,598.83

28,848.21

e) Interest accrued
and due on CALA
deposits

52,628.05

59,569.52

34,975.69

25,226.27

17,373.81

f) Cash & Bank
Balance

8,37,680.26

6,74,079.72

2,67,235.23

8,86,980.76

7,73,006.11

sub total

41,87,028.21

33,14,307.25

17,33,237.32

19,22,885.35

16,55,554.97

Less: Current
Liabilities and
Provisions

a) Liabilities

31,87,098.88

26,36,198.49

16,27,412.69

13,06,279.04

10,87,390.28

b) Provisions

4,120.15

3,681.20

3,071.31

2,397.71

1,889.49
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Particulars

sub total

Schedule

31,91,219.03

26,39,879.69

16,30,484.00

13,08,676.75

AS AT MARCH 31

10,89,279.78

Net Current
Assets

9,95,809.18

6,74,427.56

1,02,753.32

6,14,208.60

5,66,275.20

Misc. Expenditure
(to the extent not
written off)

10

Profit & Loss
Account  (Debit
balance, if any)

Significant
Accounting
Policies

18

Notes on Accounts

19

TOTAL|

2,28,63,488.18

1,84,45,523.58

1,43,08,272.64

1,30,44,550.79

1,13,33,123.55
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REFORMATTED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Particulars Schedule
2017

l.

INCOME

(Rs. In Lacs)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

2016 2015 2014 2013

a) Value of Work done

b) Other income

11

1,353.35

1,293.36

1,694.84

1094.13

1,541.27

¢) Interest (Gross)

12

1.06

0.88

1.18

1.13

1.54

d) Grant-in-aid for maintenance
of Highways

e) Net Increase/Decrease in
work-in-progress (+)/(-)

13

TOTAL

1,354.40

1,294.24

1,696.01

1095.26

1,542.81

EXPENDITURE

a) Construction Stores/
Material consumed Other
stores, spares & tools etc.
consumed

Work Expenses:

14

a) Personnel & Administrative
Expenses

15

27,282.06

22,537.20

20,799.86

19296.86

16,849.76

b) Finance Charges

16

14.71

7.76

7.18

11.60

10.98

c) Depreciation

771.52

870.43

683.27

462.37

379.16

d) Assets of Small Value Charged
Off

22.01

21.50

16.83

20.81

14.71

Exceptional Item

Provisionfor diminutioninthe
\value of investment

40,310.88

Less: Provision transferred to
Capital (Sch-1)

(40,310.88)

TOTAL

28,090.30

23,436.89

21,507.14

19791.63

17,254.61

Profit (+)/Loss (-) for the
year

(26,735.89)

(22,142.65)

(19,811.13)

(18696.37)

(15,711.80)

Add: Prior Period Items
net(+/-)

17

(1,135.83)

(747.01)

(832.30)

(679.45)

(606.47)

Less: Net Establishment
Expenses for the year
transferred to CWIP (Sch-5)

27,871.73

22,889.66

20,643.43

19375.83

16,318.27

Less/Add: Provision for
Taxation

Net Profit

Less: Transfer to Capital
Reserve

Less: Transfer to other
specific Reserve/Fund

Less/Add: Transfer
to/Transfer from General
Reserve (+/-)

Less/Add: Surplus brought
forward from previous year

41,198.84

Surplus carried to Balance
Sheet

41,198.84
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REFORMATTED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Particulars FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Cash flow from operating

activities:

Net profit before tax (26,735.89) (22,142.65) (19,811.13) (18696.37) (15,711.80)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 771.52 870.43 683.27 462.37 379.16
Profit/ (Loss )on sale of assets (2.77) (3.55) (8.33) (9.27) (1.43)
Interest income (1.06) (0.88) (1.18) (1.13) (1.54)
Operating profit before working (25,968.20) (21,276.65) (19,137.36) (18244.40) (15,335.61)
capital changes

Adjustments for:

(Increase)/Decrease in Deposits, (7,17,489.15) (11,51,482.74) (4,27,786.46) (161060.93) (412,731.83)
Loans & Advances

Increase in liabilities 5,50,900.39 10,08,785.80 3,21,133.65 218888.76 (183,008.63)
Increase in Provision for gratuity 438.95 609.89 673.60 508.22 385.41
and Leave encashment

Cash flow before extraordinary (1,92,118.01) (1,63,363.70) (1,25,116.57) 40091.65 (610,690.66)
item & prior period items

Prior period items (1,135.83) (747.01) (832.30) (679.45) (606.47)
Net cash generated from (1,93,253.85) (1,64,110.71) (1,25,948.87) 39412.20 (611,297.13)
operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of fixed assets (803.66) (757.79) (1,905.46) (449.47) (444.39)
Realization from sale of assets 12.16 13.13 25.25 16.41 11.39
Increase in Capital Work in (38,66,631.06) (34,50,701.69) | (16,98,326.15) (1,660,157.74) (1,388,970.03)
progress

Increase in investment 30,693.88 (27.88) (722.12) (1,056.00) (6,583.00)
Interest Income 1,62,085.61 96,759.82 1,10,727.53 109,295.85 97,482.15
Interest expense 20,349.00 11,188.98 - (2,554.64) (11,649.05)
Capital Reserve (Receipts) - - 10,769.86 15,607.28 7,631.85
Interest and other expenditure on - - (1,78,087.42) (140,447.11) (123,582.22)
bond issue

Net cash used in investing (36,54,294.06) (35,66,295.75) | (17,57,518.50) (1,679,745.43) (1,426,103.30)
activities

Cash flow from financing

activities:

Cess funds received from Govt of 2,32,650.00 15,42,000.00 6,88,589.00 685,745.00 600,300.00
India

Capital additional budgetary receipts 5,64,902.00 37,027.00 60,000.00 85,040.00 202,897.00
EAP Grant utilised towards (637.31) (621.09) (445.03) (143.38)

Revenue Expenditure

Transfer of "Premium on Bonds" (748.68)

to "Capital Reserve"

Adjusted Plough back of Toll 6,50,681.46 5,20,390.71 4,33,072.96 435,481.25 164,024.57
Remittance, etc

Loan received from government of |- - - -
India

Capital -Net off Toll Collection, - - 618,355.88
Negative Grant etc. upto 31.03.10

Repayment of loan from - - - (33,900.00) (51,685.00)
government of India

Net Increase in loan from ADB due (6,133.29) (159.09) (683.98) 3837.25 1,459.42
to Exchange Loss after Adjustment

of Repayments

Proceeds from issue of Capital 5,57,274.20 4,28,117.00 3,34,340.40 2,94,212.90 290,206.80
Gains Tax-Free Bonds

Proceeds from issue of Tax Free 19,00,703.22

Bonds 2015-16, including Premium

Proceeds from issue of Tax Free - [500045.46
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Particulars FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

| FORTHEYEARENDEDMARCH3 |
3) 4 5) (6) 7

Bonds 2013-14, including
Premium

Proceeds from issue of Taxable 27,54,500.00
bonds
Redemption of Capital Gains Tax- (2,94,212.90) (2,90,206.80) (2,51,151.50) (216010.60) (115,363.10)
Free Bonds
Interest and other expenditure on (4,06,816.15) (2,22,770.32)
Bond

Proceeds from issue of Tax- Free
Bonds 2011-12

Capital reserve (Negative Grant)

for BOT projects

Net cash used in financing 40,51,459.33 41,37,250.94 12,63,721.84 1754307.88 1,710,195.57
activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 2,03,911.43 4,06,844.49 (6,19,745.53) 113974.65 (327,204.85)

cash equivalents

Opening cash and cash equivalents 6,74,079.72 2,67,235.23 8,86,980.76 773006.11 1,100,210.97
Closing cash and cash equivalents 8,77,991.14 6,74,079.72 2,67,235.23 886980.76 773,006.11
Notes:
Cash and cash equivalents include:
Cash and cheques in hand / in 114.81 4.39 38.57 223.07 5.57
transit
Balance with banks: -In Current 8,11,682.59 73,702.37 98,690.56 42580.02 179,641.48
Account

- In FD account 25,882.86 6,00,372.95 1,68,506.10 844177.66 593,359.06
Balance as per books of account 8,37,680.26 6,74,079.72 2,67,235.23 886980.76 773,006.11
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Key Financial Indicators

Rs. in lakh
Parameters FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015

Net worth* 1,39,59,380.47 1,25,52,206.57 1,04,52,085.64
Total Debt 75,38,464.71 45,27,036.70 24,89,285.59
of which-Non Current Maturities of N.A N.A. N.A.
Long Term Borrowing**

- Short Term Borrowing** N.A N.A. N.A.

- Current Maturities of Long N.A N.A. N.A.

Term Borrowing**

Net Fixed Assets 4,675.97 4,653.21 4,775.43
Non Current Assets** N.A N.A. N.A.
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,37,680.26 6,74,079.72 2,67,235.23
Current Investments** N.A N.A. N.A.
Current Assets (including loans & 41,87,028.21 33,14,307.25 17,33,237.32
advances)
Current Liabilities (including 31,91,219.03 26,39,879.69 16,30,484.00
provisions)
Net sales N.A. N.A. N.A.
EBITDAN N.A. N.A. N.A.
EBIT? N.A. N.A. N.A.
Interest Nil Nil Nil
Profit/(loss) after tax” N.A. N.A. N.A.
Dividend amounts Nil Nil Nil
Current ratio 1.31 1.26 1.06
Interest coverage ratio N.A. N.A. N.A.
Gross debt/equity ratio 0.54 0.36 0.24
Debt Service Coverage Ratios N.A N.A. N.A.

* Networth = Capital + Reserve & Surplus

** Not applicable as NHAI is not required to prepare financials as per Revised Schedule VI
A Not Applicable as NHAI accounting policy considers Net profit/loss as excess of expenditure over income which is transferred to CWIP.
Furthermore, Interest expenditure does not form part of Profit & Loss Account and is directly debtited to CWIP. Accordinlgy, these cannot be

computed.

Note: Annual reports of NHALI are available on its website.

Note: For Auditors qualification and Management response please refer to Appendix V.

40



GENERAL INFORMATION

NHAI, an autonomous body under the Ministry of Road Transport & Highways, Gol, established under Section 3 of the
NHAI Act on June 15, 1989 and having a perpetual succession and common seal.

Head Office of NHAI

G -5 & 6, Sector 10

Dwarka, New Delhi — 110075
Tel.: +91 11 25074100/25074200
Fascimile: +91 11 2509 3507
Website: www.nhai.gov.in

ComplianceOfficer

Mr. S. Q. Ahmad

General Manager (Finance)

National Highways Authority of India

Head Office, G - 5 & 6, Sector 10

Dwarka, New Delhi — 110 075

Tel.: +91 11 25074100/200, Extension: 1306
Fascimile: +91 11 25076507

Email: bharatmalabonds@nhai.org

Investors may contact the Registrar or the Compliance Officer to the Issue in case of any pre-Issue or post-1ssue related problems
such as credit of allotted Bonds in the respective beneficiary account or refund, etc.

All grievances relating to the Issue may be addressed to the Registrar to the Issue, giving full details such as name,
Application Form number, address of the Applicant, number of Bonds applied for, Series of Bonds applied for, amount
paid on application, Depository Participant, DP ID, Client ID and the Bidding Centres of where the Application was
submitted.

All grievances relating to the ASBA process may be addressed to the Registrar to the Issue with a copy to either (a) the
relevant Designated Branch of the SCSB where the Application Form was submitted by the ASBA Applicant, or (b) the
concerned Member of the Syndicate and the relevant Designated Branch of the SCSB in the event of an Application
submitted by an ASBA Applicant at any of the Syndicate ASBA centres, giving full details such as name, address of
Applicant, Application Form number, series/option applied for, number of Bonds applied for and amount blocked on
Application.

All grievances arising out of Applications for the Bonds made through the Online Stock Exchange Mechanism or through
Trading Members may be addressed directly to the relevant Stock Exchange.

Member (Finance)*

ShriAsheesh Sharma, IAS

Member (Finance)

National Highways Authority of India
Head Office

G -5 & 6, Sector 10, Dwarka

New Delhi - 110075

Tel.: +91 11 25074100, 25074200
Fascimile: + 91 11 25093542

E-mail: memberfinance@nhai.org

*  The Issuer does not have a designated Chief Financial Officer. The finance function is headed by Shri Asheesh Sharma who is the
Member (Finance) of the Issuer, whose particulars are given above.
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Lead Managers to the Issue

Edelweiss Financial Services Limited

Edelweiss House, Off CST Road, Kalina, Mumbai-400 098

Tel.: +91 22 4086 3535

Facsimile: +91 22 4086 3610

Email: Bharatmala.Bonds@edelweissfin.com

Investor Grievance Email: customerservice.mb@edelweissfin.com
Website: www.edelweissfin.com

Contact Person: Mr. Mandeep Singh / Mr. Lokesh Singhi
Compliance Officer: Mr. B. Renganathan

SEBI Registration No.: INM0000010650

A. K. Capital Services Limited

30-39 Free Press House, 3" Floor,

Free Press Journal Marg

215, Nariman Point,

Mumbai 400021

Tel.: +91-2267546500;

Facsimile: +91-2266100594

E-mail: nhaincd2018@akgroup.co.in

Investor Grievance Email: investor.grievance@akgroup.co.in
Website: www.akgroup.co.in

Contact Person: Ms. Shilpa Pandey/Mr. Malay Shah
Compliance Officer: Mr. Tejas Davda

SEBI Registration No.: INM000010411

Axis Bank Limited

Axis House, 8th Floor,

C-2, Wadia Intenational Centre,

P.B. Marg, Worli, Mumbai- 400 025

Tel: +91 22 66043293

Fax: +91 22 24253800

E-mail: nhai.july2018@axisbank.com
Investor Grievance E-mail: investor.grievance@axisbank.com
Website: www.axisbank.com

Contact Person: Mr. Vikas Shinde
Compliance Officer: Mr. Sharad Sawant
SEBI Registration No.: INM000006104

SBI Capital Markets Limited

202, Maker Tower ‘E’,

Cuffe Parade,

Mumbai 400 005

Tel.: + 91 22 2217 8300

Facsimile: +91 22 2218 8332

E-mail: bharatmalabonds@sbicaps.com
Investor Grievance Email: investor.relations@sbicaps.com
Website: www.shicaps.com

Contact Person: Mr. Vivek Khurana
Compliance Officer: Mr. Bhaskar Chakraborty
SEBI Registration: INM000003531

Trust Investment Advisors Private Limited
109 & 110, First Floor,

Balarama Premises Co-Op Soc,

Village Parigkhari,

Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (E),

Mumbai Mahrashtra-400051

Tel.: +91 22 4084 5000

Fax: +91 22 4084 5007

E-mail: Trust.Bharatmala@trustgroup.in
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Investor Grievance Email: customercare@trustgroup.in
Website: www.trustgroup.in

Contact Person: Ms. Hetal Sonpal

Compliance Officer: Mr. Ankur Jain

SEBI Registration No.: INM000011120

Legal Advisor to the Issuer

MVKini, Law Firm

“Kini House”, 6/39 Jangpura-B

New Delhi-100014

Tel.: +91 11 2437 1038/39/40

Fax: +91 11 2437 9484

Website: www.mvkini.com

Contact Person: Mrs. Raj Rani Bhalla

Bond Trustee

Vistra ITCL (India) Limited

The IL&FS Financial Centre

Plot C-22, G-Block

7th Floor, Bandra Kurla Complex

Bandra East, Mumbai - 400 051

Tel: +91 (022) 28593150

Fax: +91 (022) 26533297

E-mail: itclcomplianceofficer@vistra.com
Contact Person: Mr. Jatin Chunani

SEBI Regn No: IND0O00000578

* Vistra ITCL (India) Limited has given its consent vide letter dated July 31, 2018 to the Issuer for its appointment under regulation
4(4) of SEBI Debt Regulations and for its name to be included in this Draft Shelf Prospectus and in all the subsequent periodical
communications sent to the holders of the Bonds issued pursuant to this Issue.

All the rights and remedies of the Bondholders under this Issue shall vest in and shall be exercised by the appointed Bond
Trustee for this Issue without having it referred to the Series Bondholders. All investors under this Issue are deemed to have
irrevocably given their authority and consent to the Bond Trustees appointed by the Issuer for this Issue to act as their trustee
and for doing such acts and signing such documents to carry out their duty in such capacity. Any payment by the Issuer to the
Series Bondholders in such capacity. Any payment by the Issuer to the Series Bondholders/Bond Trustee, as the case may be,
shall, from the time of making such payment, completely and irrevocably discharge the Issuer from any liability to the Series
Bondholders. For further details, please see section “Terms of the Issue” of this Draft Shelf Prospectus, the Shelf Prospectus
and the relevant Tranche Prospectus.

Statutory Auditors

As per Section 23 of the NHAI Act, the accounts of the Authority shall be maintained and audited in such manner as
may, in consultation with the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, be prescribed and the Authority shall furnish, to
the Central Government before such date as may be prescribed, its audited copy of accounts together with the auditors
report thereon.

Further, in terms of Section 23 of the NHAI Act, Comptroller and Auditor General of India is the permanent auditor of
NHALI. Therefore, there has been no change in the auditor of NHAI in last three years.

Independent Chartered Accountant of NHAI for the Issue

PSMG & Associates, Chartered Accountants
378, Ram Nagar, Kirana Mandi,
Ghaziabad-201001, Delhi

Tel: +91-9958709723

E-mail: caraghvendragoel@gmail.com
Contact Person: Bharti Prabhakar Negi

Firm Reg. No.: 008567C
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Registrar to the Issue

Karvy Computershare Private Limited

Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot No. 31-32 Gachibowli,
Financial District, Nanakramguda,

Hyderabad — 500 032

Tel.: +91 40 6716 2222

Fax: +91 40 2343 1551

E-mail: einward.ris@karvy.com

Investor Grievance Email: nhai.bond@karvy.com
Website: www.karisma.karvy.com;

Contact Person: Mr. Murli Krishna M.

SEBI Regn. No.: INR000000221

Public Issue Account Bank

[]

Refund Bank

[]

Lead Brokers

[]

Note: NHAI reserves the right to appoint additional Lead Brokers in different Tranches.

Credit Rating Agencies

INDIA RATINGS AND RESEARCH PRIVATE LIMITED
Wockhardt Towers,

4™ Floor, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra East,
Mumbai- 400051

New Delhi-110 001

Tel.: +91 22 4000 1700

Fax: +91 22 4000 1701

E-mail: shrikant.dev@indiaratings.co.in

Website: www.indiaratings.co.in

Contact Person: Shrikant Dev, Compliance Officer
SEBI Regn. No.: IN/CRA/002/1999

CARE RATINGS LIMITED

13™ Floor, E-1 Block, Videocon Tower,
Jhandewalan Extension, New Delhi - 110055
Tel.: +91 11 4533 3200

Fax: +91 11 4533 3238

E-mail: jasmeen.kaur@careratings.com
Website: www.careratings.com

Contact Person: Mr. Jasmeen Kaur

SEBI Regn. No.: IN/CRA/004/1999

ICRA Limited

Electric Mansion, 3" Floor, Appasaheb Marathe Marg,
Prabhadevi, Mumbai-400025

Tel.: +91 2261143406;

Fax: +91 2224331390

E-mail: aghosh@icraindia.com

Website: www.icra.in;

Contact Person: Mr. Anjan Ghosh

SEBI Regn. No.: IN/CRA/008/2015
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CRISIL Limited

Central Avenue, Hiranandani Business Park, Powai
Mumbai — 400076, India

Tel.: +91 22 3342 3000

Fax: +91 22 3342 3001

E-mail: sachin.gupta@crisil.com

Website: www.crisil.com

Contact Person: Sachin Gupta

SEBI Regn. No.: IN/CRA/001/1999

Credit Rating and Rationale

IRRPL vide its letter dated August 16, 2018 has assigned a credit rating of “IND AAA”; Outlook Stable, CARE vide its
letter dated August 10, 2018 has assigned a credit rating of “CARE AAA”; Stable and ICRA vide its letter dated August
10, 2018 has assigned a credit rating of “lCRA AAA”; Stable Outlook and CRISIL vide its letter dated August 17, 2018
has assigned a credit rating of “CRISIL AAA/Stable”. Instruments with this rating are considered to have the highest
degree of safety regarding timely servicing of financial obligations. Such instruments carry lowest credit risk. Instruments
with these ratings are considered to have the highest degree of safety regarding timely servicing of financial obligations.
Such instruments carry lowest credit risk.

The above ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and investors should take their own decision.
The ratings may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agencies and should be evaluated
independently of any other ratings. For details in relation to the rationale for the credit rating by IRRPL, CARE, ICRA and
CRISIL, please refer Appendix - I11.

Expert Opinion

Except the report dated September 25, 2018 on Financial Statements of NHAI and its SPVs and associate company,
Limited Review Report for year ending March 31, 2018 and Statement of Tax Benefits of NHAI dated September
25, 2018 issued by PSMG & Associates, Independent Chartered Accountants of NHAI for the Issue, NHAI has not
obtained any other expert opinion.

Minimum Subscription for the Issue

In terms of SEBI Circular bearing reference no. CIR/IMD/DF/12/2014 datedJune 17, 2014, for an issuer undertaking a
public issue of debt securities the minimum subscription for public issue of debt securities shall be 75% of the Base Issue
(as specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus). If NHAI does not receive the minimum subscription of 75% of the Base
Issue (as specified in the relevant Tranche Prospectus), the entire subscription amount shall be refunded to the Applicants
within 12 days from the date of closure of the Issue. In the event, there is a delay, by NHAI in making the aforesaid
refund within the prescribed time limit, NHAI will pay interest at the rate of 15% per annum for the delayed period.

Designated Intermediaries
Self-Certified Syndicate Banks

The list of banks that have been notified by SEBI to act as the SCSBs for the ASBA process is provided on the website
of SEBI at http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/Other Action.do?doRecognised=yes as updated from time to time. For
a list of branches of the SCSBs named by the respective SCSBs to receive the ASBA Forms from the Designated
Intermediaries, refer to the above-mentioned link.

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to Bids submitted under the ASBA process to Lead Brokers, the list of branches of the SCSBs at the Specified
Locations named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of the ASBA Forms from the Lead Brokers is available on
the website of SEBI http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes and updated from time to
time. For more information on such branches collecting Bid cum Application Forms from the Syndicate at Specified
Locations, see the website of SEBI at http: //www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/ OtherAction.do?do Recognised=yes.
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Registered Brokers / RTAs / CDPs

Bidders can submit ASBA Forms in the Offer using the stock broker network of the Stock Exchanges, i.e., through the
Registered Brokers at the Broker Centres.

The list of the Registered Brokers, RTAs and CDPs, eligible to accept Applications in the Issue, including details such
as postal address, telephone number and email address, are provided on the websites of the BSE at
http://www.bseindia.com and NSE at https://www.nseindia.com, as updated from time to time.

In relation to Applications submitted to the Registered Brokers at the Broker Centres, the list of branches of the SCSBs
at the Broker Centres named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of the ASBA Forms from the Registered Brokers
is available on the website of the SEBI at www.sebi.gov.in and updated from time to time.

For further details, please see the section titled “Issue Procedure” on page 151 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Issue programme

ISSUE PROGRAMME*

ISSUE OPENS ON ISSUE CLOSES ON

As specified in the relevant in the Tranche As specified in the relevant in the Tranche Prospectus(es)
Prospectus(es)

Applications shall be accepted only between 10.00 A.M. and 5.00 P.M. (Indian Standard Time), or such extended time
as may be permitted by the Stock Exchanges during the Issue Period on all days between Monday and Friday, both
inclusive barring public holidays, at the centres of Designated Intermediaries. On the Issue Closing Date, Applications
shall be accepted only between 10.00 A.M. and 3.00 P.M. (Indian Standard Time) and shall be uploaded until 5.00 P.M.
or such extended time as may be permitted by the Stock Exchanges. It is clarified that the Applications not uploaded in
the electronic application system of the Stock Exchanges would be rejected.

Due to limitation of time available for uploading the Application Forms on the Issue Closing Date, Applicants are advised
to submit their Application Forms one day prior to the Issue Closing Date and, in any case, no later than 3.00 P.M. on
the Issue Closing Date. All times mentioned in this Draft Shelf Prospectus, Shelf Prospectus and relevant Tranche
Prospectus are Indian Standard Times. Applicants are cautioned that in the event a large number of Application Forms
are received on the Issue Closing Date, some Application Forms may not be uploaded due to lack of sufficient time. Such
Application Forms that cannot be uploaded will not be considered for allocation under the Issue. Application Forms will
be accepted only on Working Days, i.e., Monday to Friday (excluding any public holiday). Neither the Issuer nor the
Lead Managers, Lead Brokers or Trading Members of the Stock Exchanges are liable for any failure in uploading the
Application Form due to failure in any software/hardware system or otherwise.

* The subscription list for the Issue shall remain open for subscription, from 10:00 AM. to 5:00 P.M (Indian Standard Time)
during the period indicated above, with an option for early closure or extension, as may be decided by the Board of Members or the Bond
Committee. In the event of such early closure or extension of the Issue, the Issuer shall ensure that public notice of such early closure or
extension is published on or before the day of such early date of closure or the initial Issue Closing Date, as the case may be, through
advertisement/s in at least one nationaldaily newspaper with wide circulation.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

NHAI is an autonomous body under MoRTH. It is established and governed by the NHAI Act. NHAI is not a company in
terms of the Companies Act and accordingly NHAI does not have a share capital.

Details of Capital of NHAI

NHAI has not issued any shares against Capital and Capital Grants invested by Gol (in pursuance of NHAI Act).

The Capital of NHAI as on September 30, 2018, is set forth below:

Partioul Amount
articulars .
ed (Rs. in lakh)

i) Capital u/s 12(i)(b) - Commencing Capital
i) Capital u/s 17
Capital Base 80,100.00
Cess Fund (up to March 31, 2018) 1,05,91,865.00
Add: Cess fund received during Financial Year 2018-19 (up to September 30, 11,06,900.00
2018)
Additional Budgetary Support (NHDP and others) 17,98,254
Capital — Net off toll collection, negative grant etc. upto March 31, 2010 6,18,355.88
Plough back of Toll Remittance, etc. w.e.f. April 01, 2010 45,95,203.00
Less: (1,65,996.51)
Expenditure on Toll Collection Activities (up to w.e.f. April 1, 2010)
(Excess)/Surplus of Expenditure on Maintenance of Highways over (4,05,513.76)
Maintenance Grant Received (w.e.f. April 1, 2010).
Plough back transferred to SPVs (17,407.23)
Transfer of Exceptional item from P & L Alc (40,310.88)
Sub-Total 1,80,81,349.51
Total 1,81,61,449.51

Capital History of NHAI upto September 30, 2018
1) Capital Base build-up

There have been no changes in the Capital base build-up of NHAI in the last five years.

2) Cess Fund Build-up since the last five financial years:
(Rs.in lakh)
Investor Cumulative Amount
1. July 5, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,71,436.00 63,71,372.00
2. September 17, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,71,436.00 65,42,808.00
3. October 28, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,71,436.00 67,14,244.00
4. February 04, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 1,71,437.00 68,85,681.00
5. September 17, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 4,78,290.00 73,63,971.00
6. November 05, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 2,10,299.00 75,74,270.00
7. May 20, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 4,60,500.00 80,34,770.00
8. July 23, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 4,60,500.00 84,95,270.00
9. September 28, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 4,60,500.00 89,55,770.00
10. December 30, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 16,05,00.00 91,16,270.00
11. June 9, 2016 MoRTH, Gol 2,00,000.00 93,16,270.00
12. July 5, 2016 MoRTH, Gol 2,00,000.00 95,16,270.00
13. August 5, 2016 MoRTH, Gol 2,07,650.00 97,23,920.00
14. January 18, 2017 MoRTH, Gol (375,000.00) 93,48,920.00
15. April 17, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 3,85,736.00 97,34,656.00
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3)

4)

5)

Investor Amount Cumulative Amount

16. July 17, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 3,85,736.00 1,01,20,392.00
17. September 26, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 3,71,473.00 1,04,91,865.00
18. December 20, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 1,00,000.00 1,05,91,865.00
19. April 12, 2018 MoRTH, Gol 4,02,300.00 1,09,94,165.00
20. June 15, 2018 MoRTH, Gol 4,02,300.00 1,13,96,465.00
21. September 19, 2018 MoRTH, Gol 3,02,300.00 1,16,98,765.00

* Date of Sanction and not the date of release of funds.

Additional Budgetary Support (NHDP and others) Build-up

(Rs. in lakh)

S. No. Date* Investor Amount Cumulative Amount

1. March 26, 2013 MoRTH 20,074.00 508,462.00
2. March 26, 2013 MoRTH 4,811.00 513,273.00
3. February 18, 2013 MoRTH 115,954.00 629,227.00
4. March 31, 2013 MoRTH 7,058.00 636,285.00
5. May 08, 2013 MoRTH 10,000.00 646,285.00
6. June 27, 2013 MoRTH 40,000.00 686,285.00
7. January 13, 2014 MoRTH 17,826.00 704,111.00
8. January 13, 2014 MoRTH 17,214.00 721,325.00
9. March 31,2015 MoRTH 60,000.00 781,325.00
10. March 29, 2016 MoRTH 37,027.00 818,352.00
11. April 29, 2016 MoRTH 1,000.00 819,352.00
12. Jun 02, 2016 MoRTH 10,000.00 829,352.00
13. September 23, 2016 MoRTH 375,000.00 1,204,352.00
14. January 12, 2017 MoRTH 4,000.00 1,208,352.00
15. March 09, 2017 MoRTH 100,000.00 1,308,352.00
16. March 23, 2017 MoRTH 50,902.00 1,359,254.00
17. March 31, 2017 MoRTH 24,000.00 1,383,254.00
18. April 03, 2017 MoRTH 13,000.00 1,396,254.00
19. December 26, 2017 MoRTH 150,000.00 1,546,254.00
20. February 16, 2017 MoRTH 150,000.00 1,696,254.00
21. March 07, 2018 MoRTH 90,000.00 1,786,254.00
22. March 19, 2018 MoRTH 12,000.00 1,798,254.00

*Date of Sanction and not the date of release of funds.
Capital — Net off toll collection, negative grant etc. upto March 31, 2010

The Gol has decided that from April 1, 2010 onwards, the toll revenue, shared revenue and negative grant collected
by NHAI should be deposited in the Consolidated Fund of India and additional budgetary provisions would be
provided for expenditure from the Consolidated Fund of India in line with the amount deposited by NHAI in
Consolidated Fund of India.

Accordingly, net current liability of pre April 1, 2010 period on account of toll and negative grant etc. stood at Rs.
618,355.88 lakh. This amount had already been utilised on project development and was no longer payable to Gol.
During Financial Year 2012-13, the same has been transferred to capital.

Additional Budgetary Support (Plough back of Toll Remittance, etc.) Build-up

(Rs. in lakh)
Investor Amount Cumulative Amount
1. June 26, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,19,250.00 7,28,539.00
2. September 24, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,19,250.00 8,47,789.00
3. October 28, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,19,250.00 9,67,039.00
4. December 27, 2013 MoRTH, Gol 1,19,250.00 10,86,289.00
5. July 26, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 1,36,200.00 12,22,489.00
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Investor Amount Cumulative Amount

6. September 17, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 1,36,200.00 13,58,689.00
7. October 27, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 1,36,200.00 14,94,889.00
8. December 31, 2014 MoRTH, Gol 1,36,200.00 16,31,089.00
9. May 25, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 1,62,500.00 17,93,589.00
10. July 30, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 1,62,500.00 19,56,089.00
11. September 30, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 1,62,500.00 21,18,589.00
12. December 14, 2015 MoRTH, Gol 1,62,500.00 22,81,089.00
13. May 17, 2016 MoRTH, Gol 1,25,000.00 24,06,089.00
14. July 28, 2016 MoRTH, Gol 1,25,000.00 25,31,089.00
15. September 23, 2016 MoRTH, Gol 1,25,000.00 26,56,089.00
16. January 18, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 3,75,000.00 30,31,089.00
17. April 20, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 2,11,553.00 32,42,642.00
18. July 17,2017 MoRTH, Gol 2,11,554.00 3,454,196.00
19. September 26, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 2,11,554.00 3,665,750.00
20. December 20, 2017 MoRTH, Gol 2,11,553.00 38,77,303.00
21. April 12,2018 MoRTH, Gol 2,39,300.00 41,16,603.00
22. June 15, 2018 MoRTH, Gol 2,39,300.00 43,55,903.00
23. September 19, 2018 MoRTH, Gol 2,39,300.00 45,95,203.00

* Date of Sanction and not the date of release of funds.

List of top ten holders of outstanding debt instruments, as on September 30, 2018

S. NO. NAME VALUE (in Rs.)
1 LIFE INSURANCE CORPORATION OF INDIA 2,10,00,00,00,000
2 CBT EPF 2,00,00,00,00,000
3 WIPRO LIMITED 15,76,41,88,000
4 STATE BANK OF INDIA 14,96,08,44,000
5 THE HONGKONG AND SHANGHAI BANKING CORP.

LTD. 14,58,26,94,000
6 NPS TRUST 13,95,60,00,000
7 HDFC TRUSTEE COMPANY LTD. MUTUAL FUNDS 11,60,00,00,000
8 IDFC BANK LIMITED 9,91,15,46,000
9 BANK OF INDIA 9,80,00,00,000
10 PUNJAB NATIONAL BANK 9,18,00,00,000

The investments by above entities through their sub-schemes with same PAN have been clubbed
Debt to Capital ratio:

The Debt to Capital ratio prior to this Issue is based on a total outstanding unconsolidated debt of Rs. 1,48,48,615.68
lakh and Capital amounting to Rs. 1,81,61,449.51 lakh as on September 30, 2018. The Debt to Capital ratio post
the Issue, (assuming subscription of taxable, secured, redeemable, non- convertible Bonds aggregating to
Rs.10,00,000 lakh) would be 0.87 times, and is based on a total outstanding debt of Rs. 1,58,48,615.68 lakhs and
Capital of Rs. 1,81,61,449.51 lakh as on September 30, 2018.

(Rs. in lakh)
Debt
Short term - -
1,48,48,615.68 1,58,48,615.68
Long term
Total Debt 1,48,48,615.68 1,58,48,615.68
Shareholder's Funds
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Capital

i) Capital u/s 12(i)(b)- Commencing Capital

ii) Capital u/s 17

Shareholder's Funds

a) Capital Base 80,100.00 80,100
b) Cess Fund (upto March 31, 2018) 1,05,91,865.00 1,05,91,865.00
Add: 11,06,900.00 11,06,900.00
Cess fund received during Fiscal Year 2018-19 (up to
September 30, 2018)
¢) Additional Budgetary Support (NHDP) 14,21,670.00 14,21,670.00
d) Additional Budgetary Support (Others) 3,76,584.00 3,76,584.00
e) Capital -Net off Toll Collection, Negative Grant etc. 6,18,355.88 6,18,355.88
upto March 31, 2010
f)  Plough back of Toll Remittance, etc. w.e.f. April 01, 45,95,203.00 45,95,203.00
2010
Less: 1) Expenditure on Toll Collection Activities (w.e.f. 1,65,996.51 1,65,996.51
April 01, 2010)
2) (Excess)/Surplus of Expenditure on Maintenance of 4,05,513.76 4,05,395.07
Highways over Maintenance Grant Received (wef.
April 01, 2010).
3) Plough back transferred to SPVs 17,407.23 17,407.23
4) Transfer of Exceptional item fromP & L Alc 40,310.88 40,310.88
Total 1,81,61,449.51 1,81,61,568.19
Reserves & Surplus 0.00 0.00
Total Shareholder's Funds 1,81,61,449.51 1,81,61,568.19
Long term Debt/Equity Ratio (No. of times) =Long term 0.82 0.87
Debt/Total Shareholder's Funds
Debt Capital Ratio (No. of times) = Total Debt/Total 0.82 0.87

Note:

1. Issue for the purpose of post issue calculation means-Taxable, secured, redeemable, non- convertible bonds of face value of
Rs.1,000 each in the nature of debentures (“bonds”’) not exceeding an aggregate amount of Rs. 10,000 crore (“Shelf Limit”) by

way of issuance of bonds in one or more tranches.

2. Post issue numbers have been calculated after increasing the debt by Rs. 10,000 crore but no corresponding change has been

made in capital.
3. NHAI does not have any share capital.

*

short term debt.

Assuming that entire amount Rs. 10,000 Crore will be fully subscribed and there is no change in our shareholders' funds, long and

For details on the total outstanding debt of NHAI, please refer to the section titled “Financial Indebtedness” beginning

on page 111 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Details of Share Capital history as on last quarter end.

NHAII is constituted under the NHAI Act and is therefore not a company. Thus, NHAI does not have any share capital.

Changes in the capital structure as on last quarter end.

NHAL is constituted under the NHAI Act and is therefore not a company. Thus, otherwise as provided herein above

there are no changesin the capital structure.

Details of any Acquisition or Amalgamation in the last one year.

NHALI has not entered into any acquisition or amalgamation in the last one year.
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Details of any Reorganisation or Reconstruction in the last one year.

NHALI has not done any reorganization or reconstruction in the last one year.

Details of Shareholding as on last quarter end.

NHALI is governed by the NHAI Act. Accordingly, NHAI does not have a shareholding pattern and only has members
Ia-_l’srOpsrpeesgtrlils).ed under the NHAI Act. For further details, refer to “Our Management” on page 100 of this Draft Shelf

Top 10 holders of equity shares.

NHAL is an entity constituted under the NHAI Act and therefore does not have any equity shares.
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OBJECTS OF THE ISSUE

NHAI Act mandates NHAI to utilize the funds credited to the National Fund of the Highways Authority of India Fund
(the “Fund”) for inter-alia, meeting expenses of the Authority in discharge of its functions having regard to the purposes
for which such grants, loans or borrowings are received.

Section 18 of NHAI Act provides the details of credits and debits to this Fund of the Authority as produced hereinbelow:

“18. (1) There shall be constituted a Fund to be called the National Fund of the Highways Authority
of India Fund and there shall be credited thereto:

€)] any grant or aid received by the Authority;
(b) any loan taken by the Authority or any borrowings made by it;
(© any other sums received by the Authority.

(2) The Fund shall be utilized for meeting:

@ expenses of the Authority in the discharge of its functions having regard to the
purposes for which such grants, loans or borrowings are received and for matters
connected therewith or incidental thereto;

(b) salary, allowances, other remuneration and facilities provided to the members,
officers and other employees of the Authority;
(© expenses on objects and for purposes authorized this Act.”

Further, the objects of NHAI as specified in NHAI Act permits it to undertake its existing activities as well as the activities
for which the funds are being raised through the Issue.

Utilisation of Proceeds of the Issue

The proceeds of the Issue will be utilised towards part financing of different projects of the Issuer including Bharatmala
Pariyojana of Government of India, as well as other operational, administrative and financial purposes etc. The words
“Bharatmala Bonds” have been selected as nomenclature for the Bonds proposed to be issued. Prime focus of
Bharatmala Pariyojana is to optimise the efficiency of the movement of goods and people across the country.

Under the Bharatmala Pariyojana, Government plans to build 50 new national corridors and connect 550 district centres
with National Highways, focusing on optimizing efficiency of freight and passenger movement across the country by
bridging critical infrastructure gaps through effective interventions. Approximately 28,000 kms of roads are targeted to
be developed in first phase.

Main Components under Phase -1 are:

44 Economic corridors Total 26,200 km Rs. 1,20,000,00 lakh
(9000 km in first phase)
2 Inter-corridor Length - 8,400 km Rs. 80,00000 lakh
- 66 Inter corridor Routes Feeder Roads
- 116 Feeder Routes Length - 7,600
km
Phase 1: 6,000 km
3 National Corridors Phase 1: 5,000 km Rs. 1,00,00,000 lakh
Efficiency improvements
4 Border & International 2,000 kms Rs. 25,00,000 lakh
connectivity roads
5 Coastal & port connectivity roads 2,000 kms Rs. 20,00,000 lakh
6 Expressways 800 km Rs. 40,00,000 lakh
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Around 24,800 kms will be taken up in Phase-1 of Bharatmala, in addition to 10,000 kms of balance road works under
NHDP, taking the total to 34,800 km.

This is to be implemented over a period of five years from 2017-18 to 2021-22 with approved outlay of Rs. 5,35,00,000
lakh. Bharatmala Pariyojana is a new umbrella programme that focuses on optimizing efficiency of freight and passenger
movement across the country by bridging critical infrastructure gaps through effective interventions.

The details of the proceeds of the Issue are summarized below:

Estimated amount (in___lakh)
Gross proceeds to be raised through each Tranche Issue As mentioned in the relevant Tranche Prospectus
Less: - Tranche Issue related expenses As mentioned in the relevant Tranche Prospectus

Net proceeds of the Tranche Issue after deducting the Tranche Issue | As mentioned in the relevant Tranche Prospectus
related expenses

Funding Plan

To augment budgetary resources of the Government and othermethods of financing are being implemented by the
Ministry/its implementing agencies.

Out of the total outlay of Rs. 5,35,00,000.00 lakh for Bharatmala Phase-I, about Rs. 90,00,000.00 lakh are proposed to
be arranged through private investment. NHAI is borrowing from the market within the approved Internal Extra
Budgetary Resources (IEBR).

In the Financial Year 2018-19 (till September 30, 2018), NHAI has raised a total of 28,11,120.00 lakh from various
sources including Taxable Bonds from LIC and from market, 54EC Bonds and also loan from NSSF and SBI.

Summary of the project appraisal report
Not Available
Schedule for Implementation and Utilisation of Proceeds

In accordance with the SEBI Debt Regulations, NHAI will not utilize the proceeds of the Issue for providing loans to or
acquisition of shares of any person who is part of the same group or who is under the same management as NHAI. Further,
NHAII is a statutory authority and, as such, we do not have any identifiable ‘group’ companies or ‘companies under the same
management’ though we do have shareholding interest in certain Special Purpose Vehicles which are engaged in area specific
development of port roads.

Interim Use of Proceeds

The Members of the Authority, in accordance with the policies formulated by it from time to time, will have flexibility
in deploying the proceeds received from the Issue. Pending utilization of the proceeds out of the Issue for the purposes
described above, the Authority intends to temporarily invest funds in high quality interest bearing liquid instruments,
deposits with banks or temporarily deploy the funds in investment grade interest bearing securities. Such investment
would be in accordance with the investment policies approved by the Board thereof from time to time.

Monitoring of Utilization of Funds

In terms of the SEBI Debt Regulations, there is no requirement for appointment of a monitoring agency in relation to the
use of proceeds of the Issue. Board or the Bond Committee of the Authority shall monitor the utilisation of the proceeds
of the Issue. NHAI will provide details of utilization of the funds raised through the Bonds within the specified time, as
applicable. We shall utilize the proceeds of the Issue only upon the execution of trust deed as stated in this Draft Shelf
Prospectus in the chapter “Terms of the Issue” on page 136 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus and upon the listing of the
Bonds.

Proposed Issue Expenses

A portion of the Issue proceeds will be used towards Issue expenses. The following are the Issue expenses*:
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(Rs. in lakh, except for percentage)

Particulars Amount Percentage of net proceeds (Issue Percentage of total expenses
proceeds less Issue expenses) of of the Issue (in %)

the Issue (in %)

Fees payable to Intermediaries

Registrar to the Issue [] [] []
Legal Advisor [] [] []
Bond Trustee [] [] []
Lead Managers’ Fee [] [] []
Advertising and Marketing [] [] []
Printing and Stationery cost [l [ []
SCSB processing fee [] [] []
Selling  Commission  and [] [] []
Brokerage

Other Miscellaneous Expenses [] [] []
Total [] [] []

*To be updated at Tranche Prospectus stage.

NHAI shall pay processing fees to the SCSBs for ASBA forms procured from the Designated Intermediaries for blocking
the application amount of the Applicant, at the rate of Rs.[®]# per Application Form procured. However, it is clarified
that in case of ASBA Application Forms procured directlyby the SCSBs, the relevant SCSBs shall not be entitled to any
ASBA processing fee.

#To be updated at Tranche Prospectus stage.

We shall utilise the Issue proceeds only on execution of trust deed and listing of Bonds as stated in this Draft Shelf
Prospectus and on the listing of the Bonds.

Benefit / interest accruing to Members out of the object of the Issue

Members of NHAI are not interested in the Objects of the Issue.
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STATEMENT OF TAX BENEFITS

September 25, 2018

To,

National Highways Authority of India
G 5&86, Sector 10, Dwarka,

New Delhi-110 075, India

(the “Company”)

Dear Sirs,

Sub: Statement of tax benefits in relation to proposed public issue (“Issue”) of secured, redeemable,
nonconvertible debentures (“NCDs”) by National Highways Authority of India

1.

We, PSMG & Associates, Chartered Accountants, have performed the procedures agreed with you, vide the
engagement letter dated September 6, 2018, and enumerated in paragraph 2 below with respect to the possible
tax benefits available to the Debenture Holder(s), under the Income Tax Act, 1961, as amended (the “IT Act”),
presently in force in India, in the enclosed Annexure I. Our engagement was performed in accordance with the
Standard on Related Services (SRS) 4400, “Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures regarding
Financial Information”, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

We have performed the following procedures:

i) Read the statement of tax benefits as given in Annexure I, and
i) Evaluated with reference to the provisions of the IT Act to confirm that the same is in accordance with
our interpretation of the existing tax laws and provisions.

Because the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in accordance with the generally
accepted auditing standards in India, we do not express any assurance on the subject.

Had we performed additional procedures, or had we performed an audit or review of the financial information
in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards of India, other matters might have come to our
attention that would have been reported to you.

We confirm that the Statement of Tax Benefits as set out in Annexure | materially covers all the provisions of
the IT Act as amended, with respect to Debenture Holder(s).

The amendments made by the Finance Act, 2018 have been incorporated to the extent relevant in the enclosed
Annexure I.

Several of these benefits are dependent on the Debenture Holder(s) fulfilling the conditions prescribed under
the relevant tax laws. Hence, the ability of the Debenture Holder(s) to derive the tax benefits is dependent upon
fulfilling such conditions, which are based on business imperatives the Debenture Holder(s) would face in the
future. The Debenture Holder(s) may or may not choose to fulfill such conditions.

The benefits discussed in the enclosed annexure are not exhaustive. This statement is only intended to provide
general information to the investors and is neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for professional tax
advice. In view of the individual nature of the tax consequences and the changing tax laws, each investor is
advised to consult their own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax implications arising out of their
participation in the issue.

Our views are based on the existing provisions of the Act and its interpretations, which are subject to change or
modification by subsequent legislative, regulatory, administrative or judicial decisions. Any such change, which
could also be retroactive, could have an effect on the validity of our views stated herein. We assume no
obligation to update this statement on any events subsequent to its issue, which may have a material effect on
the discussions herein.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

We do not express any opinion or provide any assurance as to whether:

. The Company or its debenture holders will continue to obtain these benefits in future; or
. The conditions prescribed for availing the benefits, where applicable have been or would be met with;
. The revenue authorities/courts will concur with views expressed herein.

The preparation of the contents stated is the responsibility of Company’s management. We accept no
responsibility to debenture holders or any third party and this should be stated in the Draft Shelf Prospectus,
Shelf Prospectus and/or Prospectus and/or Tranche Prospectus(es). The contents of the enclosed annexure are
based on information, explanations and representations obtained from the Company and on the basis of our
understanding of the business activities and operations of the Company.

No assurance is given that the revenue authorities/ Courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our
views are based on existing provisions of law and its interpretation which could vary from others, and which are
subject to change from time to time. We do not assume any responsibility to update the views consequent to
such changes.

This statement has been issued at the request of the Company in connection with the proposed issue of secured,
redeemable NCDs for inclusion in the offer documents to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Board of
India, the National Stock Exchange of India Limited and the BSE Limited or any other regulatory authorities,
as required.

For PSMG & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm No. 008567C

Bharti Prabhakar Negi

Partner

Membership No- 098358

Date: 25 September 2018
Place: Ghaziabad
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Annexure |

Under the existing provisions of law, the following tax benefits, inter-alia, will be available to the Debenture Holder(s).
The tax benefits are given as per the prevailing tax laws and may vary from time to time in accordance with amendments
to the law or enactments thereto. The information given below lists out the possible benefits available to the Debenture
Holder(s) of an Indian company in which public are substantially interested as defined in Section 2(18)(b)(B) of the
Income Tax Act, 1961, in a summary manner only and is not a complete analysis or listing of all potential tax
consequences of the subscription, ownership and disposal of the debenture. The Debenture Holder is advised to consider
in its own case, the tax implications in respect of subscription to the Debentures after consulting his tax advisor as alternate
views are possible. We are not liable to the Debenture Holder(s) in any manner for placing reliance upon the contents of
this statement of tax benefits. This statement has been prepared solely in connection with the Issue under the Regulations
as amended.

STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE DIRECT TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THE DEBENTURE HOLDERS
A Under the Income-Tax Act, 1961 (“L.T. Act”)
l. Tax benefits available to the Resident Debenture Holders

1. Interest on debentures received by resident debenture holders would be subject to tax at the normal rates
of tax in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the I.T. Act.

2. As per section 2(29A) read with section 2(42A) of the I.T. Act, a listed debenture is treated as a long
term capital asset if the same is held for more than 12 months immediately preceding the date of its
transfer. As per section 112 of the I.T. Act, capital gains arising on the transfer of long-term capital
assets being listed securities are subject to tax at the rate of 20% of capital gains calculated after reducing
indexed cost of acquisition or 10% of capital gains without indexation of the cost of acquisition. The
capital gains will be computed by deducting expenditure incurred in connection with such transfer and
cost of acquisition/indexed cost of acquisition of the debentures from the sale consideration. However,
as per the third proviso to section 48 of I.T. Act, benefit of indexation of cost of acquisition under
second proviso of section 48 of I.T. Act, is not available in case of bonds and debenture, except capital
indexed bonds. Accordingly, long term capital gains arising to the Debenture Holder(s), would be
subject to tax at the rate of 10%, computed without indexation, as the benefit of indexation of cost of
acquisition is not available in case of debentures. In case of an individual or HUF, being a resident,
where the total income as reduced by such long-term capital gains is below the maximum amount which
is not chargeable to income-tax, then, such long term capital gains shall be reduced by the amount by
which the total income as so reduced falls short of the maximum amount which is not chargeable to
income-tax and the tax on the balance of such long-term capital gains shall be computed at the rate
mentioned above.

3. As per section 2(42A) of the I.T. Act, a listed debenture is treated as a short term capital asset if the
same is held for not more than 12 months immediately preceding the date of its transfer. Short-term
capital gains on the transfer of listed debentures, where debentures are held for a period of not more
than 12 months would be taxed at the normal rates of tax in accordance with and subject to the
provisions of the I.T. Act. The provisions relating to maximum amount not chargeable to tax described
at para 2 above would also apply to such short term capital gains.

4, In case debentures are held as stock in trade, the income on transfer of debentures would be taxed as
business income or loss in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the I.T. Act.

5. Securities Transaction Tax (“STT”) is a tax levied on all transactions in specified securities done on the
stock exchanges at rates prescribed by the Central Government from time to time. STT is not applicable
on transactions in the debentures.

6. Income tax is deductible at source on interest on debentures, payable to resident debenture holders at
the time of credit/ payment as per the provisions of section 193 of the I.T. Act. However, no income tax
is deductible at source in respect of the following:

a) Any security issued by a Company in a dematerialised form and is listed on recognised stock
exchange in India in accordance with the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 and the
rules made thereunder.
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b) In case the payment of interest on debentures to a resident individual or a Hindu Undivided
Family (‘HUF’), Debenture Holder does not or is not likely to exceed X 5,000 in the aggregate
during the Financial Year and the interest is paid by an account payee cheque.

c) When the Assessing Officer issues a certificate on an application by a Debenture Holder on
satisfaction that the total income of the Debenture Holder justifies no/lower deduction of tax
at source as per the provisions of Section 197(1) of the I.T. Act; and that certificate is filed
with the Company before the prescribed date of closure of books for payment of debenture
interest.

d) (i) When the resident Debenture Holder with Permanent Account Number (‘PAN’) (not
being a company or a firm) submits a declaration as per the provisions of section
197A(1A) of the L.T. Act in the prescribed Form 15G verified in the prescribed
manner to the effect that the tax on his estimated total income of the financial year in
which such income is to be included in computing his total income will be NIL.
However, under section 197A(1B) of the I.T. Act, “Form 15G cannot be submitted
nor considered for exemption from tax deduction at source if the dividend income
referred to in section 194, interest on securities, interest, withdrawal from NSS and
income from units of mutual fund or of Unit Trust of India as the case may be or the
aggregate of the amounts of such incomes credited or paid or likely to be credited or
paid during the previous year in which such income is to be included exceeds the
maximum amount which is not chargeable to income tax”. Further, section 87A
provides a rebate of 100 percent of income-tax or an amount of Rs. 2,500 whichever
is less to a resident individual whose total income does not exceed Rs. 3,50,000.

(i) Senior citizens, who are 60 or more years of age at any time during the financial year,
enjoy the special privilege to submit a self-declaration in the prescribed Form 15H
for non-deduction of tax at source in accordance with the provisions of section
197A(1C) of the L.T. Act even if the aggregate income credited or paid or likely to
be credited or paid exceeds the maximum amount not chargeable to tax, provided
that the tax due on total income of the person is NIL.

(iii) In all other situations, tax would be deducted at source as per prevailing provisions
of the I.T. Act. Form No.15G with PAN / Form No.15H with PAN / Certificate issued
u/s 197(1) has to be filed with the Company before the prescribed date of closure of
books for payment of debenture interest without any tax withholding.

In case where tax has to be deducted at source while paying debenture interest, the Company is not
required to deduct surcharge, education cess and secondary and higher education cess.

Interest on application money and interest on refund application would be subject to tax at the normal
rates of tax in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the I.T. Act and such tax would need to
be withheld at the time of credit/payment as per the provisions of Section 194A of the I.T. Act

As per Section 74 of the I.T. Act, short-term capital loss on debentures suffered during the year is
allowed to be set-off against short-term as well as long-term capital gains of the said year. Balance loss,
if any could be carried forward for eight years for claiming set-off against subsequent years’ short-term
as well as long term capital gains. Long-term capital loss on debentures suffered during the year is
allowed to be set-off only against long-term capital gains. Balance loss, if any, could be carried forward
for eight years for claiming setoff against subsequent year’s long-term capital gains.

1. Tax benefits available to the Non-Resident Debenture Holders

1.

A non-resident Indian has an option to be governed by Chapter XII-A of the I.T. Act, subject to the
provisions contained therein which are given in brief as under:

a) As per section 115C(e) of the Act, the term “non-resident Indian” means an individual, being
a citizen of India or a person of Indian origin who is not a “resident”. A person shall be deemed
to be of Indian origin if he, or either of his parents or any of his grand-parents, was born in
undivided India.
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b) As per section 115E of the I.T. Act, interest income from debentures acquired or purchased
with or subscribed to in convertible foreign exchange will be taxable at 20%, whereas, long
term capital gains on transfer of such debentures will be taxable at 10% of such capital gains
without indexation of cost of acquisition. Short-term capital gains will be taxable at the normal
rates of tax in accordance with and subject to the provisions contained therein.

c) As per section 115F of the I.T. Act, long term capital gains arising to a non-resident Indian
from transfer of debentures acquired or purchased with or subscribed to in convertible foreign
exchange will be exempt from capital gain tax if the net consideration is invested within six
months after the date of transfer of the debentures in any specified asset or in any saving
certificates referred to in section 10(4B) of the I.T. Act in accordance with and subject to the
provisions contained therein. However, if the new assets are transferred or converted into
money within a period of three years from their date of acquisition, the amount of capital gains
exempted earlier would become chargeable to tax as long-term capital gains in the year in
which the new assets are transferred or converted into money.

d) As per section 115G of the I.T. Act, it shall not be necessary for a non-resident Indian to file
a return of income under section 139(1) of the I.T. Act, if his total income consists only of
investment income as defined under section 115C and/or long term capital gains earned on
transfer of such investment acquired out of convertible foreign exchange, and the tax has been
deducted at source from such income under the provisions of Chapter XVII-B of the I.T. Act
in accordance with and subject to the provisions contained therein.

e) As per section 115H of the I.T. Act, where a non-resident Indian becomes assessable as
resident in India in any subsequent year, he may furnish to the Assessing Officer a declaration
in writing along with return of income under section 139 for the assessment year for which he
is assessable as a resident, to the effect that the provisions of Chapter XII-A shall continue to
apply to him in relation to the investment income (other than on shares in an Indian Company)
derived from any foreign exchange assets in accordance with and subject to the provisions
contained therein. On doing so, the provisions of Chapter XI1-A shall continue to apply to him
in relation to such income for that assessment year and for every subsequent assessment year
until the transfer or conversion (otherwise than by transfer) into money of such assets.

In accordance with and subject to the provisions of section 115-1 of the I.T. Act, a hon-resident Indian
may opt not to be governed by the provisions of Chapter XI1-A of the .T. Act. In that case,

a) Long term capital gains on transfer of listed debentures would be subject to tax at the rate of
10% computed without indexation.

b) Investment income and Short-term capital gains on the transfer of listed debentures, where
debentures are held for a period of not more than 12 months preceding the date of transfer,
would be taxed at the normal rates of tax in accordance with and subject to the provisions of

the I.T. Act

c) Where debentures are held as stock in trade, the income on transfer of debentures would be
taxed as business income or loss in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the I.T.
Act.

Under Section 195 of the I.T. Act, the applicable rate of tax deduction at source is 20% on investment
income and 10% on any long-term capital gains as per section 115E of the I.T. Act, and at the normal
rates for Short Term Capital Gains if the payee debenture holder is a non-resident Indian.

As per Section 74 of the 1.T. Act, short-term capital loss suffered during the year is allowed to be set-
off against short-term as well as long-term capital gains of the said year. Balance loss, if any could be
carried forward for eight years for claiming set-off against subsequent years’ short-term as well as long-
term capital gains. Long-term capital loss suffered (other than the long-term capital assets whose gains
are exempt under Section 10(38) of the I.T. Act) during the year is allowed to be set-off only against
long-term capital gains. Balance loss, if any, could be carried forward for eight years for claiming set-
off against subsequent year’s long-term capital gains.
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Interest on application money and interest on refund application would be subject to tax at the normal
rates of tax in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the I.T. Act and such tax would need to
be withheld at the time of credit/payment as per the provisions of Section 195 of the I.T. Act6. The
income tax deducted shall be increased by surcharge as under:

a) In the case of non-resident Indian, surcharge at the rate of 10% of such tax liability (if net
income exceeds Rs. 50,00,000 and does not exceed Rs. 1,00,00,000) and 15% of such tax
liability (if net income exceeds Rs. 1,00,00,000) subject to deduction.

b) In the case of foreign companies, surcharge at the rate of 2% of such tax liability where the
income or the aggregate of such income paid or likely to be paid and subject to deduction
exceeds Rs. 1,00,00,000 but does not exceed Rs. 10,00,00,000, surcharge at the rate of 5% of
such income tax where the income or the aggregate of such income paid or likely to be paid
and subject to the deduction exceeds Rs. 10,00,00,000.

c) In case of domestic companies, where the income paid or likely to be paid exceeds Rs.
1,00,00,000 but does not exceed Rs. 10,00,00,000 a surcharge of 7% of such tax liability is
payable and when such income paid or likely to be paid exceeds Rs. 10,00,00,000, surcharge
at 12% of such tax is payable.

d) Cess is to be applied at 4% on aggregate of base tax and surcharge.

As per section 90(2) of the I.T. Act read with the Circular no. 728 dated October 30, 1995 issued by the
Central Board of Direct Taxes, in the case of a remittance to a country with which a Double Tax
Avoidance Agreement (DTAA) is in force, the tax should be deducted at the rate provided in the Finance
Act of the relevant year or at the rate provided in the DTAA, whichever is more beneficial to the
assessee. However, submission of tax residency certificate (“TRC”), is a mandatory condition for
availing benefits under any DTAA. If the TRC does not contain the information prescribed by the CBDT
vide its Notification No. 57/2013 dated 1 August 2013, a self-declaration in Form 10F would need to
be provided by the assessee along with TRC.

Alternatively, to ensure non-deduction or lower deduction of tax at source, as the case may be, the
Debenture Holder should furnish a certificate under section 195(2) & 195(3) of the I.T. Act, from the
Assessing Officer before the prescribed date of closure of books for payment of debenture interest.
However, an application for the issuance of such certificate would not be entertained in the absence of
PAN as per the provisions of section 206AA.

Tax benefits available to the Foreign Portfolio Investors (“FPIs”)

1.

As per Section 2(14) of the I.T. Act, any securities held by FPIs which has invested in such securities
in accordance with the regulations made under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992,
shall be treated as capital assets. Accordingly, any gains arising from transfer of such securities shall be
chargeable to tax in the hands of FPIs as capital gains.

In accordance with and subject to the provisions of section 115AD of the I.T. Act, long term capital
gains on transfer of debentures by FPIs are taxable at 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess) and
short-term capital gains are taxable at 30% (plus applicable surcharge and cess). The benefit of cost
indexation will not be available. Further, benefit of provisions of the first proviso of section 48 of the
I.T. Act will not apply.

Income other than capital gains arising out of debentures is taxable at 20% (plus applicable surcharge
and cess) in accordance with and subject to the provisions of Section 115AD of the I.T. Act.

Section 194LD in the I.T. Act provides for lower rate of withholding tax at the rate of 5% (plus
applicable surcharge and cess) on payment by way of interest paid by an Indian company to FPIs and
Qualified Foreign Investor in respect of rupee denominated bond of an Indian company between June
1, 2013 and July 1, 2020 provided such rate does not exceed the rate as may be notified by the
Government.

In accordance with and subject to the provisions of section 196 D (2) of the I.T. Act, no deduction of
tax at source is applicable in respect of capital gains arising on the transfer of debentures by FPIs.
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VI.

6. The CBDT has issued a Notification No. 9 dated 22 January 2014 which provides that Foreign Portfolio
Investors (FPI) registered under SEBI (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2014 shall be treated
as FII for the purpose of Section 115AD of the I.T. Act.

Tax benefits available to Mutual Funds

As per section 10(23D) of the Act, any income of Mutual Funds registered under the Securities and Exchange
Board of India Act, 1992 or Regulations made thereunder, Mutual Funds set up by public sector banks or public
financial institutions and Mutual Funds authorised by the Reserve Bank of India will be exempt from income
tax, subject to such conditions as the Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, specify in
this behalf. Further, as per the provisions of Section 196 of the I.T. Act, no deduction of tax shall be made by
any person from any sums payable to mutual funds specified under Section 10 (23D) of the I.T. Act, where such
sum is payable to it by way of interest or dividend in respect of any securities or shares owned by it or in which
it has full beneficial interest, or any other income accruing or arising to it.

Exemption under Sections 54EC and 54F of the I.T. Act

1. Under section 54EC of the I.T. Act, long term capital gains arising to the Debenture Holder(s) on
transfer of their debentures in the company shall not be chargeable to tax to the extent such capital gains
are invested in certain notified bonds within six months after the date of transfer. If only part of the
capital gain is so invested, the exemption shall be proportionately reduced. However, if the said notified
bonds are transferred or converted into money within a period of three years from their date of
acquisition, the amount of capital gains exempted earlier would become chargeable to tax as long-term
capital gains in the year in which the bonds are transferred or converted into money. However, the
amount of exemption with respect to the investment made in the aforesaid notified bonds during the
financial year in which the debentures are transferred and the subsequent financial year, should not
exceed Rs. 50 lakh. Where the benefit of section 54EC of the I.T. Act has been availed on investments
in the notified bonds, a deduction from the income with reference to such cost shall not be allowed
under section 80C of the I.T. Act. However, Union Budget 2018 has discontinued for the above benefit
on all asset except Land and Building.

2. As per the provisions of section 54F of the I.T. Act, any long-term capital gains on transfer of a long
term capital asset (not being residential house) arising to a debenture holder who is an individual or
Hindu Undivided Family, is exempt from tax if the entire net sales consideration is utilized, within a
period of one year before, or two years after the date of transfer, in purchase of a new residential house,
or for construction of residential house within three years from the date of transfer. If part of such net
sales consideration is invested within the prescribed period in a residential house, then such gains would
be chargeable to tax on a proportionate basis. This exemption is available, subject to the condition that
the debenture holder does not own more than one residential house at the time of such transfer. If the
residential house in which the investment has been made is transferred within a period of three years
from the date of its purchase or construction, the amount of capital gains tax exempted earlier would
become chargeable to tax as long-term capital gains in the year in which such residential house is
transferred. Similarly, if the debenture holder purchases within a period of two years or constructs
within a period of three years after the date of transfer of capital asset, another residential house (other
than the new residential house referred above), then the original exemption will be taxed as capital gains
in the year in which the additional residential house is acquired.

Requirement to furnish PAN under the I.T. Act

Section 139A(5A) of the I.T. Act requires every person receiving any sum or income or amount from which tax
has been deducted under Chapter XVI1I-B of the I.T. Act to furnish his PAN to the person responsible for
deducting such tax.

Section 206AA of the I.T. Act requires every person entitled to receive any sum or income or amount, on which
tax is deductible under Chapter XVIIB (“deductee”) to furnish his PAN to the deductor, failing which tax shall
be deducted at the higher of the following rates:

Q) at the rate specified in the relevant provision of the I.T. Act; or
(i) at the rate or rates in force; or
(iii) at the rate of twenty per cent.
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VII.

VIII.

As per Rule 37BC, the higher rate under section 206 AA shall not apply to a non-resident, not being a company,
or to a foreign company, in respect of payment of interest, if the non-resident deductee furnishes the prescribed
details inter alia TRC and Tax Identification Number (TIN).

A declaration under Section 197A (1) or 197A(1A) or 197A(1C) shall not be valid unless the person furnishes
his PAN in such declaration and the deductor is required to deduct tax as per Para (1) above in such a case.

Where a wrong PAN is provided, it will be regarded as non-furnishing of PAN and Para (1) above will apply
apart from penal consequences.

Taxability of Gifts received for nil or inadequate consideration

As per section 56(2)(x) of the I.T. Act, where any person receives debentures from any person on or after 1%
April, 2017:

a) without consideration, aggregate fair market value of which exceeds fifty thousand rupees, then the
whole of the aggregate fair market value of such debentures or;

b) for a consideration which is less than the aggregate fair market value of the debenture by an amount
exceeding fifty thousand rupees, then the aggregate fair market value of such debentures as exceeds
such consideration; shall be taxable as the income of the recipient at the normal rates of tax. The above
is subject to few exceptions as stated in section 56(2)(x) of the I.T. Act.

General Anti-Avoidance Rule (‘GAAR)

In terms of Chapter XA of the I.T. Act, General Anti-Avoidance Rule may be invoked notwithstanding anything
contained in the I.T. Act. By this Rule, any arrangement entered into by an assessee may be declared to be
impermissible avoidance arrangement as defined in that Chapter and the consequence would be interalia denial
of tax benefit, applicable w.e.f 1-04-2017. The GAAR provisions can be said to be not applicable in certain
circumstances viz. the main purpose of arrangement is not to obtain a tax benefit etc. including circumstances
enumerated in CBDT Notification No. 75/2013 dated 23 September, 2013.

NOTES:

1.

The statement of tax benefits enumerated above is as per the Income-tax Act, 1961, as amended by the Finance
Act, 2018.

The stated benefits will be available only to the sole/ first named holder in case the debenture is held by joint
holders.

In respect of non-residents, the tax rates and consequent taxation mentioned above will be further subject to any
benefits available under the relevant tax treaty, if any, between India and the country in which the non resident
has fiscal domicile.

In respect of non-residents, taxes paid in India could be claimed as a credit in accordance with the provisions of
the relevant tax treaty.

Surcharge is levied on individuals, HUF, association of persons, body of individuals and artificial juridical person
at the rate of 10% on tax where total income exceeds Rs. 50 lakh but does not exceed Rs. 1 crore and at the rate
of 15% on tax where the total income exceeds Rs. 1 crore.

Surcharge is levied on firm, co-operative society and local authority at the rate of 12% on tax where the total
income exceeds Rs. 1 crore.

Surcharge is levied on domestic companies at the rate of 7% on tax where the income exceeds Rs 1 crore but
does not exceed Rs. 10 crore and at the rate of 12% on tax where the income exceeds Rs. 10 crore.

Health and Education Cess is to be applied at 4% on aggregate of base tax and surcharge.
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10.

11.

12.

Several of the above tax benefits are dependent on the debenture holders fulfilling the conditions prescribed
under the relevant tax laws and subject to General Anti Avoidance Rules covered under Chapter X-A of the Act.

The above statement sets out the provisions of law in a summary manner only and is not complete analysis or
listing of all potential tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposal of debentures/bonds.

The above statement covers only certain relevant benefits under the Income-tax Act, 1961 and does not cover
benefits under any other law.

No assurance is given that the revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our views
are based on the existing provisions of law and its interpretation, which are subject to changes from time to time.
We do not assume responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes. We shall not be liable to any
claims, liabilities or expenses relating to this assignment except to the extent of fees relating to this assignment,
as finally judicially determined to have resulted primarily from bad faith or intentional misconduct. We will not
be liable to any other person in respect of this statement.

For PSMG & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm No. 008567C

Bharti Prabhakar Negi

Partner

Membership No- 098358
Date: 25 September 2018
Place: Ghaziabad
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SECTION IV - ABOUT THE ISSUER
INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Unless otherwise indicated, the information in this section has been obtained or derived from publicly available
documents prepared by various sources, including officially prepared materials by the Gol, its various ministries and
from various multilateral institutions. This information has not been independently verified by us, the Lead Managers or
any of our or their respective affiliates or advisors. The information may not be consistent with other information
compiled by third parties within or outside India. Industry sources and publications generally state that the information
contained therein has been obtained from sources it believes to be reliable, but their accuracy, completeness and
underlying assumptions are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Industry and Government
publications are also prepared based on information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect current
trends. Industry and Government sources and publications may also base their information on estimates, forecasts and
assumptions which may prove to be incorrect. Accordingly, investment decisions should not be based on such
information.

THE INDIAN ECONOMY

The Indian economy is the third largest economy of the world in terms of Purchasing Power Parity (PPP). The economy
appears to be recovering due to a stable macro-economic outlook, gathering pace of reforms and a friendly external
environment that has resulted in the country becoming a cynosure of eager investors.

According to the latest estimates of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) released by Central Statistical Organisation (CSO),
the Indian economy is getting back to a higher growth path. Real GDP or Gross Domestic Product (GDP) at constant
(2011-12) prices in the year 2016-17 is likely to attain a level of Rs. 121.65 lakh crore, with growth rate of 7.1 percent
over the GDP for the year 2015-16 of Rs. 113.58 lakh crore.

Nominal GDP or GDP at current prices in the year 2016-17 is projected at Rs. 152.51 lakh crore, with growth rate of 11.5
percent against Rs. 136.75 lakh crore for 2015-16.

(Source: NHAI Annual Report-2016-17)

The Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI) has revised the base years for national accounts from 2004-
05 to 2011-12 and of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and the Index of Industrial Production (I11P) to 2011-12 and for the
Consumer Price Index (CPI) to 2012. The base year of national accounts was last revised in January 2010. Also, changes were
made in GDP reporting, GDP at factor cost will be henceforth presented as Gross Value Added (GVA) at base prices for
industry-wise estimates, while ‘GDP at market prices’ will be henceforth referred to as GDP.

(Source: Press Note: Ministry of Statistics &Programme Implementation dated January 30, 2015 and June 11, 2018)

Provisional Estimates of GVA at Basic Price by Economic Activity
(At 2011-12 prices)

(Rs. in Crore)

Percentage Change
Industry 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 (PE) OVer previous year

Agriculture, forestry & fishing 16,15,216 17,16,746 17,74,573 6.3 3.4
Mining & Quarrying 3,28,453 371066 3,81,965 13.0 2.9
Manufacturing 18,98,790 20,48,711 21,66,267 7.9 5.7
Electricity, gas, water supply & other utility services 2,24,198 2,44,934 2,62,496 9.2 7.2
Construction 8,66,440 8,78,110 9,28,484 1.3 5.7
Trade, hotels, transport, communication and 19,93,627 21,37,102 23,07,684 7.2 8.0
services related to broadcasting

Financial Insurance, real estate & professional 22,99,913 24,37,857 25,99,927 6.0 6.6
Services

Public Administration, defense and other services 12,76,710 14,13,103 15,54,759 10.7 10.00
GVA at Basic Price 1,05,03,348 | 1,12,47,629 1,19,76,155 7.1 6.5

PE: Provisional Estimates
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Provisional Estimates of GVA at Basic Price by Economic Activity
(At current prices)

(Rs.in Crore)

Industry 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 (PE) previous year

Agriculture, forestry & fishing 22,25,368 24,84,005 25,94,729 11.6 4.5
Mining & Quarrying 3,01,230 3,32,947 3,74,689 10.5 125
Manufacturing 21,16,119 23,29,220 25,30,311 10.1 8.6
Electricity, gas, water supply & other utility services 3,36,978 3,63,482 3,87,694 7.9 6.7
Construction 9,92,298 10,28,463 11,18,946 3.6 8.8
Trade, hotels, transport, communication and 23,03,249 25,21,813 28,09,748 9.5 114
services related to broadcasting

Financial insurance, real estate & professional 26,31,284 28,57,322 31,64,547 8.6 10.8
Services

Public Administration, defense and other services 16,60,120 19,24,339 22,01,707 15.9 14.4
GVA at Basic Price 1,25,66,646 | 1,38,41,591 1,51,82,371 10.1 9.7

PE: Provisional Estimates

(Source: Press Note: Ministry of Statistics &Programme Implementation dated May 31, 2018)

GDP at constant (2011-12) prices in Q4 of 2017-18 is estimated at Rs. 34.77 lakh crore, as against Rs. 32.27 lakh crore
in Q4 of 2016-17, showing a growth rate of 7.7 percent. GVA at basic prices at constant (2011-12) prices in Q4 of 2017-
18 is estimated at Rs. 31.01 lakh crore, as against Rs. 28.83 lakh crore in Q4 of 2016-17, showing a growth rate of 7.6
percent.

(Source: Press Note: Ministry of Statistics &Programme Implementation dated May 31, 2015)

INFRASTRUCTURE SECTOR IN INDIA

India has made a significant progress in attracting private investments in the infrastructure sector. Over a decade (2002-
2012), private sector has invested approximately US$ 250 billion in various infrastructure projects. Realizing the massive
investment requirements and need for better and competitive infrastructure services, Government of India has adopted a
new approach with PPP as the cornerstone of its policy framework. The current policy framework allows 100% FDI in
most infrastructure sectors with no restriction on repatriation of profit. Moreover, the Government of India has launched
a Viability Gap Funding Scheme to enhance the financial viability of competitively bid infrastructure projects.

(Source: Confedration of Indian Industry: www.cii.in)

Primarily, the sector includes the following:

Category Infrastructure sub-sectors

1. Transport and Logistics Roads and bridges

Ports

Shipyards

Inland Waterways

Airport

Railway Track, tunnels, viaducts, bridges, terminal
infrastructure including stations and adjoining commercial
infrastructure

e Urban Public Transport (except rolling stock in case of urban
road transport)

Logistics Infrastructure

Electricity Generation

Electricity Transmission

ElectricityDistribution

Oil pipelines

Oil/Gas/Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) storage facility

Gas pipelines

Solid Waste Management

Water supply pipelines

2. Energy

3. Water and Sanitation
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Category Infrastructure sub-sectors

Water treatment plants

Sewage collection, treatment and disposal system

Irrigation (dams, channels, embankments, etc.)

Storm Water Drainage System

Slurry Pipelines

Telecommunication (fixed network)

Telecommunication towers

Telecommunication & Telecom Services

Education Institutions (capital stock)

Sports Infrastructure

Hospitals (capital stock)

Tourism infrastructure viz. (i) three-star or higher category

classified hotels located outside cities with population of more

than 1 million, (ii) ropeways and cable cars

e Common infrastructure for Industrial Parks and other parks
with industrial activity such as food parks, textile parks,
Special Economic Zones, tourism facilities and agriculture
markets

e Post-harvest storage infrastructure for agriculture and

horticultural produce including cold storage

Terminal markets

Soil-testing laboratories

Cold Chain

o  Affordable Housing

(Source: Updated list of Harmonized Master List of Infrastructure Sub-sectors vide Notification F. No. 13/1/2017-INF dated November 14, 2017)

4, Communication

5. Social and Commercial Infrastructure

Projected Investment in Infrastructure - Three Year Action Agenda (2017-18 to 2019-20)

As per NITI Ayog, the revised projections for investment in infrastructure in the period 2012-17 are Rs. 38,22,822 crore

which is 1.6 times the investment of Rs. 23,77,746 crore achieved in the period 2007-12 at current prices.
(Source: Press Information Bureau: Mobilization of funds for Infrastructure Development dated December 22, 2017)

Annual Budget 2018-19 (Infrastructure)

Emphasising that infrastructure is the growth driver of economy, the Finance Minister estimated that investment in excess
of Rs.50 lakh crore is needed to increase growth of GDP and connect the nation with a network of roads, airports,
railways, ports and inland waterways. An increase of budgetary allocation on infrastructure was announced for 2018-19
to Rs.5.97 lakh crore against estimated expenditure of Rs.4.94 lakh crore in 2017-18.

The Government has made an all-time high allocation to rail and road sectors and is committed to further enhance public
investment. The Prime Minister personally reviews the targets and achievements in infrastructure sectors on a regular
basis. Using online monitoring system of PRAGATI alone, projects worth 9.46 lakh crore have been facilitated and fast
tracked.

To further boost tourism, the Budget proposes to develop ten prominent tourist sites into Iconic Tourism destinations by
following a holistic approach involving infrastructure and skill development, development of technology, attracting
private investment, branding and marketing. Under the Bharatmala Pariyojana, about 35,000 kms road construction in
Phase-1 at an estimated cost of Rs. 5,35,000 crore has been approved.

(Source: Press Information Bureau, February 01, 2018)

Statistics

The length of National Highways has grown from 91,287 kms on 31.03.2014 to 1,15,435 km as on 30.06.2017.
National Highways, although constituting 2% of total road network, carry 40% of the total Road traffic.

During 2002-16, 369 Road & Highway projects undertaken under PPP mode.

National Highways Awarded in 2016-17-15948 kms, as against 10098 kms in 2015-16 and 7972 kms in 2014-15.

National Highways Constructed in 2016-17-8231 kms, as against 6061 kms in 2015-16 and 4410 kms in 2014-15.
(Source: makeinindia.com)
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Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) Policy

The FDI regime has been progressively liberalized during the course of the 1990s (particularly after 1996) with most
restrictions on foreign investment being removed and procedures simplified. With limited exceptions, foreigners can
invest directly in India, either wholly by themselves or as a joint venture. India welcomes FDI in virtually all sectors,
except those of strategic concern such as defense (opened to a limited extent), and atomic energyand activities/sectors
not opened to private sector investment. The major source of FDI in India is through the equity route, which constitutes
Rs. 2,88,889 Crore for the financial year 2017-18 out of which Rs. 57,432 crore were in the fourth quarter of financial
year 2018.

(Source: FDI fact sheet dated June 29, 2018 from Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion)

FDI in Infrastructure

Under the current consolidated FDI Policy 2017, effective from August 28, 2017 issued by the Department of Industrial
Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Government of India, including any modifications thereto or
substitutions thereof, issued from time to time, (the “Consolidated FDI Policy”) whichconsolidates the policy framework
on FDI, 100% FDI through automatic route is permitted in the road, water supply and power transmission sectors. In the
financial year 2017-18 the total FDI attracted by Infrastructure sector was Rs. 2,730 crore compared to Rs. 1,861 crore
for the financial year 2016-17.

Flexible Structuring of Long Term Project Loans tolnfrastructure and Core Industries

Vide circular DBOD.BP.BC.N0.98/21.04.132/2013-14 dated February 26, 2014 banks were advised, on ‘Framework for
Revitalising Distressed Assets in the Economy - Refinancing of Project Loans, Sale of NPA and Other Regulatory
Measures’, that if they refinance any existing infrastructure and other project loans by way of take-out financing, even
without a pre-determined agreement with other banks / Fls, and fix a longer repayment period, the same would not be
considered as restructuring if the following conditions are satisfied:

i Such loans should be ‘standard’ in the books of the existing banks, and should have not been restructured in the
past;

ii. Such loans should be substantially taken over (more than 50% of the outstanding loan by value) from the existing
financing banks/Financial institutions; and

iii. The repayment period should be fixed by taking into account the life cycle of the project and cash flows from
the project.

Infrastructure Debt Funds

Infrastructure Debt Funds (IDFs) are investment vehicles to accelerate the flow of long term debt to the sector. IDFs aims
at taking out a substantial share of the outstanding commercial bank loans. IDFs are set up by sponsoring entities either
as Non-Banking Financing Companies (NBFC) or as Trusts/Mutual Funds (MF). Bonds floated by the IDFs can be
subscribed to in US dollars or Indian rupees. Government has provided an attractive environment for both alternatives:
IDF income is exempt from Income Tax, withholding tax on interest payments on the borrowings by the IDFs reduced
to 5% from earlier 20%. For IDF-NBFCs, Model Tripartite agreements issued to facilitate finalization of take-out
investment between the IDF, the Concessionaire and the Public Authority. IDFs are regulated by RBI.

(Source: IDF Brochure, 2015, released by Ministry of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs Government of India)

The RBI has amended the Infrastructure Debt Fund-Non-Banking Financial Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2011.
As per the amendment effective from May, 2015 IDF-NBFCs shall invest only in PPP and post commercial operations
date (COD) infrastructure projects which have completed at least one year of satisfactory commercial operation and are
a party to a Tripartite Agreement with the Concessionaire and the Project Authority for ensuring a compulsory buyout
with termination payment. In addition to the above, it has been decided to allow IDF-NBFCs to undertake investments
in non-PPP projects and PPP projects without a Project Authority, in sectors where there is no Project Authority, provided
these are post COD infrastructure projects which have completed at least one year of satisfactory commercial operation.
(Source: RBI/201 4-1 5/600 DNBR (PD) CC.N0.035/03.10.001/201 4-1 5 May 14, 2015)

ROAD SECTOR

Road network provides the arterial network to facilitate trade, transport, social integration and economic development. It
is used for the smooth conveyance of both people and goods. Transportation by road has the advantage over other means
of transport because of its easy accessibility, flexibility of operations, door-to-door service and reliability. Roads also
play an important role in inter-modal transport development, establishing links with airports, railway stations, and ports
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Currently, India, having one of the largest road networks of 54.83 lakh kms, which consists of National Highways, Road
Highways, Expressways, State Highways, Major District Roads, Other District Roads and Village Roads with the
following length distribution:

ROADS Length (KM)

National Highways/Expressways 1,20,543 km
State Highways 1,55,222 km
Other Roads 52,07,044 km

(Source: Annual Report 2017-18, MoRTH)

Passenger and freight movement in India over the years have increasingly shifted towards roads vis-a-vis other means of
transport. National Highways/Expressways constitute about 2% of all roads and carry 40% of the total road traffic.
Further, 85% Indians are solely dependent on public transport. 70 million passengers use State Road Transport
Undertaking buses on a daily basis.

(source: www.makeinindia.com)

ROAD NETWORK BY CATEGORIES: 1951 to 2016

Road Category 2016 (P)
National Highways 19811 23798 23838 31671 33650 57737 70934 97991 101011
(4.95) (4.54) (2.61) | (2.13) (1.45) (1.71) (1.52) (1.79) (1.80)

State Highways " " 56765 94359 127311 132100 163898 167109 176166

6.20) | (635 | (547) | (3.92) | (350) | (3.05) | (3.14)
Other PWD Roads 173723 | 257125 | 276833 | 421895 | 509435 | 736001 | 998895 | 1101178 7
(4344) | (49.02) | (30.26) | (28.40) | (21.89) | (21.82) | (21.36) | (20.12)

District Roads 561940
(10.03)

Rural Roads 206408 197194 354530 | 628865 | 1260430 | 1972016 | 2749804 | 3337255 | 3935337
(51.61) (37.60) (38.75) | (42.34) (54.15) (58.46) (58.80) (61.00) (70.23)

Urban Roads 0 46361 72120 | 123120 186799 252001 411679 467106 509730
(0.00) (8.84) (7.88) (8.29) (8.03) (7.47) (8.80) (8.54) (9.10)

Project Roads 0 0 130893 | 185511 209737 223665 281628 301505 319109
(0.00) (0.00) (14.31) | (12.49) (9.01) (6.63) (6.02) (5.50) (5.70)

Total 399942 524478 914979 | 1485421 | 2327362 | 3373520 | 4676838 | 5472144 | 5603293

Note: Figures within parentheses indicate per cent to total road length in each road category.

P: Provisional.

" Included in Other Public Works Department roads;

# Included in of District Roads, Rural Roads & Urban Roads. In the previous publication of BRS, OPWD included District roads &
village/rural roads. From BRS 2015-16 (this year's publication) the District roads are a separate category on village/rural roads
of PWD are included under 'Rural Roads" category.

(Source: MoRTH annual report 2017-18)

Administrative Framework

The road sector in India is a concurrent subject. The jurisdiction of Central Government is limited to National Highways,
while the jurisdiction of State Governments is across State Highways, Major District Roads, Village Roads and Other
Roads. At the Central Level, the overall policy, programme development and planning is done by the Planning
Commission, now reconstituted as Niti Aayog in consultation with the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways
(MoRTH) and Ministry of Rural Development (MoRD). At the State Level, the overall policy and programme
development and resource planning is done by the State Planning Cell in consultation with Central Planning Commission
and State Ministry in charge of Roads.

Administrative Framework by Category of Roads

Road Network Coordinating Agency Connectivity To

Expressways Ministry of Road Transport and Highways | State capitals and tier 1 cities
(MoRTH), National Highway Authority of
India (NHAI) and State Road Development
Corporations
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Road Network Coordinating Agency Connectivity To

National Highways MoRTH, NHAI, BRO Union capital, state capitals, major ports,
(Border Roads Organisation) strategic locations
State Highways State Public Works Departments State capitals, district centres, important towns,
(PWDs) national highways, other states
Major District Roads State PWDs State Capitals, district centres, important
towns, national highways
Rural and Other Roads | Ministry of Rural Development (MoRD) Production centres, markets, highways,
railway stations etc.
Project Roads State PWDs/Project Organisations Projects like irrigation, power, mines, etc
Urban Roads Municipal Corporations Intra city networking
Village Roads Zilla Parishads/State Governments Villages, district roads, highways, railway
stations, riversides etc

(Source: “Guidelines for investment in Road Sector”, January 2013)
International Comparison of Road Network

Road networks across countries can be compared in terms of road density (length of road per square km of area) so that the size
effect may be neutralized. However, it is expected that smaller countries would have higher road density than those with
considerably larger size. Accordingly, as on 31st March 2012, India’s road density at 1.48 kms/sq. km of area was higher than
that of USA (0.67km/ sq km), China (0.42 km/ sg. km) and Brazil (0.19 km/sq.km). The surfaced road length in India was
55.46 per cent of the total road length which was much lower as compared to France, Japan, Korea, UK and USA. NHs in
India, which accounted for 1.58 % of the total length as on 31st March 2012, was much lower than that of the developed
countries of the world. The average road length per lakh population in case of India was 402.03 kms as on 31st March 2012
whereas the length of NHs per 100 square kms of area was 2.34 kms, and the length of NHs per lakh of population was 6.35
kms.

(Source: Ministry of Statistics &Programme Implementation, Chapter 21, 2015)

Major Road Indicators Across Select Countries

Major Road Indicators across Select Countries
Road Lenth in Kilometer

Counrtr Road Density Share of Paved —_
|

Brazil 0.21 N.A. 17,51,868 0 93,071
(2004) (2004) (5.31)
China 0.40 53.50 38,60,823 65,055 59,462
(2009) (2008) (2009) (1.69) (1.54)
France 1.73 100.00 9,51,260 11,240 9,020
(2009) (2009) (2009) (2009) (2009)
India 1.42 53.83 46,90,342 227 70,934
(2011) (2011) (2011) (0.005) (1.51)
Japan 3.20 80.11 12,07,867 7.642 54,790
(2009) (2009) (2009) (0.63) (4.54)
Korea, Republic 1.05 79.25 1,04,983 3.776 13,819
(2009) (2009) (2009) (3.60) (13.16)
Russian 0.06 80.06 9,82,000 N.A. N.A.
Federation (2009) (2007) (2009)
South Africa 0.30 17.30 3,64,131 239 2887
(2001) (2001) (2001) (0.07) (0.79)
United Kingdom 1.72 100.00 4,19,665 3,674 49,032
(2009) (2009) (2009) (0.88) (11.68)
United States of 0.67 100.00 65,45,839 75.643 19,857
America (2009) (2009) (2009) (1.16) 0.30)

(Source: Minstry of Statstics and Programme Implementation)
Expansion of Road Network vis-a-vis growth in Motor Vehicles

Burgeoning population and increasing vehicular penetration /traffic density are placing increasing demands on expansion
of the road networks in India. The growth of road network has not kept pace with the growth in the number of registered
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vehicles. While the number of registered motor vehicles has grown at a CAGR of 10.6 per cent between 1951 and 2011,
the growth in the road network during the same period was 4.2 per cent. During the last decade, 2001 to 2011, the number
of registered motor vehicles recorded a CAGR of 9.9 per cent, while the road network increased at a CAGR of 3.4 per
cent

Compound Annual Growth Rates (in %) of Registered Motor Vehicles and Road Length: 1951 to 2015

Vehicles Roads
. Two Buses Good Other Total Hs | SHs& | Rural | Urban | Projet | Total
Period Wheelers Vehicles OPWD
| 9 | 10 | 1 | 12 | 13|

\
] 2 | 3 |+l s | 6 | 7 | 3|
5.3 74

7
1961/1951 12.5 6.9 26.5 8.1 1.9 4 -0.5 NA NA 2.7
1971/1961 20.7 8.2 5.1 74 15 10.9 0 2.6 6 45 NA 5.7
1981/1971 16.3 5.4 5.6 49 18.1 11.2 2.9 45 5.9 5.5 3.5 5
1991/1981 18.4 9.8 7.4 9.4 10.9 14.8 0.6 2.1 7.2 4.3 1.2 4.6
2001/1991 10.5 9.1 6.7 8.1 8.6 9.9 55 3.1 4.6 3 0.6 3.8
2011/2001 10.2 10.5 9.7 9.1 7.6 9.9 2.1 3 3.4 5 2.3 3.3
2014/2004 10.4 10.6 9.4 8.8 8 10.1 3.4 3.9 4.4 4.3 1.3 4
2015/2005 10.1 10.7 8.2 8.8 7.8 9.8 4.1 3.1 3.8 5 15 3.6

(Source: Minstry of Statstics and Programme Implementation)

The Indian automobile industry is also booming and this is placing a huge demand for road infrastructure. According to
the figures from the Society of Indian Automobile Manufacturers (SIAM) domestic car sales have grown by 4.99 percent
in April-March 2015 over the same period over last year. The industry produced a total of 23,366,246 vehicles including
passenger vehicles, commercial vehicles, three wheelers and two wheelers in April-March 2015 as against 21,500,165 in
April-March 2014, registering a growth of 8.68 percent over the same period last year. It has led the Government set up
targets of building an average of 20 kms of roads per day (Source: BK Chaturvedi Committee Report, 2009). However,
meeting these targets is imperative in accompanying the growing pace of the country. Therefore, the Indian Government
has adopted the PPPs model for financing the projects as merely budgetary support was inadequate to assist the required
growth. This has opened up business opportunities with attractive profitability with added benefits. Today the private
sector involvement is driving the road sector and projects are offered on a Build, Operate and Transfer (BOT) basis. The
projects are awarded through a competitive bidding process and after taking into consideration range of factors including
companies’ track records and their relevant financial and technical expertise. The advantages of securing these contracts
are numerous — with the main incentive of owning the road for up to 30 years. This means companies have the right to
collect and retain toll monies for that period — and the profitability of tolled National Highways has made the sector
extremely competitive. Toll collection depends on traffic volume and toll rates, which are pre-specified by NHAI. The
Government earlier had first preference to BOT toll projects because of the massive forecasts for traffic growth. To make
the projects commercially viable, companies can get up to 40% provision of capital subsidy of the project. They also
receive 100% tax exemption in any ten consecutive years, out of the first 20 years of the project. The Government also
covered all extra expenses relating to land acquisition and pre-construction activities and offers easier external
commercial borrowing.

However, the economic down turn seen in the last few years has caused revenue realization at much lower rates than was
anticipated. Many private developers of roads/ concessionaires had assumed higher revenues and had undertaken a
correspondingly high level of obligations. As the revenues crashed the availability of the financing even to meet existing
commitments became inadequate, and none were left for future projects. Hence many projects under BOT elicited no
response from bidders, as a policy response the Gol has mandated a shift away from the BoT Model Concession
Agreement and the inclination is towards the EPC model.

The government has recently decided to switch to the conventional EPCM model to award contracts. The projects are a mix
between ones that did not elicit bids from private parties as their cost was too high and thus seen as unviable and a few that
were terminated by the government due to lack of interest shown by the developers concerned. The EPC mode takes three
to four months for a project to be awarded, while BOT contracts take 18-20 months. Now however, several proposals are
being evaluated for award under the EPC model.

Hybrid Annuity Model

Ministry of Road Transport & Highways has adopted Hybrid Annuity model for implementation of highway projects in
order to encourage private sector participation through adequate incentives. The objective is to maximize the quantum of
implemented highway projects within the available financial resources of the Government. As per this model, 40%
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Project Cost is to be provided by the Government as 'Construction Support' to the private developer during the
construction period and the balance 60% as annuity payments over the concession period along with interest on
outstanding amount to the concessionaire. There is separate provision for O&M payments by the Government to the
concessionaire. The private party does not have to bear the traffic risk. All the payments have been inflation indexed by
a Price Multiple Index which is a weighted average of WPI and CPI (IW) on 70:30 bases. This mitigates the inflation
risk for the developer.

The Model has been successful in reviving PPPs in the roads and highways sector which is evident in the interest being
shown by the market for such projects. Till now, 52 National Highways projects with aggregate length of around 3,200
km and involving cost of around Rs. 51,800 crore have been already awarded through this Model.

(Source: Annual Report of MoRTH for Financial Year 2017-18)

Government Initiatives

As a facilitator, the Government has been engaged in instilling confidence in the private sector by creating an appropriate
policy framework. The policies envisage several incentives and schemes to attract massive capital into the infrastructure
industry. At the same time, the Government continues to fulfill its social obligations through proper checks and balances
in the form of a transparent regulatory system. The role for regulation is to protect the interests of consumers and foster
an institutional set up, which helps in delivering infrastructure services of high quality at low prices.

The setting up of a “Committee on Infrastructure (Col)” has been a major step in this direction. It has been constituted
with the objectives of:

Initiating policies that ensure time-bound creation of world class infrastructure

Drawing a priority list of projects aimed at augmenting and modernizing the infrastructure capacity
Developing structures that maximize the role of public-private partnerships in the field of infrastructure
Monitoring progress of the infrastructure projects to ensure that established targets are realized;

Identifying measures to refine project formulation, project planning and project management processes in line
with international best practices; etc.

arwpnPE

For a country of India’s size, an efficient road network is necessary both for national integration as well as for socio-
economic development. Gol has launched major initiatives to upgrade and strengthen National Highways and has taken
up NHDP.

Thus, India's enormous unmet infrastructure needs, combined with the public private partnership approach, offer an
unprecedented investment opportunity for the private players. These opportunities, having the potential of attractive
returns, exist in all the infrastructural sectors, both at the National and State level.

(Source: http://www.archive.india.gov.in/business/infrastructure/index.php)

National Highways Development Programme (NHDP)

The Government of India has entrusted NHAI with responsibility of implementing its greatly expanded flagship
programme, i.e. National Highways Development Project (NHDP) spread over seven phases with an estimated
expenditure of about Rs. 6,00,000 crore. The NHDP — the largest highway project ever undertaken by the country, which
is being implemented by the NHAI, consists of the following components:

e  During 2017-18, NHAI projects an expenditure of Rs. 1,10,904.00crore out of which Rs.79,171.00crore {including Rs.
11,429.45 crore out of CRF Cess, Rs. 8,482.14 crore out of Toll plough back, Rs. 59,279.00 crore raised from Internal
and External Borrowing Resources (IEBR)} would be spent out of NHAI Budget and a sum of Rs. 31,733 is likely to be
spent by the Private Sector. Upto December 2017, NHAI and Private Sector combined have incurred an expenditure of
Rs. 57,343.89 Crore (About 52 % of the BE 2017-18) out of which Rs. 46,647.07 Crore has been incurred out of
Government funds and a sum of Rs. 9,696.82/- Crore has been spent by the Private Sector.

For the financial year 2017-18, NHAI has made budgetary provisions for a cess of Rs.19,891.59 Crore and Rs.
8,462.14 Crore as plough back of funds deposited by NHAI in Consolidated Fund of India (CFI) against toll
Collection, Revenue Share, Negative Grant & Premium. An additional budgetary support of Rs.100 Crore for
Maintenance and Repair for National Highways and Rs. 91 crore are provided for Swachchhata activities along
National Highways. As per 2017-18 BE, NHAI was to raise a sum of Rs. 59,279 crore through 54EC Bonds & Tax
Free Bonds. Upto December 2017, Rs. 3,000.00 crore through Masala Bonds, Rs. 3,880.48 crore through 54 EC
bonds, Rs. 2,375.00 crore through taxable bonds from Market, Rs. 8,500.00 crore through taxable bonds from LIC
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of India and Rs.10,000.00 crore through taxable bonds from EPFO has been raised by NHAI i.e. a sum of Rs.
27,755.48 crore.

SPECIAL ACCELERATED ROAD DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME FOR NORTH EASTERN REGION
(SARDP-NE) — Accelerated Road Development Programme for the North East Region

Special Accelerated Road Development Programme for North Eastern Region (SARDP-NE) aims at improving road
connectivity of district headquarters and remote places of NE region with state capitals. It envisages two/four laning of about
7,429 km of National Highways and two laning/improvement of about 2,712 km of state roads. This will ensure the connectivity
to 88 district headquarters in the North-Eastern states, to nearest National Highways by at least 2 lane road. The programme
has been divided under 3 phases, as follows:

Phase A:

It consists of improvement of 4,099 km of roads consisting of 3,014 km of National Highways and 1085 km of State
Roads at an estimated cost of Rs. 21,769 crore. Out of 4,099 km, BRO, State PWDs & NHIDCL have been assigned with
the development of 3,213 km of roads at an estimated cost of Rs.12,821 crore. Out of the remaining length of 886 km,
112 km is to be implemented by National Highways Authority of India (NHAI) on BOT (annuity) basis, 20 km by the
Arunachal Pradesh PWD and 752 km by NHIDCL. Out of 3,213 km as above, 2,542 km at a cost of Rs.14,833 crore has
been sanctioned till December 2017. In addition, out of 886 km, approved in-principle, implementation approval has been
accorded by the Government for projects aggregating to 673 km at a cost of Rs.15,661 Crore. The works are in various
stages of progress and about 1,741 km has been completed. The likely date of completion for Phase-A is March 2021.

Phase B:

Improvement of 35 roads stretches of various categories such as NHs, State Roads, GS roads and Strategic roads etc.
aggregating to 3,723 km has been included under Phase 'B' of SARDP- NE. Phase 'B' has been approved by the
Government for preparation of DPR only.

Arunachal Pradesh Package for Roads and Highways

The Arunachal Pradesh Package of Roads and Highways covering 2,319 km (2205 km NHs and 114 km State/GS Roads)
of Road stretch was approved by the Government as part of SARDP- NE on 09.01.2009. Out of this, 776 km has been
approved by the Government for execution under BOT (Annuity) basis and for the remaining 1,543 km are to be
developed on EPC mode/item Rate Contract as per Ministry's extant policy. Till December, 2017, works in a length of
2,047 km at a cost of Rs. 21,914 crore have been awarded and 702 km of road has been completed. The entire Arunachal
Pradesh Package is targeted for completion by March, 2021.

An amount of Rs.5,265 crore was allocated for SARDP-NE during 2017-18. Out of this, expenditure of Rs. 3,995.29
crore was incurred as on 31.12.2017. Total 215 km roads including 193 km of 2- lane standards and 22 km of 4-lane
standards were completed during 2017-18 and together with the roads completed upto the previous year, total 2,443 km
roads have been completed so far under Phase ‘A" and Arunachal Pradesh Package of Roads and Highways of SARDP-
NE against 6,418 km approved for implementation under SARDP-NE.

(Source: MoRTH Annual Report for FY 2017-18)

Institutional Initiatives

Steps have been taken for restructuring and strengthening of NHAI, which is the implementing agency for the National
Highways programme. Institutional mechanisms have been established to address bottlenecks arising from delays in
environmental clearance, land acquisition etc. A special focus is being provided for traffic management and safety related issues
through the proposed Directorate of Safety and Traffic Management. It is expected that the sum total of these initiatives should
be able to deliver an efficient and safe highway network across the country.

In order to specify the policy and regulatory framework on a fair and transparent basis, a Model Concession Agreement
(MCA) for PPPs in national highways has been mandated. It is expected that this common framework, based on
international best practices, will significantly increase the pace of project award as well as ensure an optimal balance of
risk and reward among all project participants.

Hybrid Model for the Highways Sector — Annuity Mode with Construction Period Capital Support - As per this model,
40% Project Cost is to be provided by the Government as 'Construction Support' to the private developer during the
construction period and the balance 60% as annuity payments over the concession period along with interest on
outstanding amount to the concessionaire. There is separate provision for O&M payments by the Government to the
concessionaire. The private party does not have to bear the traffic risk. All the payments have been inflation indexed by
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a Price Multiple Index which is a weighted average of WPI and CPI (IW) on 70:30 bases. This mitigates the inflation
risk for the developer.

B. K. Chaturvedi Committee Report

In order to resolve procedural impediments to the National Highways projects as well as the need to take a holistic look
at the financing needs and arrive at a financing plan that balances the needs of road sector the Gol established the B. K.
Chaturvedi Committee (“Committee”) headed by Shri B.K. Chaturvedi, Member Planning Commission. Amongst the
other recommendations on the model tender documents, the Committee came out with following recommendations and
in-principal approval of the Gol was accorded vide its office memorandum no. RW/NH/37012/26/2009-PPP, dated
August 8, 2009:

a. Issuance of Tax exempted bonds.
b. Guarantee cover to the Borrowing Plan of NHAL.
c. Out of the borrowing approval of Rs. 30,00,000.00 lakh earlier provided to Indian Infrastructure Finance

Company Limited (1IFCL), Rs. 10,00,000.00 lakh under the fiscal stimulus package will be transferred to the
NHAL, as per the its borrowing requirement.

d. Assistance in negotiating non-sovereign multilateral loans from World Bank, ADB, JBIC etc. by providing
back to back support, if necessary.

e. Providing a Letter of Comfort from Ministry of Finance confirming the availability of Cess at least till 2030-
31

Potential

Today the Road development is recognised as essential to sustain India's economic growth. The Government is planning
to increase its spending on road development substantially with funding already in place based on a cess on fuel. A large
component of highways is to be developed through public-private partnerships. Several high traffic stretches have already
been awarded to private companies on a BOT basis. Investment opportunities exist in a range of projects being tendered
by NHAI for implementing the NHDP - contracts are for construction or BOT basis depending on the section being
tendered.

(Source: http://infrastructure.gov.in/highways.htm)
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OUR BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

NHALI is an autonomous authority of the Gol under the MoRTH constituted on June 15, 1989 by an Act of Parliament
titled - The National Highways Authority of India Act, 1988 (NHAI Act). NHAI was operationalised in February 1995
with the appointment of full time Chairman and other Members. The functioning of NHAI is governed by NHAI Act and
rules, and regulations framed thereunder.

The main objects of NHAI are provided in NHAI Act as per which NHAL is responsible for the development, maintenance
and management of the National Highways entrusted to it by the Gol and for matters connected or incidental thereto. Its
functions include survey, development, maintenance and management of the National Highways and inter alia to
construct offices or workshops, to establish and maintain hotels, restaurants and rest rooms at or near the highways
entrusted to it, to regulate and control plying of vehicles, to develop and provide consultancy and construction services
and to collect fees for services and benefits rendered in accordance with Section 16 of NHAI Act. It was established with
a vision to meet the nation’s need for the provision and maintenance of a National Highways network in line with global
standards and to meet user’s expectations in the most time bound and cost effective manner, within the strategic policy
framework set by the Gol and thus promote economic well being and quality of life of the people. For more details, please
refer to chapter “History, Main Objects and Certain Corporate Matters” on page 96 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

NHATI’s initial mandate was limited to only a few projects undertaken with the assistance of Asian Development Bank
(ADB) and the Japanese Board of Industry and Commerce (JBIC). Subsequently, in 1998, the Gol announced the
National Highways Development Programme (“NHDP”) comprising mainly of the Golden Quadrilateral linking the four
metros and connectivity to major ports in the First Phase and the North-South & East-West corridors in the Second Phase.

Since its inception, the mode for implementationof projects under NHDP has undergone significant change. Initially, the
implementation of NHDP was through EPC mode. However, since 2005, as a policy, the Gol had decided to implement
projects on Public Private Partnership (“PPP”) mode (BOT Toll/Annuity or OMT). NHAI has played a significant role
in developing approaches for PPP and actual implementation on a large number of projects. As on July 31, 2018, NHAI
has awarded 158 BOT Toll based contracts at a total project cost of Rs. 1,31,61,300.00 lakh and 48 BOT Annuity based
contracts at total project cost of Rs. 29,72,600 lakh through PPP mode.

NHAI has adopted a business model that relies on outsourcing of a number of activities including design, construction,
supervision, operation and maintenance of NH, rather than undertaking all such activities through its own employees.
This has thus helped NHALI in maintaining a lean organisational structure to facilitate faster operational decision-making.
NHAI receives its funding through (i) Government support in the form of capital base, cess fund, additional budgetary
support, capital grant, maintenance grant, ploughing back of toll revenue and loan from Gol; (ii) loan from multilateral
agencies and (iii) market borrowings. During the financial year 2017-18, a sum of Rs. 12,42,945.00 lakh were received
as Cess Funds.

STRENGTHS
. NHALI is nodal agency for development of NH Projects under NHDP and allied programmes approved by
Gol

The nature and charter of NHAI makes it a nodal agency responsible for the development, maintenance and
management of National Highways entrusted to it and for matters connected or incidental thereto. NHAI
manages the development of NHDP under the mandate of MoRTH, Gol. NHAI infuses funds into immediate
areas of development and enables private sector participation bringing about a healthy participatory economy.
The PPP models vary from short-term simple management contracts (with or without investment requirements)
to long-term and very complex BOT form, to divestiture.

. Track record of consistent operational performance and growth

We believe that we have an established track record of consistent growth. Following table enumerates our
performance and growth in terms of our physical achievement:
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Physical Achievement (kms)

2013-14 1436
2014-15 3067
2015-16 1988
2016-17 2628
2017-18 3071

Pioneering initiatives in the road sector in India

NHAIbelieves that ithas initiated several innovative processes over the years which have been different from
existing industry practices. Further, to the adoption of performance based contracts with bonus and penalty
provisions in both EPC (Engineering, Procurement and Construction) and PPP (Public Private partnership)
projects, NHAI believesthat there has been an improvement inconstruction and service quality in such
projects,peer review of DPRs (Detailed Project Reports) by consulting engineers selected from a panel of
consultants, dispute resolution mechanism to speed up the process of dispute resolution, especially in EPC mode,
umbrella state support agreements for various projects in a single state.

Strategic role in Gol initiatives and established relationships with infrastructure sector participants.

We believe that we derive a strategic advantage from our strong relationship with the Gol and we occupy a key
position in plans for the growth and development of the Indian highway sector. We have been involved in the
development and implementation of various programmes, policies and structural and procedural reforms for the
highway sector in India. We are also involved in various Golprogrammes for the infrastructure sector, including
acting as the nodal agency for the NHDP and other projects like Special Accelerated Road Development
Programme for North East (SARDP-NE), and for other projects like special project in Madhya Pradesh,
Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal, for which additional budgetary support is being provided by Gol.

Economies of Scale

Given thescale of operations, and the constitution of NHAI, we getbenefits from large volumes in ourcommercial
operations. Significant cost benefits accrue due to centralized decision making system with a delegated model
for execution of the projects. Further, the basic feature of outsourcing in thecontract management ensures that
no backlogs of equipment, excess manpower, redundant assets etc. are accumulated and hence large scale
efficiencies and economies of scale are achieved by NHAI.

Favorable credit rating and access to various cost-competitive sources of funds

We receive funds through (i) Government support in the form of capital base, cess fund, additional budgetary
support, capital grant, maintenance grant, ploughing back of toll revenue and loan from Gol; (ii) loan from
multilateral agencies and (iii) market borrowings. There is no servicing requirement on these sources of funds
except interest bearing loans granted by Gol, loans from multilateral agencies and market borrowings. Therefore,
the average of cost of capital is low. Further, CRISIL, CARE, IRRPL and ICRA have assigned us the highest
credit ratings of "CRISIL AAA/Stable", "CARE AAA"; Stable, “IND AAA”; Outlook Stable and "ICRA AAA”
with Stable Outlook, respectively, for our long-term domestic borrowings. Such ratings enable us to borrow
funds at competitive costs.

Experienced and committed management and employee base with in-depth sector expertise.

We believe that we have an experienced, qualified and committed management and employee base. NHAI has
been modeled as a lean organisation to facilitate faster operational decision-making. The officers and staff are
appointed as per the provisions of National Highways Authority of India (Recruitment, Seniority and Promotion)
Regulations, 1996, as amended. NHAI is one of the few organizations where people with extensive experience
in the road & highway sector, finance sector etc. are appointed on deputation from various central, state services
& departments/organizations to share their expertise. As on March 31, 2018, NHAI has a total strength of
1079employees. NHAI also seeks specific services for supervision and administration of the civil contracts in
FIDIC format and other formats approved by Gol. The selection of Supervision Consultant/Independent
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Engineer is done through rigorous international competitive bidding in order to select the most qualified
personnel.

Further, monitoring of the projects arealso done at the headquarters by Technical Divisions headed by a Member
supported by CGM (Tech), GM (Tech), DGM (Tech) and Manager (Tech). The Financial decisions are generally
taken in consultation with the Finance Division headed by Member (Finance) and supported by CGM (F&A),
GM (F&A), DGM (F&A) and Manager (F&A). For further details please refer to chapter "Our Management”
on page 100 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

STRATEGIES

Our long term strategy is to meet the challenges of developing the nation by providing an unparallel network of physical
connectivity for the common man, for the commercial transportation and for other heavy industrial use. These challenges
will be met through the following areas of strategic focus:

Decentralize the field level decisions and activities and strengthen field level operations of NHAI

Consequent to the approval accorded by the Gol for restructuring, NHAI has also established various Regional
Offices headed by CGM level officer for regular monitoring and effective coordination with State authorities.
In this regard, adequate powers have been delegated to the Regional Offices. Additional posts of Chief General
Managers have been created. The Authority has been empowered to engage, where required, outside experts
(with relaxation of age if needed) specifically for the posts of Financial Analyst, Transport Economist, Contract
Management Specialist and Legal Expert, on compensation to be determined by the Authority in line with the
experience and availability of the appropriate personnel.

Renewed focus on strengthening core processes for NHDP implementation and management:

NHAI as an organization is now moving to a growth phase in its life cycle. In this phase, NHAI believesit is
extremely important for the organization to standardize and prepare guidelines, strengthen its audit and review
processes and monitor its systems. Besides reviewing its internal processes, it also needs to establish new
processes to strengthen its outsourcing mechanism. One of the key focus areas for NHAI would be to
institutionalize knowledge and best practices on various aspects of the project cycle and leverage the same to
shorten the project cycle time. These illustratively include:

o Preparing guidelines comprising of best practices of land acquisition and preconstruction activities
adopted in different states.

o Adopting good practices of Resettlement and Rehabilitation (R&R) including those adopted for
externally aided projects.

o Preparing guidelines and standardized procedures/formats for seeking approvals related to change in

scope and extension of time (which could be included in the contract itself).

To strengthen existing systems and initiate new processes/practices in different stages of the project life cycle
NHAI has shifted substantially to an e-procurement system and a web based database for various service
providers. This facilitates NHAI’s internal learning process related to approvals and the knowledge obtained is
leveraged for attaining further competency in achieving its objectives.

Outsource and leverage external expertise

NHAI believes thatit has in the past adopted the outsourcing model very effectively. With the scale and
complexity of work, NHAI shall be able to extend this model to newer areas which include land acquisition
where augmenting of human resources at the project site is required and also hiring of retired State Government
officials and third party service providers. Further, designated officers may be appointed at State-level also to
provide greater thrust to land acquisition.

Strengthen audit and review process

With NHAI looking to outsource several activities and being dependent on the performance of a wide range of
service providers, NHAI’s strategy would be to invest in developing structures and systems to audit and review
the performance of various service providers besides strengthening conventional financial related audits.
NHALI’s strategy in this area will include, strengthening in-house review process of designs prepared by
consultants; bringing in greater involvement of NHAI project site and supervision consultants at an early stage;
strengthening independent quality audits during construction stage for EPC (Engineering Procurement and
Construction) and PPP (Public Private Partnership) projects and also capturing developments, and feedback
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surveys from various stakeholders (both external and internal) and data by other relevant agencies into the
overall monitoring framework.

. Focus on a network wide approach for managing the highways under its purview.

An integrated approach focusing on an entire network rather than operational aspects of management of
individual highway stretches is a key strategy area for NHAI. There are various elements that NHAI will focus
on as a part of its integrated plan including asset management, revenue management, road safety, security
management, traffic management and Intelligent Transport Systems.

. Enhancing focus on human resource within NHAI

NHAI expects an increase in the scale and complexity of work in the futureNational Highways projects and believes
that significant strategy focus has to be on developing the human resources within NHAI not only in terms of numbers
(sourcing) but also in terms of enhancing their overall productivity. However, the strategy plan needs to keep in
perspective that currently NHAI predominantly operates with personnel on deputation with relatively shorter tenure.

. Developing strong institutional relationships with external stakeholders

NHAIs strategy is to engage with a wide range of stakeholders for various aspects of its operations. These
include, but are not limited to Central Government, Planning Commission, State and Local Government,
Implementing authorities (Police, Health agencies), Contractors, Concessionaires, Consultants-Technical,
Financial, Legal, Audit Firms, Financial institutions, investors Industry associations, academic institutions,
Media, Multilateral and Bilateral funding agencies- World Bank, ADB, JBIC etc. It is imperative for NHAI to
have strong relationships with various stakeholder categories as they can have significant influence on NHAI’s
effectiveness in performing its role. Some of the areas where NHAL is strengthening its institutional associations
are: Pre-construction activities and State Support Agreement- with various State Governments to streamline
land acquisition, utility shifting, approval related activities pertaining to the State Government.

. Greater thrust on IT

Another important change driver for NHAI is the rapid advancement in information technology in various
aspects of highway development and management. NHAI in the past has used technology and knowledge
management tools only to a limited extent. Significant thrust on technology is envisaged to be one of the
important strategies for NHAI in its corporate plan. The strengthening of the IT system is proposed to be carried
out in the near future.

OUR PROJECTS

National Highways arethe arterial roads of the country for inter-state movement of passengers and goods. They traverse
the length and width of the country connecting the National and State capitals, major ports and rail junctions and link up
with border roads and foreign highways. The total length of National Highwaysin the country at present is 115,235 km
as per the NHAI, Annual Report 2016-17. While highways/ expressways constitute only about 2% of the length of all
roads, they carry about 40% of the total road traffic.

NHAL is the nodal agency for development of National Highways Projects under NHDP and allied programmes approved
by Gol such as SARDP-NE & Special Projects in MP, Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu, West Bengal, Haryana, Delhi,
Rajasthan& UP.As on March 30, 2017, out of total 55,886 km of national highway that were planned to be
developed/upgraded by NHAI, 39,581 km of national highway have been awarded, of which 28,479 km have been
completed and work on 11,102 km is in progress. Projects with a length of 9,208 km is yet to be awarded for which the
project preparations are in progress.

The progress of the NHDP and other similar projects, as of July 31, 2018, are as follows:

Total Length | Already 4/6 Under Contracts under | Balance length
(Km.) Laned (Km.) | Implementation | Implementation (for award (Km.)
(Km.) (No.)
NHDP Golden Quadrilateral 5,846 5,846 0 0 -
North/South-East/West 7,142 6625 318 28 199
Phase | & 11

Port Connectivity 435 400 35 6 -

NHDP Phase 11 11,809 8269 2454 91 1086

NHDP Phase IV 13,203 6255 5318 126 1630
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Total Length | Already 4/6 Under Contracts under | Balance length

(Km.) Laned (Km.) | Implementation | Implementation (for award (Km.)
(Km.) (No.)
NHDP Phase V 6,500 2900 1927 46 1673
NHDP Phase VI 1,000 143 197 9 660
NHDP Phase VII 700 70 391 13 239
NHDP Total
Other 5,560 1,862 3,698 92 -
SARDP-NE 110 110 110 - 1
Total by the Issuer 52,305* 32,480 14,338 412 5,487

* Total 20,000 km was approved under NHDP Phase IV. Out of which 13,203 km as assigned to the Issuer and the remaining
6,791 km with MoRTH.

Connectivity to Major Ports

In December, 2000, a mandate was given by the Gol to NHAI under NHDP Phase-I to upgrade the road connectivity to
the major ports in the Country. As per the Government decision, cess money is not to be used for port connectivity
projects. Port-road connectivity projects are being implemented by setting up Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs)
companies of NHAI wherein NHAI contributes significant percentageof the project cost as equity.

Following SPVs have been incorporated and registered with the Registrar of Companies, New Delhi for developing port
connectivity projects:

SI. No Name of Port Length (KM) Implementation through
(Name of the SPV)

Mormugao 18.3 Mormugao Port Road Company Limited
2 Haldia 52.2 Calcutta-Haldia Port Road Company Limited
3 (a) INPT Package-I 30 Mumbai JNPT Port Road Company Limited
(b) INPT Package-Il 14.4 Mumbai JNPT Port Road Company Limited
4 Vishakapatnam 12.5 Viskhapatnam Port Road Company Limited
5 Chennai-Ennore 30 Chennai-Ennore Port Road Company Limited
6 Cochin 10.4 Cochin Port Road Company Limited
7 Tuticorin 47.2 Tuiticorin Port Road Company Limited
8 Paradip 77 Paradip Port Road Company Limited
9 New Mangalore 37.5 New Mangalore Port Road Company Limited
Total: 329.500

In addition to above 9 projects, there are two more projects being implemented by NHAI to improve/ provide the Port
Connectivity for Chennai Port Gate No.10 and ICTT Vallarpadam (Cochin) port having details as under:

Name of Stretch/Port Length (km)

1 Elevated Road from Chennai Port Gate No0.10 to Maduravoyal (NH-4) 19.0
2 NH-47(Km. 337.15) (Cochin) to ICTT Vallarpadam (NH-47C) 17.2
Total: 36.2

Additionally, NHAI has incorporated three other companies as its SPVs for different projects:

1. Ahmedabad-Vadodara Expressway Company Limited,;
2. Moradabad Toll Road Company Limited.

For further details on our SPVs please refer to section titled “History, Main Objects and Certain Corporate Matters” at
page 96 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

SPECIAL ACCELERATED ROAD DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME FOR NORTH EASTERN REGION
("SARDP-NE")
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MoRTH has formulated the Special Accelerated Road Development Programme for North East (SARDP-NE).
SARDP-NE Phase ‘A’ covering 4099 kms and Arunachal Pradesh Package of Roads and Highways covering 2319 kms,
is presently under implementation. In addition, improvement of roads in the States of Assam and Meghalaya has been
taken up. Construction of Greenfield Airport at Pakyong (PDC-Sept.2017) and operationalising the non-operational
airport at Tezu (PDC-Sept.2018) have been taken.

(Source: Press Information Bureau Transportation Infrastructure for North Eastern States)

BHARATMALA PARIYOJANA

As per the MoRTH Government of India the Issuer will develop 34,800 Km of highways under Bharatmala Pariyojana.
The total length of 34,800 Km entrusted to NHAI consists of Bharatmala Pariyojana under Ph-1, (24,800 Km); existing
NHDP projects under implementation (10,000 Km)

The objective of the project is to optimize the efficiency of freight and passenger movement across India by bridging
critical infrastructure gaps while simultaneously creating direct and indirect employment and enhancing economic
activity. The project lays a special emphasis on fulfilling the connectivity needs of backward and tribal areas, areas of
economic activity, places of religious and tourist interest, border areas, coastal areas and trade routes with neighbouring
countries. Therefore, the Issuer will be responsible for the development and maintenance of economic corridors, inter
corridors and feeder routes, national corridor efficiency improvement, border and international connectivity roads, coastal
and port connectivity roads and green-field expressways among others.

The overall fund requirementis of approximately Rs. 6,92,324 crore (Rs. 3,85,000 Crore for Bharatmala Pariyojana,
Rs.1,50,000 crore for existing NHDP Projects executed by NHAI and Rs. 1,57,324 crore for other schemes being
executed by other agencies for the five years period starting from Fiscal 2018 upto Fiscal 2023.NHAI has availed certain
borrowings from Life Insurance Fund and Employees Provident Fund, rupee denominated Masala Bonds and is proposing
to issue Bharatmala Bonds and private placement of long term bonds etc. For the total requirement of Rs. 6,92,324 crore
NHAI intends to borrow Rs. 3,77,045 crore from Gol, Rs. 209279 crore by way of market borrowings and Rs. 1,06,000
crore from private investment (PPP).

EASTERN PERIPHERAL EXPRESSWAY

Eastern Peripheral Expressway having a length of 135 Kms was completed in a record time of 500 days much before the
stipulated period of completion. This is a prestigious project of the Government of India which was inaugurated by the
Hon’ble Prime Minister in the last week of May’2018. This expressway is an access control expressway and the only
expressway in India where the toll is charged for the actual journey undertaken by the users.

TOLL OPERATE TRANSFER MODEL (TOT)

NHAI bided a bundle of ten projects for ToT and the NHAI could fetch Rs. 9682 crore. This is the beginning of ToT
model and NHAI in due course would be awarding the work of ToT for many more projects in the time to come. The
ToTproceeds which has been deposited to Consolidated Fund of India (CFI) is ring fenced for road projects and thus will
be utilized by NHAI for this purpose.

OVERSEAS PROJECT

The Central Government has mandated that the Issuer undertakes management and consultancy services in connection
with construction and improvement of a two-lane highway in the Kalewa-Yargi section of the proposed India-Myanmar-
Thailand Trilateral Highway. The highway will connect India with Thailand through Myanmar.

The cost of this overseas project is estimated to be Rs. 11.70 billion and is fully funded by the Central Government
through the Ministry of External Affairs (the “MEA”). According to an agreement between the Issuer and the MEA, the
MEA will reimburse construction cost to the Issuer in phases and the Issuer will receive a service fee amounting to 6 per
cent of the lower of the estimated cost of construction and the tendered construction bid.

As of the date of this Draft Shelf Prospectus, the Issuer has issued the letter of award to Punj Lloyd and Varaha Infra

joint venture, the successful bidder, for the construction of the highway. The project is expected to be completed within
36 months from the date of the award.
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Government as the policy maker

Pursuant to the NHAI Act, the Central Government may direct that any function in relation to the development or
maintenance of national highways shall also be exercisable, among others, by any officer or authority subordinate to the
Central Government. Accordingly, some of the functions were delegated by the Central Government to the respective
State Governments. The NHAI Act was passed providing for the constitution of the Issuer for the development
maintenance and management of the national highways and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto.

The Central Government appoints the Chairman and may also appoint up to four part-time members. The Central
Government is empowered to vest in, or entrust to, the Issuer such national highways or any stretch thereof, as are vested
in the Central Government under the NHAI Act. As per the NHAI Act, the Central Government provides funds to the
Issuer for the discharge of its functions. Further to this, the fee collected by the Issuer is on behalf of the Government for
services or benefits rendered by it under the NHAI Act.

FINANCING

NHAI receives its funding through (i) Government support in the form of capital base, cess fund, additional budgetary
support, capital grant, maintenance grant and ploughing back of toll revenue; (ii) loan from multilateral agencies and (iii)
market borrowings.

The development and maintenance of National Highways is financed through, (i) Government’s Gross Budgetary Support
(GBS) and Additional Budgetary Support (ABS); (ii) Dedicated accruals under Central Road Fund (share in the levy of
cess on fuel); (iii) Lending by international institutions (World Bank, ADB and JBIC); (iv) private financing through PPP
framework including in DBFOT pattern — investment by private firm and return through levy and retention of user fee,
BOT (annuity) pattern — investment by private firm and return through semi-annual pre-determined payments from NHAI
as per bid, and special purpose vehicle with equity participation by NHAI; and (v) market borrowing (including funds
raised through capital gain tax exemption bonds under section 54EC of the Income Tax Act and long term tax free bonds,
taxable bonds, loans from Gol, NSSF fund). During the year 2017-2018, a sum of Rs. 12,429.45 crore was received as
Cess Funds.

Government Support

Government Support to NHAI primarily comes from the yearly budgetary allocations from the Gol including cess fund,
additional budgetary support, ploughing back of toll revenue and other grants.

Market Borrowings-54 EC Bonds, tax free bonds and taxable bonds

In accordance with section 54 EC of Income Tax Act, 1961, NHAI is authorised to issue capital gain exemption bonds
wherein eligible investors can claim exemption by investing the component of long-term capital gains (not the
sale proceeds), either wholly or in part in these bonds, within six months of the transfer of the asset. The funds are
mobilised on tap basis, have a maximum investment limit of Rs. 50 lakh in one financial year for each eligible investor
with a lock-in of 3 years from the deemed date of allotment. NHAI has been issuing this category of bonds since February
16, 2001 and has issued XVI series of such bonds so far.

For details on the amount outstanding on 54 EC bonds and other bonds, refer Section — “Financial Indebtedness” of this
Draft Shelf Prospectus.

Loan assistance from multilateral agencies

NHAI is implementing some projects under NHDP with external assistance in the form of loan from multilateral
development agencies like World Bank (WB), Asian Development Bank (ADB) and Japan Bank of International
Cooperation (JBIC). The loans for NHAI projects tied up with these multilateral agencies, except for one ADB loan for
Surat Manor projects, are passed on to NHAI by the Gol in Rupees as 80% grant and 20% loan. The loan component is
repaid to the Government by NHAI and repayments to these agencies are in turn done by Gol.

The following table sets out the Externally Aided Projects of NHAI as at June 30, 2018:
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Awarded Awarded Cost Completed
Category No. of Contracts Length in km (Rs. in Crore) No. of Length in km
Contracts

World Bank Funded Projects
NHDP Phase | 18 983 5,538 | 18 982
GQ 18 983 5,538 | 18 982
Others - - - |- -
NHDP Phase Il (EW 10 408 2,587 | 10 409
Corridors)
Sub-Total A 28 1,391 8,125 | 28 1,391
ADB Funded Projects
NHDP Phase | 10 615 1,866 | 10 615
GQ 9 567 1,807 | 9 567
Others 1 48 59 |1 48
NHDP Phase Il (NS & 31 1,638 7,565 | 30 1,584
EW Corridors)
Sub-Total B 41 2,253 9,431 | 40 2,199
JBIC Funded Projects
NHDP Phase | 7 150 634 | 7 150
GQ 5 111 333 |5 111
Others 2 39 301 |2 39
Sub-Total C 7 150 634 | 7 150
JICA ODA Funded Projects
NHDP Phase |11 1 127 1027 | - -
Sub-Total D 1 127 1027 | - -
Total (A+B+C+D) 77 3921 19217 | 75 3740
WB/NHAI 2 79 621 | 0 0
Grand Total 79 4000 19838 | 75 3740

NHAI also has a provision for providing grant upto 40% of the project cost to make projects commercially viable.
However, the quantum of grant is decided on a case to case basis and typically constitutes the bid parameter in BOT
projects. The disbursement of such grant is subject to the provisions of project concession agreements.

NHAI projects, with higher traffic volumes, have also received Negative Grant (upfront payment payable by successful
bidder to NHAI) instead of grant/VVGF as an outcome of the competitive bidding process. Further, under the revised
MCA, projects under BOT/DBFOT framework have also been awarded on a revenue share/premium basis, where the
bidder offering the highest revenue share/premium is awarded the project. These revenues are also ploughed back for the
development and maintenance of National Highways.

Public Private Partnership in Highway Development

PPP is going to be the preferred mode of delivery for future phases of NHDP. While there are a number of forms of PPP,
the common forms that are popular in India and have been used for development of National Highways are:

. Build, Operate and Transfer (Toll) Model

. Build, Operate and Transfer (Annuity) Model
o Operate, Maintain and Transfer (OMT) Model.
1. BOT (Toll)

Under the BOT (Toll) model, private developers/operators are awarded contracts/projects wherein they are
entitled to collect and retain toll revenues for a certain tenure referred to as the concession period. The tolls are
prescribed by NHAI on a per vehicle per km basis for different types of vehicles. The Gol in the year 1995
passed the necessary legislation on collection of toll. A Model Concession Agreement (MCA) has been
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developed to facilitate speedy award of contracts. This framework has been used for awarding contracts on the
basis of BOT model.

Recently, Cabinet Committee on economic affairs, chaired by Prime Minister of India has given its approval for
authorizing NHAI to allow extension of concession period for all current projects in BOT (Toll) mode that are
languishing during the construction period not attributable to Concessionaire, subject to among others including:

i) The decision to grant extension may be taken on case to case basis, based on recommendation of
concerned Independent Engineer and Independent Engineer will be accountable for extension for the
assessment of extension recommended in extension period.

i) Projects using said extension shall have to achive physical completion within next three years.

iii) NHAI shall follow guidelines while determining the period of delay not attributable to Concessionaire.
(Source: Press Information Buerau dated November 18, 2015)

BOT (Annuity)

Inthe BOT (Annuity) model, the concessionaire bids for projects on the basis ofannuity payments to be received
from NHAI that would cover his cost (construction, operations and maintenance) and an expected return on the
investment. The bidder quoting the lowest annuity is awarded the project. The annuities are paid semi-annually
by NHAI to the concessionaire and linked to performance covenants. The concessionaire does not bear the
traffic/tolling risk in these contracts.

Operate, Maintain and Transfer (OMT) Concession

NHAI has recently taken up award of select highway projects to private sector players under an OMT
Concession. Till recently the task of toll collection and highway maintenance was entrusted to the tolling
agents/operators and subcontractors respectively. These tasks have been integrated under the OMT concession.
Under the OMT concession construction is done by an EPC contractor and once the construction is complete
the private operators are appointed to collect tolls on these stretches for maintaining highways and providing
essential services (such as emergency/safety services).

Engineering Procurement and Construction (“EPC”) Contracts

EPC mode of construction is adopted for roads that are not viable on PPP basis. This mode is different from the
conventional item rate contracts wherein the Government provided the detailed design along with the Bill of
Quantities. The enhanced EPC mode assigns the responsibility for investigations, design and construction to
contractors for a lump sum price through competitive bidding. Moreover, contractors are responsible for the
maintenance during the Defect Liability Period, for a pre-defined percentage payment. Defect Liability Period
is 5 years for major bridges and structures and 2 years for other parts of the road.

Hybrid Annuity Model

Hybrid Annuity Model is a mix of EPC and BOT (Annuity) models, with government and private enterprise
sharing the total project cost in the ratio of 40:60 during construction period, where the government is funding
40% of the project cost as determined by NHAI in five equal installments during the construction period as
construction support. The concessionaire would be required to bear balance 60% of the project cost through
combination of equity contribution and debt raised from market. Further this 60% of the cost borne by the privae
party during the construction period is to be recovered from the Authority in terms of annuity payment spread
over the period of 15 — 20 years. As per this model, the financial burden on concessionaire will reduce during
the construction phase. The Government will also retain the revenue risk as it would collect toll. On the other
hand the private player will bear construction, operations and maintenance risks. Since the Government will
bear 40% of the project cost during the construction phase, the returns to the private developer in the form of
annuities during the operating phase will be proportionately lower when compared with normal annuity project
fully funded by private developer. There is a risk that there may be a mismatch between the developer’s cost
estimates which may be higher than NHAI’s cost estimates; However, when compared with EPC projects, shift
to Hybrid Annuity model would ease the cash flow pressure on NHAI as it would have to provide only 40%
upfront funding spread over the 30-36 months of construction period, and the concessionaire would be required
to bear the balance 60% of the project cost through a combination of its equity contribution and debt raised from
the market. Further, the 60% of the project cost borne by the concessionaire during the construction period is to
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be recovered from the Authority in terms of annuity payments spread over a period of 15 — 20 years. Therefore,
NHAI’s own upfront funding requirement will be lower in case of hybrid annuity compared with EPC mode.
Further, annuity nature of the projects would eliminate traffic related risks thereby improving ease of financial
closure and refinancing ability post project completion. However, a lot would depend on NHAI's ability to
ensure 100% RoW and approvals before awarding these projects and the variation between NHAI and
developers’ cost estimates. Under the hybrid model, the projects would be awarded only after 90% of the land
is acquired and on receipt of relevant clearances.

Incentives for Private Sector Participation

The Government has put in place appropriate policy, institutional and regulatory mechanisms including a set of fiscal
and financial incentives to encourage increased private sector participation in road sector.

With a view to further augment flow of funds to the sector and to encourage private sector participation in the road sector,
several initiatives have been taken by the Government which include:

Declaration of the road sector as an industry;

Provision of capital grants subsidy upto 40% of project cost to enhance viability of the projects on case-to-case
basis.

Duty-free import of certain identified high quality construction plants and equipments;

100% tax exemption in any consecutive 10 years within a period of 20 years after completion of construction
provided the project involves addition of new lanes;

. Provision of encumbrance-free site for work, i.e. the Government shall meet all expenses relating to land and
other pre-construction activities;
. Foreign direct investment upto 100% in road sector;

Bidding Process

General procedure for selection of concessionaires adopted by NHAI is a two-stage bidding process. Projects are awarded
as per the model documents Request for Qualification (RFQ), Request for Proposal (RFP) and concession agreement -
provided by the Planning Commission NHAI amends the model documents based on project specific requirements. The
two stage process involves:

Stage 1: Pre-qualification on the basis of technical and financial expertise of the firm and its track record in
similar projects which meets the minimum criteria set out in the RFQ Document.

Stage 2: Commercial bids from pre-qualified bidders are invited through issue of RFP. For BOT-(Toll)
projects the bid parameter is the premium offered to NHAI or the grant sought from NHAI. In BOT-
(Annuity) projects the bid parameter is the semi annual annuity sought from NHAI.

The Government has put in place appropriate policy, institutional and regulatory mechanisms including a set of fiscal
and financial incentives to encourage increased private sector participation in road sector.

Bidding process for EPC Projects

Pursuant to MoRTH’s circular no. 37010/4/2010 PIC (Pt-RFP) dated May 27, 2014, the Authority has adopted a single
stage two part system for selection of the Bidder for award of the Project. Under this process, the bid shall be invited
under two parts. Eligibility and qualification of the Bidder will be first examined based on the details submitted under
first part (Technical Bid) with respect to eligibility and qualifications criteria prescribed in the RFP. The Financial Bid
under the second part shall be opened of only those Bidders whose Technical Bids are responsive to eligibility and
qualifications requirements as per the RFP.

Relationship with the Government

NHAI has relationships with the Government in several contexts as described below:
Government as the policy maker

Statutory Powers of the Government over NHAI

Government as the Lender

[ )
[ )
[ )
. Government as the Regulator
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Government as the policy maker

The development and maintenance of National Highways is fully financed by the Central Government as this function
comes within Entry 23 of the Union List of the Seventh Schedule to the Constitution of India. Section 5 of the NH Act
provides that the Central Government may direct that any function in relation to the development or maintenance of
National Highways shall also be exercisable, among others, by any officer or authority subordinate to the Central
Government. Accordingly, some of the functions were delegated by the Central Government to the respective State
Governments. NHAI Act was passed providing for the constitution of an Authority for the development maintenance
and management of National Highways and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto.

The Central Government appoints the Chairman and may also appoint not more than six part-time members. The Central
Government is empowered to vest in, or entrust to, NHAI such National Highways’s or any stretch thereof, as are vested
in the Government under section 4 of the NH Act. As per the provision of Act, the Central Government provides funds
to NHAI for the discharge of its functions. Further to this, the fee collected by NHAI is on behalf of the Government, for
services or benefits rendered by it under section 7 of the NH Act.

. Statutory Powers of the Government over NHAI

Under Section 11 of NHAI Act, the Central Government is empowered to vest or entrust any national highway or
stretch thereof to NHAI by publishing a notification in the Official Gazette. On and from the date of publication of
the said Notification all assets, rights or liabilities of the Central Government in respect of the said national highway
or stretch thereof stands transferred to NHAI including but not limited to all debts, contracts, capital expenditure, all
sums of money due to the Central Government, suits and any other legal proceedings.

. Government as the Lender

Section 17 empowers the Central Government to provide any capital that may be required by NHAI or pay to
NHAI by way of loans or grants such sums of money as it may consider necessary for the efficient discharge of
the functions by NHAL.

Section 18 of NHAI Act provides for constitution of a fund namely the National Highways Authority of India Fund
wherein any grant, aid, loan taken or borrowings made, any other sums received by NHAI shall be credited in. The
funds are to be utilized for meeting inter-alia the expenses of NHAI on objects and for purposes authorized by this
Act. Moreover, the Central Government vide its letter dated August 31, 2015 has conveyed its approval to NHAI to
raise funds through the issue of debentures. The approval in the present issue of bonds has also been obtained vide
CBDT Notification issued by the Central Board of Direct Taxes, Department of Revenue, Ministry of Finance,
Government of India, by virtue of powers conferred upon it by item (h) of sub-clause (iv) of clause (15) of section 10
of the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961). The Government support to NHAI comes primary in the form of yearly
budgetary allocations, cess collected by the Gol under the Central Road Fund Act 2000 part of which is specially
allocated for National Highways and capital infusion in the form of loans. For further details please refer to our chapter
on “Financial Indebtedness” on page 111 of this Draft Shelf Prospectus.

. The Government as the Regulator

All the NHs vests in the Union of India in terms of Section 4 of the NH Act. Under Section 11 of NHAI Act,
the Central Government is empowered to vest or entrust any National Highways or stretch thereof to NHAI by
publishing a notification in the Official Gazette. NHAI Act under various sections confers the Central
Government with powers to exercise control over the functioning of NHAI by promulgamation of rules made
thereunder. More specifically, NHAI Act stipulates that NHAI shall remain bound by the directions of the
Central Government on questions of policy. The Central Government is further empowered to temporarily divest
NHAI from the management of any National Highways. The Central Government is further empowered to
supersede NHAI if it is of the opinion that NHAI is unable to discharge the functions and its duties, persistently
defaults in complying with any direction of the Central Government or if it so deemed necessary in this regard.
The Central Government is further empowered to make rules for giving effect to the provisions of NHAI Act in
certain matters which include but are not limited to matters relating to manner in which NHAI may invest its
funds, maintain its accounts etc.

Risk Management

Steps have been taken for restructuring and strengthening NHAI, which is the implementing agency for the National
HighwaysProgramme. Institutional mechanisms have been established to address bottlenecks arising from delays in
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environmental clearance, land acquisition etc. A special focus is being provided for traffic management and safety related issues
through the proposed Directorate of Safety and Traffic Management. It is expected that the sum total of these initiatives should
be able to deliver an efficient and safe highway network across the country.

In order to specify the policy and regulatory framework on a fair and transparent basis, a Model Concession Agreement
(MCA) for PPPs in National Highways has been mandated. It is expected that this common framework, based on
international best practices, will significantly increase the pace of project award as well as ensure an optimal balance of
risk and reward among all project participants.

Revenue realization in BOT-Toll projects is subject to some key risks including, but not limited to variation in traffic, variation
in toll rates, additional tollways, occurrence of premature termination on account of certain events. The concession agreement
provides for various risk mitigation mechanisms including change in the concession period, differential toll rates that are linked
to the cost of different roads structures under the new toll rules (linear alignment, bridges, tunnels, bypasses etc providing of
termination payments under any force majeure event.

. Risk of Early Termination of Concession: In the event of 'Concessionaires event of Defaults' specified in the
concession agreement which the concessionaire has failed to cure within the specified cure period, and where
no such cure period has been specified then within the cure period of 60 days, the concessionaire shall be deemed
to be in default and NHAI shall have the right to terminate the agreement. If such default takes place within the
construction period no payment is made to the concessionaire and if such default takes place during the operation
period NHAI will only make payment to the extent of 90% of the debt due as on the date of such termination to
the lender of the concessionaire, less insurance claim if any and NHAI will get the right over the asset.

o Land acquisition risk: NHAL is responsible for acquiring the requisite land for the project highways. NHAI acquires
land under NH Act in various parts of the countries, process of land acquisition is affected by a large number of factors
i.e. Government policies, social and political environment etc. and the same may cause delay in the overall process.
Also, the process of land acquisition invokes a large number of litigation which may affect the large number of process.
However, the risk of delay caused due to land acquisition process is managed by NHAI as it awards only those projects
where acquisition has already taken place.

. Approval Risk: As per the Concession Agreement/contracts, the obligation of obtaining approvals/ permissions
is on the concessionaire/contractor. In order to manage these, NHAI provides assistance to the
concessionaire/contractor for seeking the approval. Although NHAI endeavors to provide all reasonable support
and assistance to the concessionaire in procuring applicable permits required from any Government
instrumentality, the same may be delayed due to various reasons resulting in delay in completion of the projects.
In order to avoid additional cost in terms of delay in approvals NHAI assists concessionaire in obtaining the
following approvals:

i Permission of the State Government for extraction of boulders from quarry;
ii. Permission of Village Panchayat and Pollution Control Board for installation of crushers;
iii. Licence for use of explosives;

iv. Permission of the State Government for drawing water from river/reservoir;
V. Licence from Inspector of factories or other competent authority for setting up Batching Plant;
Vi. Clearance of Pollution Control Board for setting up Batching Plant;
vii. Clearance of Village Panchayats and Pollution Control Board for Asphalt Plant;
viii. Permission of Village Panchayat and State Government for borrow earth;
iX. Applicable Permits, as required, relating to environmental protection and conservation shall have been
procured by the Authority as a Condition Precedent
X. Permission of State Government for cutting of trees; and
Xi. Any other permits or clearances required under Applicable Laws.
. Force majeure risk

Force Majeure risk pervades all the business of NHAI. Factors like act of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather
conditions or radioactive contamination or ionising radiation, fire or explosion, strikes or boycotts, the discovery of
geological conditions, toxic contamination or archaeological remains on the Site, any event or circumstances of a
nature analogous to any of the foregoing, direct/indirect political event, change in law always looms over the various
projects carried by NHAI. In order to mitigate the losses due to Force Majeure NHAI has a separate mechanism of
payment in case of occurrence of Force Majeure.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

There are 1079 employees in NHAI as on March31, 2018. The employees include professionals in business management,
accountancy, engineering, law, computer science, economics and other relevant disciplines. NHAI believes that its
employees are the most valuable asset and the management has a good relationship with the employees. NHAI aims to
develop a collaborative culture and ongoing consultative process at various levels of administration within the
organization. NHAI believes that it has amicable relations with its employees and the management is also in constant
dialogue with the employees to avoid any industrial relations issues, including strikes. The computerization of NHAI has
reduced employee workloads and allowed NHAI to maintain a lean workforce during the past five to six years despite
growing its business. The details of employees of NHAI as on March31, 2018 are as follows:

Category of Employees Number of Employees

Regular 394
Deputation 293
Contract 392

Social Awareness on National Scale

NHAI is an active agent of social reform on national issues such as Road Safety and Rehabilitation and Resettlement and
AIDS awareness issues. In addition, NHALI is engaged in social agenda to work towards the concept of ‘Green Highways’
in the future. For AIDS awareness, NHAI is already contemplating the following:

. Identifying high risk areas like roadside dhaba’s, petrol bunks, temporary tents/colonies of migrant workers and
inexpensive hotels/motels.

. Conducting AIDS awareness campaigns with assistance from NGOs operational in that area. Convey the
associated risks and dangers of AIDS through discussion and roadside skit presentation formats.

. Making available appropriate medical aids and conducting special counseling sessions for all stakeholders in
these areas.

. Providing medical assistance and guidance to the identified positive cases, so as to assist them with coping with

the disease and preventing it to be spread further from them.

In furtherance of the concept of Green Highways, NHAI is contemplating development of horticulture and greenbelts
along highways.

INSURANCE

NHAI has obtained insurance from United India InsuranceCompany Limited for its building at G-5 & 6, Sector 10,
Dwarka, New Delhi-110075 against the risks like fire, terrorism, earth quake, loss of rent etc. The policy was taken vide
policy number 2216051117P113278072and which was valid between the period 00:00 hours on December 22, 2017to
midnight of December 21, 2018.The insurance policy is presently due for renewal.

COMPETITION

Since all the NHs vests in the Gol and NHAI is the nodal executing agency for development of NHs under NHDP and allied
programme entrusted to it, which aims to build and upgrade National Highways to the best of international standards and is the
only authority in India which oversees the implementations of the National Highways Projects undertaken by private parties or
state agencies. However, other roads authorities such as PWD, road construction corporations under the control of States/Union
Territory Governments are also working towards the development and maintenance of roads and certain other National
Highways, some of which also form part of NHDP.

PROPERTIES

We have certain immovable properties for the purpose of our business. These properties are held on perpetual lease basis.
The details of our properties are as follows:

5. No. Description of Property

1. Land G-3, Sector-10, Dwarka, New Delhi-110075
2. Office Building G-5&6, Sector-10, Dwarka, New Delhi-110075
3. Land for Residential Building B-5, Sector-19, Dwarka, New Delhi-110075
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As on date of filing of this Draft Shelf Prospectus NHAI also has 25 Regional Offices and 179 Project Implementation
Units through out India on lease. The details of the Regional Offices are prescribed herein below:

Regional Office RO Address

1. Andhra Pradesh Plot No.21, Teachers Colony, Gurunanak Nagar Road,
Vijayawada, A.P., 520008

2. Assam NEDFI House, 4th Floor, G. S. Road, Dispur, Guwahati-781006,
Assam

3. Bihar D-63, First Floor, Rajesh Kumar Path, Sri Krishnapuri
Boring Road, Patna-800001

4, Chhattisgarh (RO-Raipur) Plot No. 1-20, Anupam Nagar, Near TV Tower, Raipur.

5. Delhi& NCR G5 &6, Sector-10, Dwarka- New Delhi-110075

6. RO (EPE) G5 &6, Sector-10, Dwarka- New Delhi-110075

7. Guijarat 235-239, 2nd Floor, Supermall-01, Above-HDFC Finance,
Infocity, Gandhinagar-382007

8. Himachal Pradesh House No. 1, Rishikesh Sadan, Shanti Kutia, Chakkar Shimla,
Dist. Shimla 171005

9. Jammu and Kashmir House No. 315, Sec-1,1% floor, Channi Himmat, Jammu-180015

10. Jharkhand (RO-Ranchi) C-129, Vidyalaya Marg, Ashok Nagar, Ranchi Jharkhand,

11. Karnataka Sy.No. 13, 14" km, Near Deepak Bus Stop, Nagasandra, M.S.
Ramaiah Enclave, Bengaluru — Tumkur Road (NH-4), Bengaluru
—560 073

12, Kerala TC 86/1036-1, Ambly Arcade, SNNRA-9, Pettah- P.O.
Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala -695024

13. Madhya Pradesh (RO-Bhopal) E-2/167 Arera Colony, Near Habibganj Railway Station, Bhopal
(M.P.) — 462016

14. Maharashtra& Goa 4th Floor, MTNL Telephone Exchange Building, Opp; CBD
Belapur Railway Station, CBD- Belapur, Navi Mumbai-400614

15. Maharashtra 4" Floor MTNL Building, Plot No. 22, Sector-11
CBD Belapur, Navi Mumbai 400614.

16. Odisha Odisha, 301-A, 3rd Floor, Pal Heights, Plot No. J/7, Jaydev Bihar,
Bhubneswar.

17. Haryana &Punjab Chandigarh Bays No. 35-38, 1st Floor, Sector-4, Panchkula-
134112

18. Rajasthan F-120, Janpath, Shyam Nagar, Jaipur-302 019

19. Tamil Nadu (RO — Chennai) Sri Tower, 3rd Floor, D P-34, SP Industrial Estate, Guindy,
Chennai -600 032.

20. Tamil Nadu (RO Madurai) 2"& 3" Floor, Vijay Krishna Plaza, No.-1, Lake Area, Melur
Main Road, Mattuthavani, Madurai 625007

21. Telangana D.No.8-2-334/18, Road No.3, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad-500 034.

22. Uttar Pradesh (W) CP-12, Viraj Khand, Near Singapore Mall, Gomtinagar, Lucknow
-226010 (UP)

23. Uttar Pradesh (E) S-2/656 A-3B, Varuna Vihar Colony, 2"& 3" Floor, 1 Place
Tower, Behind J. P. Mehta Sr. Sec. School, Sikraul, Varanasi
221002.

24, Uttarakhand 58/37, Balbir Road, Dehradun -248001

25. West Bengal Kolkatta 119, Park Street White House, Block-A 2nd Floor,
Kolkata - 700 016
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

We have invested adequately in information technologies designed to help us better monitor and run our business. We
have deployed the IT system across our organization. Our website is designed to provide a single view of our business.
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REGULATIONS AND POLICIES

The regulations set out below are not exhaustive and are only intended to provide general information to investors and
is neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for professional legal advice. Taxation statutes such as the Income
Tax Act, 1961, Central Sales Tax Act, 1956, Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 and applicable local sales tax
statutes, labour regulations such as the Employees State Insurance Act, 1948 and the Employees Provident Fund and
Miscellaneous Act, 1952, and other miscellaneous regulations apply to us. The statements below are based on the current
provisions of Indian law and the judicial and administrative interpretations thereof, which are subject to change or
modification by subsequent legislative, regulatory, administrative or judicial decisions.

Background on the regulatory environment for development of National Highways:

The development and maintenance of national highways is fully financed by the Central Government as this function
comes within Entry 23 of the Union List of the Seventh Schedule to the Constitution. Section 5 of the National Highways
Act, 1956 provides that the Central Government may direct that any function in relation to the development or
maintenance of national highways shall also be exercisable, among others, by any officer or authority subordinate to the
Central Government. Accordingly, some of the functions were delegated by the Central Government to the respective
State Governments. This system is commonly known as the ‘Agency System’ since the State Governments are paid
‘Agency Charges’ incurred by them on works executed on the national highways system.

Though the ‘Agency System’ of execution of national highway works by the State Public Works Departments has been
functioning for a period of about 40 years, difficulties were experienced from time to time. Hence, came the proposal
for creation of an autonomous body. In this backdrop, NHAI Act was passed providing for the constitution of an NHAI
for the development maintenance and management of national highways and for matters connected therewith or
incidental thereto. NHAI was operationalised in February, 1995. NHAI is the nodal agency responsible for the
development, maintenance and management of National Highways entrusted to it and for matters connected or incidental
thereto.

The charter of NHAI is set out in the NH Act and NHAI Act:

Delegation of power and functions of the highway administration to NHALI.

Enhanced powers for land acquisition.

Right to collect tolls for road projects on its own or through third parties in accordance with specified
Government guidelines.

Authorisation to borrow from capital market through bonds, debentures and other instruments.

Situation where Central Government will have powers to override NHAI and its officials.

Besides implementation of the NHDP, NHAI is also concerned with implementation of road safety measures and
environmental management and IT initiatives in construction, maintenance and operation of National Highways.

The following are the significant laws and regulations that govern our operations:
A. The National Highways Act, 1956 (“NH Act”)

The NH Act provides for the declaration of certain highways to be national highways. The NH Act categorically
states that the Central Government may through a notification in the Official Gazette declare any highway to
be a national highway and similarly remove any highway from the schedule of listed national highways. The
Government’s power to acquire land for the purpose of building, maintenance, management or operation of a
national highway is very clear and there is a complete procedure laid down for the acquisition of land by the
Central Government for the purpose of building a national highway and it is unequivocally stipulated therein
that the provisions of the Land Acquisition Act, 1984 would not apply to an acquisition made for purposes
mentioned in this Act. Further NHAI Act confers all the rights, powers, assets, liabilities, obligations etc of
Central Government to NHAL.

Salient features of NH Act
In the NH Act, Highways is defined in detail to include all lands appurtenant thereto, all bridges, culvets,
tunnels, causeways, carriageways and other structures constructed on or across such highways and all fences,

trees, posts and boundary, furlong and milestones of such highways or any land appurtenant to such highways.

NH Act details that the Highways as defined shall vest in the Union of India (Section-4) and the Central
Government shall be responsible for the development and maintenance of the same.Atthe same time the NH
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Act vests the Central Government with the power to confer any of its role related to development or maintenance
of a national highway to a State Government (Section-5). Section 7 further conveys the power of levy and
collection of fees for use of any national highway to the Central Government.

Section 8A transmits to the Central Government, the power to enter into agreements with any person for
development and maintenance of national highways and power to transfer the right of collection of user fee and
regulation of traffic on such national highways. Further, Section 8B states the penalty for a mischief which
results in damage to a national highway which may lead to imprisonment upto five years, or a fine, or with both.

NH Act contains a schedule which details the total number of highways which have been included or will be
included in the list of national highways.

Further, the NH Act by its amendment in the year 1997 provides that the amount determined by competent
authority to be payable as a compensation shall be deposited by the Central Government and the competent
authority on behalf of Central Government shall pay the amount to persons entitled thereto (Section 3H).

The National Highways Authority of India Act, 1988 (“NHAI Act”)

NHAI Act provides for the constitution of an authority, i.e. National Highways Authority of India, an
autonomous body for the development, maintenance and management of national highways and for matters
connected to its composition, term, functions, appointment of its officers, management, finance etc. The Central
Government shall provide funds to NHAI for the discharge of its functions. NHAI will, on behalf of the
Government, be empowered to collect fees for services or benefits rendered by it. For the proper management
of highways, NHAI will regulate and control the plying of vehicles on the highways vested in it. The main
function of NHAI is to develop and maintain national highways whose management and operation is vested in
or entrusted to it by the Central Government. In discharge of the aforesaid primary function NHAI is empowered
to:

. Survey, develop, maintain and manage highway vested in, or entrusted to it;

. construct offices or workshops and establish and maintain hostels, motels, restaurants and rest-rooms
at or near the highways vested in, or entrusted to it;

. construct residential building and townships for its employees;

. regulate and control the plying of vehicles on the highways vested in, or entrusted to, it for the proper
management thereof;

. develop and provide consultancy and construction services in India and abroad and carry on research
activities in relation to the development, maintenance and management of highways or any facilities
thereat;

. provide such facilities and amenities for the users of the highways vested in, or entrusted to, it as are,
in the opinion of NHAI, necessary for the smooth flow of traffic on such highways;

. form one or more companies under the Companies Act to further the efficient discharge of the functions
imposed on it by NHAI Act;

. engage, or entrust any of its functions to, any corporation or body corporate owned or controlled by the
Government;

. advise the Central Government on matters relating to highways;

. assist, on such terms and conditions as may be mutually agreed upon, any State Government in the

formulation and implementation of schemes for highway development;

. collect fees on behalf of the Central Government for services or benefits rendered under Section 7 of
the NH Act and such other fees on behalf of the State Governments on such terms and conditions as
may be specified by such State Governments; and

. take all such steps as may be necessary or convenient for, or may be incidental to, the exercise of any
power or the discharge of any function conferred or imposed on it by NHAI Act.
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Salient features of NHAI Act:

NHAI Act provides for composition of NHAI, which shall consist of a Chairman and not more than six full
time members to be appointed by the Central Government. The Central Government may also appoint not more
than six part-time members (Section 3). The Central Government is empowered to vest to NHAI such national
highways or any stretch thereof, as are vested in the Government under Section 4 of the NH Act.

Section 13 of NHAI Act provides that any land required by NHAI for discharging its functions is deemed to be
land needed for a public purpose and such land may be acquired for NHAIL.NHAI Act empowers NHAI to enter
into and perform any contract up to a certain value which will be prescribed by the Central Government under
Section 14. Further, NHAI Act empowers, NHAI to construct offices, workshops and residential buildings for
its employees and construct wayside amenities near the national highways vested in it;

Section 21 of NHAI Act provides for issues relating to borrowings and empowers NHAI to borrow money by
the issue of bonds, debentures or such other instruments as it may deem fit as also may borrow temporarily by
way of overdraft or otherwise, such amounts as it may require for discharging its functions under NHAI Act.
The section further provides that the Central Government may guarantee the repayment of the amount due with
respect to the borrowings.

The provision concerning Finance, Accounts and Audit are dealt with in Chapter V of NHAI Act. Section 17
empowers the Central Government to provide any capital that may be required by NHAI or pay to NHAI by
way of loans or grants such sums of money as it may consider necessary for the efficient discharge of the
functions by NHAI. Section 18 of NHAI Act provides for constitution of a Fund namely the National Highways
Authority of India Fund wherein any grant, aid, loan taken or borrowings made, any other sums received by
NHAI shall be credited in. The funds are to be utilized for meeting inter-alia the expenses of NHAI on objects
and for purposes authorized by this Act. NHAI is statutorily obliged under Sections 22 and 23 of NHAI Act to
prepare its Annual Report giving full accounts of its activities during the previous financial year and its required
to maintain its account and get the same audited in a manner to be decided in consultation with the Comptroller
and Auditor-General of India. The Annual Report and The Auditor’s Report are to be laid before the Parliament.

Central Road Fund Act, 2000 (“CRF Act”)

The CRF Act proposed to levy and collect by way of cess, a duty of excise and customs on petrol and diesel.
The proceeds are used for development and maintenance of national highways, development of rural roads,
development and maintenance of other state roads including roads of inter-state and economic importance and
for improvement of safety at rail- road crossings, etc. The Central Road Fund (Amendment) Bill, 2017,
introduced in the lower house of the Indian Parliament, seeks to allocate a share of the cess collected under the
CRF Act towards the development and maintenance of national waterways in addition to the funds allocated
towards national highways.

The Control of National Highways (Land and Traffic) Act, 2002 (“NHLT Act”)

The NHLT Act provides for control of land within the national highways, right of way and traffic moving on
the national highways and for the removal of unauthorized occupation of the land within the national highways.

The purpose of NHLT Act is mainly to keep national highways clean and free of encroachment, and to ensure free
and rapid movement of motorized traffic and enforcement by the establishment of highway administrations for the
purpose of enforcement of the functions and powers conferred thereunder which include regulation of traffic when
highway deemed unsafe, prohibition of use of heavy vehicles on certain highways, temporary closure of traffic on
highways, permanent closure of highways, power to restrict use of certain vehicles at certain times, prevention and
repair of damage to highway, power to prohibit leaving vehicles or animals in dangerous position. The Act also
provides for penalty in case of breach, which include imprisonment upto one year and/or fine at the rate of one
thousand rupees per square meter of occupied land, but which shall not exceed two times the cost of such highway
land or with both.

Applicable Rules
As per the NH Act and the NHAI Act, the Central Government is empowered to make rules in order to further

the objects of NH Act and NHAI Act. In exercise of such power, the Central Government has framed certain
rules which are as follows:
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. The National Highways Rules, 1957;

. The National Highways (Temporary Bridges) Rules, 1964;

. National Highways Authority of India (Budget, Accounts Audit, Investment of Funds and Powers to
enter Premises) Rules, 1990;

. The National Highways (Collection of Fees by any person for the use of Section of National
Highways/Permanent Bridges/Temporary bridge on National Highways) Rules, 1997;

. The National Highways (Rate of Fee) Rules, 1997;

. The National Highways (Fees for the use of National Highways Section and Permanent Bridge — Public
Funded Project) Rules, 1997;

. The National Highways (Manner of Depositing the Amount by the Central Government with
Competent Authority for Acquisition of Land) Rules, 1998;

. The National Highways Tribunal (Procedure for Appointment as Presiding Officer of the Tribunal)
Rules, 2003;

. The National Highways Tribunal (Procedure) Rules 2003;

. National Highways Authority of India (the term of office and other conditions of service of Members)
Rules, 2003as last amended by (Amendment) Rules, 2012;

. The Central Road Fund (State Roads) Rules, 2007;

. The National Highways Fee (Determination of Rates and Collection) Rules, 2008, as amended by
(Amendment), Rules, 2010;

) The National Highways Authority of India (Budget, Accounts, Audit, Investment of Funds, and power
to enter premises) Rules, 1990, as amended by (Amendment) Rules, 2010;

. The National Highways Tribunal (Financial and Administrative Powers) Rules, 2004;

) The Highways Administrartion Rules, 2004; and

) The National Highways Tribunal (Procedure for Investigation of Misbehavior or incapacity of

Presiding Officer) Rules, 2003.

The details of all the above mentioned rules, except, The National Highways Fee (Determination of Rates and
Collection) Rules, 2008, as amended by (Amendment), Rules, 2010 (details of which is enumerated below) can
be perused from the official gazette of India.

The National Highways Fee (Determination of Rates and Collection) Rules, 2008, as amended by
(Amendment), Rules, 2010 (“Fee Rules”)

The National Highways Fee (Determination of Rates and Collection) Rules, 2008 provides for the rules for
collection of fee for use of sections of national highways, permanent bridges, bypasses and tunnels forming part
of the national highways, pursuant to Section 9 of the NH Act.

The main features of Fee Rules includes uniform rate of fee for public funded and private investment projects,
categorization of vehicles for fixing the base rate of fee, concession/discount to local users, and for multiple
journeys, annual revision of rate of fee to reflect increase in the Wholesale Price Index (WPI), levy of user fee
for two-lane highways @ 60% of the user charges prescribed for four-lane highways, rate of fee prescribed for
use of permanent bridge, bypass or tunnel, provision for collection, remittance and appropriation of fee,
prescription of rate of fee for overloading, location of Toll Plaza. The rate of fee calculated in terms of these
Fee Rules varies for individual projects keeping in view the variation in project parameters.

Further, National Highway Fee (Determination of Rates and Collection) Rules, 2008 areamendedfrom time to
time providinginter-aliafor:

. Rule 11 was modified to include fresh categories of exemptees from payment of toll.

. The threshold cost of upgradation of 2-lanes was increased to Rs.250.00 lakh from Rs.100.00 lakh.

. For bypasses, the rate of fee for use of bypass forming part of a section of a national highway constructed
with a cost of Rs. 1000 lakh or more, for the base year 2007-08, shall be 1.5 times the rate of fee
specified.

) For computation of toll on the basis of the Wholesale Price Index instead of computing it on or

immediately after January 1st of the year, it shall be computed from the Wholesale Price Index for the
month of December of the year.
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. A new category of three-axle commercial vehicle was included for collection of toll.
. Penalty for overloading.

. FASTag lane of toll plaza.

. Overloading penalty provisions applicability to all toll plazas.

. Tolerance upto 5% in gross vehicle weight and safe axle weight.

o Exemption from payment of user fee for specially designed vehicle for differently abled road users
. Prepaid payment instrument.

The Motor Vehicles Act, 1988

The development, maintenance and management as well as control of the National Highways are regulated by
the NH Act and the NHAI Act. Under the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988, some powers have been delegated to the
Transport Department of the State Governments.

Section 138 of the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988 further empowers the State Governments to make rules for the
purpose of the removal and the safe custody of vehicles including their loads which have broken down or which
have been left standing or have been abandoned on road; the installation and use of weighing devices; the
maintenance and management of wayside amenities complexes; the exemption from all or any of the provisions
of relating to fire brigade vehicles, ambulances and other special classes or descriptions of vehicle, subject to
such conditions as may be prescribed; the maintenance and management of parking places and stands and the
fees, if any, which may be charged for their use; prohibiting the taking hold of or mounting of a motor vehicle
in motion; prohibiting the use of foot-paths or pavements by motor vehicles, generally, the prevention of danger,
injury or annoyance to the public or any person, or of danger or injury to property or of obstruction to traffic.

Labour and Environmental Regulations

Depending upon the nature of the activity undertaken by us, applicable environmental and labour laws and
regulations include the following:

. The Contract Labour (Regulation and Abolition) Act, 1970;

. The Payment of Wages Act, 1936;

. The Workmen’s Compensation Act, 1923;

. The Minimum Wages Act, 1948;

. The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965;

) The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972;

o The Environment (Protection) Act, 1986;

. The Forest (Conservation) Act, 1980 and The Forest (Conservation) Rules, 2003;
. The Hazardous Wastes (Management and Handling) Rules, 1989;
. The Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974;

) The Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Cess Act, 1977;
. The Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981; etc.

Other applicable regulations

As per the NHAI Act, the NHAI is empowered to make regulation in order to further the object of NHAI Act.
In exercise of such power, the NHAI has framed certain rules which are as follows:

) National Highways Authority of India (Recruitment, Seniority and Promotion) Regulations, 1996as last
amended by (Amendment) Rules, 2017;

. National Highways Authority of India (Joining Time) Regulations, 1996;

) National Highways Authority of India (Incentive) Regulations, 1996;

. National Highways Authority of India (Traveling Allowance and Daily Allowance) Regulations, 1997;

. National Highways Authority of India (Leave) Regulations, 1997,

. National Highways Authority of India (Conduct Discipline and Appeal) Regulations, 1997;

. National Highways Authority of India (Leave Travel Concession) Regulations, 1997;

. National Highways Authority of India (Medical Attendance and Treatment) Regulations, 1997;
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. National Highways Authority of India (Transaction of Business) Regulations, 1997;

. National Highways Authority of India (House Rent Allowance and Leased Accommodation) Regulations,
1997;

o National Highways Authority of India (Transaction of Business Amendment) Regulations 2001; and

. National Highways Authority of India (Medical Attendance and Treatment Amendment) Regulations 2004,

National Highways Policy Initiatives

With a view to attract private investment in road development, maintenance and operation, NH Act was
amended in June 1995. In terms of these amendments, the private persons can invest in the National Highways
projects, levy, collect and retain fee from users and is empowered to regulate traffic on such highways in terms
of provisions of Motor Vehicle Act, 1988.

The Government has adopted a road development policy setting out the guidelines for investment in highways.
In order to meet the huge investment requirements in the sector, the Government has taken a number of measures
to attract private sector participation.

. The Government has permitted 100 per cent foreign equity in construction and maintenance of roads,
highways, tunnels etc.

. Grant upto 40% of project cost to make project viable.

. 100% tax exemption in any 10 consecutive years within a period of 20 years after completion of the
project.

) Agreements to avoid double taxation with a large number of countries.

. Concession period upto 30 years.

. Right to charge tolls on certain (toll) projects.

. These tolls are indexed to a formula linked with the wholesale price index.

. The government permits duty free import of high capacity equipment required for highway
construction.

. Government support for land acquisition, resettlement and rehabilitation.

. Simplified procedure for Land Acquisition.

. MCA for Hybrid BOT (Annuity) has been finalized and future annuity projects will be awarded on
this basis.

. New rules for collection of fee for use of sections of national highway, permanent bridges, bypasses

and tunnels have been put into place.
Viability Gap Funding Scheme (VGF)

The VGF scheme provides financial support in the form of capital grant for PPP projects in various
infrastructure sectors. VGF Scheme is intended to support projects which are commercially unviable but have
high economic benefit.

The Empowered Institution sanctions projects for VGF upto Rs.10,000 lakh for each eligible project subject to
the budgetary ceiling indicated by the Finance Ministry. The Empowered Institution also considers other
proposals and places them before the Empowered Committee. Funding upto 20% of the project cost is provided.
If required, an additional 20% can be made available by the sponsoring Ministry/agency. Proposals up toRs.
20,000 lakh will be sanctioned by the Empowered Committee and amounts exceeding Rs. 20,000 lakh will be
sanctioned by the Empowered Committee with the approval of Finance Minister.

Capital grant for all infrastructure projects under the VGF scheme is restricted to a maximum of 40% of the
project cost (for projects upwards of Rs. 20,000 lakh). Grant provided by NHAI for highway projects under the
BOT route may be financed through the VGF route. VGF funding will not be available over and above NHAI's
grant for projects. The Government will carry out all preparatory works for the projects identified for private
investment and meet the cost of following items:
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Detailed Feasibility Study
Land for right-of-way and enroute facilities

Clearance of the right-of-way land: Relocation of utility services, cutting of trees, resettlement and
rehabilitation of the affected establishments

Environment Clearances
Clearance from Indian Railways to allow construction of Rail-Over-Bridges under their supervision.

Where design is left to the enterprise, giving details of standards and bore holes logs at bridge sites
etc.
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HISTORY, MAIN OBJECTS AND CERTAIN CORPORATE MATTERS

Brief Background of NHAI

NHAI is an autonomous body of the Gol under the MoRTH and was constituted on June 15, 1989 by an Act of Parliament
—NHAI Act, and was made operational in February, 1995 with the appointment of full time Chairman and other Members.
NHAI has an all India presence through its different offices (Regional Offices/Project Implementation Units/Corridor
Management Units) in different cities. The functioning of NHAI is thus governed by NHAI Act and rules, and regulations
framed thereunder. It succeeds the previous Ministry of Surface Transport.

Change in Head Office

On September 21, 2000, the Head Office of NHAI was shifted from 1, Eastern Avenue, Maharani Bagh, New Delhi — 110 065
to G -5 & 6, Sector-10, Dwarka, New Delhi - 110 075 for administrative and operational efficiency.

Vision

To meet the nation’s need for the provision and maintenance of National Highways network to global standards and to
meet user’s expectations in the most time bound and cost effective manner, within the strategic policy framework set by
the Gol and thus promote economic wellbeing and quality of life of the people.

Main Objects

The main objects of NHAI are provided in the NHAI Act as per which NHAI is responsible for the development,
maintenance and management of National Highways entrusted to it, by the Gol and for matters connected or incidental
thereto. NHAI was constituted to survey, develop, maintain and manage National Highways and inter alia to construct
offices or workshops, to establish and maintain hotels, restaurants and rest rooms at or near the highways vested in or
entrusted to it, construct residential buildings and townships for its employees, to regulate and control plying of vehicles,
to develop and promote consultancy and construction services, advise the central government on matters relating to
highways and to collect fees for services and benefits rendered in accordance with NHAI Act.

Major events

1989 Establishment of NHAI
1995 NHAI became fully operational
1998 NHDP conceptualised
Incorporation of Moradabad Toll Road Company Limited
2000 Government approval obtained from CCEA for NHDP Phase — |

Incorporation of Calcutta-Haldia Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of Mumbai-JNPT Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of Mormugao Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of Vishakhapatnam Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of Ahmedabad-Vadodara Expressway Company Limited
Incorporation of Chennai-Ennore Port Road Company Limited
2003 Government approval obtained from CCEA for NHDP Phase — 11
2004 Incorporation of Cochin Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of Tuticorin Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of Paradip Port Road Company Limited
Incorporation of New Manglore Port Road Company Limited

2005 Gov